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PART |
Item 1. Business

This annual report contains forward-looking statetee These statements relate to future events orfuture
financial performance. In some cases, you can iigefrward-looking statements by terminology suah "may",
"should", "expects", "plans”, "anticipates”, "beks", "estimates”, "predicts", "potential” or "conte" or the
negative of these terms or other comparable tedoggyo These statements are only predictions andhevknown
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factoxduding the risks in the section entitled "Riskctors", that
may cause our or our industry's actual resultsgléeof activity, performance or achievements tontegerially
different from any future results, levels of adljyiperformance or achievements expressed or inhdie these
forward-looking statements.

Although we believe that the expectations refledtedhe forward-looking statements are reasonalée cannot
guarantee future results, levels of activity, perfance or achievements. Except as required by caighi law,
including the securities laws of the United States,do not intend to update any of the forward-logkstatements
to conform these statements to actual results.

Our financial statements are stated in U.S. Doll@$$) and are prepared in accordance with UnitedeS
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

In this annual report, unless otherwise specifédiddollar amounts are expressed in US dollarsahikferences to
"common shares" refer to the common shares in apital stock.

As used in this annual report, the terms "we", ;'Usur* and "our company" mean Pivot Pharmaceuidat.,
unless otherwise indicated.

General Overview

We are a development stage pharmaceutical compdeywere incorporated in the Province of British @obia,
Canada under the name "649186 B.C. Ltd.", on Jne2@02. On September 9, 2003, we changed our name
"Xerxes Health Corp." and on June 26, 2007, we ghdour name to "Neurokine Pharmaceuticals Inc.".

Effective June 4, 2014, we filed with the Britislol@mbia Registrar of Companies a Form 11, NoticAlt#ration,
wherein we increased our authorized share capitaeh 500,000,000 common shares without par valuarto
unlimited number of common shares without par valliee increase of authorized capital was approwedur
stockholders at the annual and special meetingdreltlne 3, 2014.

On September 26, 2014, our company held a spea@ting of stockholders to approve the removal aof ou
company's Pre-Existing Company Provisions, the eaton of our current Articles and the adoptiohnew
Articles and to approve a reverse stock split @nlthsis of up to one new common stock for everyd@@ommon
stock.

Effective October 8, 2014, we filed with the BrtisColumbia Registrar of Companies a Form 11, Noti€e
Alteration, wherein we removed our Pre-Existing @amy Provisions.

Effective April 7, 2015, we filed with the BritisBolumbia Registrar of Companies a Form 11, Noticalteration,
wherein we changed our name to "Pivot Pharmacédsitice.".

Effective at the opening of trading on April 20,1%) as approved by FINRA, our company effectedvarse stock
split of our issued and outstanding common shamngb® basis of 10 old common stock for 1 new comstonk.



On November 20, 2015, we completed the acquisiibrindUS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("IndUS"), a Delasvar
corporation, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan efger and Acquisition Agreement dated as of Noverdhe
2015 among our company, Pivot Pharma U.S. Inc., wolly owned subsidiary, IndUS and Sindu Research
Laboratories Pvt Ltd. As consideration for the age, we issued 4,512,500 shares of common stobloeember
23, 2015 and 237,500 shares of common stock onriteme4, 2015. We will also be granting 41,833 stogtions
pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger. As gfathe acquisition, we appointed Dr. Pravin Cineédi as
our new Chief Executive Officer and Director.

IndUS is an emerging United States-India cross4woptharmaceutical company located in the Greatstddoarea,
which is engaged in conducting research and demaop activities for advancing novel therapeuticthim areas of
oncology, infectious diseases and diabetes.

Our principal executive office is located at 1278&/6th Avenue, Vancouver, B.C. Canada V6H 1A6h aitother
office at 25 Olympia Avenue, Suite K-300, WoburnAMI1801, USA. Our telephone number is (978) 9731527

Our Current Business

We are a development stage biopharmaceutical coynpagaged in the development and commercializatfon
therapeutic pharmaceutical products, focused orstitaéegy of identifying new therapeutic treatmetoteaddress
unmet medical needs in women's health includingnoatlimited to urological and/or gynecological tdidbances;
and advancing novel anticancer drug candidatesaaige new treatment options for metastatic cangesgomen
that do not have adequate treatment options or pawe response to existing treatment options duaherent or
acquired mutations. Our research and developmeinites are focused on i) advancing novel drugdidates for
the treatment of women's cancers including, butlingited to metastatic endometrial cancer and ¢riptgative
breast cancer, which have limited treatment opti@msl ii) leveraging novel drug delivery treatmeptions to
allow 'targeted' delivery of drugs to address woméealth needs in urological and/or gynecologicdications,
and iii) opportunistically in-licensing later-stageug candidates to augment our drug pipeline. \lagpropriate,
we intend to depart from these strategies to oppdtically acquire additional novel treatment ops to address
unmet or under-served medical needs in women'shheal

Our business model currently includes the followagvities:

. identifying novel drug delivery technologies thatlallow targeted drug delivery for drugs;

. securing and developing intellectual property régiat such products;

. conducting appropriate laboratory tests and cliriials;

. advancing novel drug candidates to treat womemiseza from our acquisition of IndUS to
support Investigational New Drug application taullfirst-in-human trials;

. opportunistically acquiring later-stage drug caatks that provide new treatment options to
address unmet medical needs in women's healtmizecand lower urinary tract symptoms; and

. establishing partnerships with large and speciaitgrmaceutical companies and/or biotechnology

companies to collaboratively develop and/or comiméire our products.

One of our areas of focus includes developing theurtic applications for existing drugs using nodelivery
technologies for the treatment of diseases and itonsl specific to cancer and/or urological disambes in
women. The diseases and conditions that are thgectubf our research and development program imclud
addressing resistant cancers affecting women'shheald developing new treatment options using navebs
and/or novel delivery approaches to address onmabgnd urological conditions such as various gghegical
and breast cancers as well as lower urinary trgoiptoms such as overactive bladder. Our currenelipip
addresses the therapeutic areas of cancer and lmimary tract symptoms (LUTS):



. Metastatic endometrial cancer (PVT-005)
. Triple-negative breast cancer (PVT-006)
. Lower urinary tract symptoms including filling amdiding issues (PVT-002)

PVT-005 and PVT-006 are novel and patented anteraemall molecule drug candidates acquired thraihgh
acquisition of IndUS. These molecules are novel Didnage response inhibitors and belong to the adamiass
of pyrrolobenzodiazepine dimers (PBDs). These midechave shown preclinical activity in cancerst thave
mutations in their tumor suppression and/or DNAaiepbilities and have shown 'synthetic lethaliti'en dosed as
monotherapy in such resistant cancers and/or inbomtion with standard-of-care drugs that are uged
chemotherapeutic regimens for such patients. P\T @l PVT-006 have shown excellent activity in turcells
that have genetic or epigenetic mutations in DNAmatch repair (mlhl, MSH2), tumor suppression fionst
(p53, PTEN) and/or homologous recombination (HR)cfions. They have shown significant synergies with
platinum-based drugs such as cisplatin, and othegsdlike topoisomerase Il and | inhibitors (doxumioin and
camptothecin, respectively) and receptor tyrosimade (RTK) inhibitors — all or some of which arartpof
standard-of-care chemotherapeutic regimens to weatian, breast, colorectal, non-small cell lung aother
cancers that affect women's health.

Our research and development strategy is focusatkweloping novel treatment options to addressouarinmet
medical needs in women's health, including butlinoted to 1) urological and gynecological distunicas such as
lower urinary tract symptoms; and 2) addressing einon under-served medical needs in women's caiscets as
metastatic endometrial or triple-negative breastcea that have inherent or acquired mutations memglehem

resistant to existing treatment options and remtesghan drug designation opportunities.

Our management has prioritized the developmenth@fiwo novel and patented anticancer drug candid&eT-
005 and PVT-006) focused on the treatment of matiastndometrial cancer and/or basal-like triplgatere breast
cancers (BL-TNBC) in women. These two indicatioffe@ approximately 50,000 and 40,000 women inlWinéed
States, respectively, and potentially represertamrug indications, that have limited treatmagitams. PVT-005
and PVT-006 will be added to standard chemothettépeegimens that are used to treat these canogras such
are intended to augment the regimen and - prowiditianal benefit to patients that are either retioay or have
relapsed following chemotherapy. Furthermore, doetite novel mechanism of action of these novel PBD
candidates, the patients are segmented accordititggitoDNA repair mutations, thus potentially allogy a more
"personalized" medical treatment option for theséigmts. We will also evaluate novel drug delivényatment
options to allow more targeted and specific deliveptions for its novel anticancer drug portfoliadéor for
existing drugs that may be amenable to targeteattyg] thus providing a superior benefit; risk opipity for
these patients.

To date, we have concentrated our research andopevent (R&D) activities on development of our nbve
anticancer drug candidates (PVT-005 and PVT-006)He treatment of metastatic endometrial and/siablke
triple-negative breast cancers. We have outsouatleetsearch and development work to third partiesluding
clinical trial planning, laboratory services, dat@mnagement, statistical services and report writilg anticipate
that we will continue to rely on third parties ttisfy our research and development requiremerttssuich time as
it becomes cost effective to hire employees tesBathose requirements. We have not carried onrasgarch and
development activities since January 2009 and dilityato continue our research and developmentviiets
depends on securing additional financing.

Our planned research and development for the n2xhdnths will focus on development activities forTR005

and PVT-006 to support the filing of an Investigatl New Drug application to initiate first-in-humalinical trials
as well as explore novel delivery and/or new thetdig options for various drugs to address unmeaticaé needs
in urological and/or gynecological disturbancesviomen.



We will also be required to complete additionapstén order to market and sell any of our prodtctthe public.
Our determination of which specific additional stepe will need to complete before any of our prasilbecome
marketable may vary depending on the results o€linecal trials and studies mentioned above. TdiWing table
sets out the various steps we anticipate we musplege in order to carry out our business plandiar planned
products. Completion times have been indicated g/estimable, as has any progress made to date.

Anticipated Steps

PVT-005 and PVT-006

PVT-002

Intellectual Property

Secure Rights to Drugs

Pre-Clinical Testing

Secure Investigational New Drt
("IND") Approval or Equivalent
Phase | Clinical Trials

Phase Il Clinical Trials

Phase Il Clinical Trials
Submit New Drug Application ¢
Equivalent and Obtain Marketir

Approval

Finance Marketing and
Manufacturing of Approved Dru

or

Secure Marketing and

Manufacturing
Partner

Patents issued in the US and of
countries on composition of
matter, methods of use for
treatment of cancers and proce
of manufacture of the drugs.
Acquired

Significant nonclinical toxicity
studies required for both drug:

Targeted IND filing in the % half
of 2016
Conducted in cancer patients

Required in selected cancer
patients
Required
Required

Required

Evaluation of drug delivery
technologies for ‘targeted' delive
of drugs

Not required if drug selected in the
delivery option is a generic drug
Required to demonstrate
pharmacological equivalence or
differences
Required

Bioavailability studies will need"

be conducted in healthy volunteers
Required
Required
Required

Required

Our Research and Development Strategy

Our experienced management team has implementessiaelss-minded and cost-conscious approach to grodu
research and development by focusing on developmembvel therapies to address unmet needs in wamen
health. Our research and development strategydeitelop novel delivery options for new and/or érigtdrugs to
address needs in women's health as well as adgamce of its patented and proprietary novel antieadecugs in

gynecological and/or breast cancers through itsnteacquisition of IndUS.

In order for a drug to be successful, it must béhbefficacious and acceptably safe. Before a dray ine

commercially marketed, it must be scrutinized apdraved by applicable health authorities (suchhasRood and
Drug Administration ("FDA") in the United States) @ach country or jurisdiction where it is soughbe sold. In

pharmaceutical research and development, clinitalistare conducted to allow safety and efficacyad® be

collected for new drugs or devices. Health authesithen scrutinize the clinical trial results atetermine, based
on the results, whether a drug may be sold to thigli@ Similarly, clinical trials may only take pla once

satisfactory information has been gathered on tiaity of the product and its non-clinical safeyd approval to
conduct the trials has been granted by the heattioéty in the country where the trial is schediue take place.



Clinical trials involving new drugs are commonlassified into four phases. Each phase of the dppgoaal

process is treated as a separate clinical triad. drag-development process will normally proceedubh all four

phases over many years. If the drug successfullggsathrough Phases I, 1l and Ill, it will usudly approved by
the national regulatory authority for use in th@gml population. Phase IV trials are 'post-appf@tadies. Due to
the considerable cost that may be required to cat@al full series of clinical trials, the burdenpafying for all the
necessary people and services is usually bornédggonsor, who may be the pharmaceutical or Wiotdogy

company that developed the drug that is the sulgédhe study. Since the diversity of roles mayesd the
resources of the sponsor, clinical trials are ofteanaged by outsourced partners such as contraetrch
organizations. Furthermore, approval rates for beugs at each clinical trial stage are prohibitvidw, which

may require the sponsor to finance additionalgraalabandon the drug under development altogether.

Our research and development strategy includesi¢velopment of novel anticancer drugs targetingsstghof
women's cancer patients that have endometrialletnpgative breast and/or ovarian cancer, to egpkhe
opportunity of securing an orphan drug designafiotended for patient populations <200,000 in tH#) \Since our
anticancer portfolio has novel drugs that will requthe conduct of nonclinical and clinical studifess new
molecular entities (NMEs); we will also use targktielivery options for approved (generic) drugsatmid the
higher cost of repeating one or more pre-clinigatlmical, safety, pharmacokinetic or other tdsgsapplying novel
drug delivery approaches to get targeted delivérgrags and get a quicker time to market by levergqg US
regulatory pathway termed 505b2 applications. Imgl@o, a company may reduce the time requiretitoptete
the necessary research and development activitigish can typically take in excess of ten years,nire than
half, as well as reduce the corresponding developests.

Our recent acquisition of Greater Boston-based Bidids provided us with a portfolio of novel, patehtand
proprietary, novel anticancer drug candidates framltiple chemical classes of molecules referreda®
pyrrolobenzodiazepine dimers (PBDs). These molachieve shown excellent anticancer potential duthegr
initial biological testing conducted at the Natibi@ancer Institute in Bethesda, MD. Subsequenthtor tinitial
biological evaluation, chemical scale-up and fomtioh studies were conducted to evaluate theirmpheokinetics
in rats and two novel and patented pyrrolobenzegisne dimers were prioritized for advancement tgtou
preclinical studies to support first-in-human sasdiPVT-005 and PVT-006 provide novel treatmeniooistin
combination with existing chemotherapeutic regimemsaddress unmet medical needs in women's canoers.
initial focus for PVT-005 is in patients with metatic endometrial cancer, which harbors genomicatians in
DNA replication and repair pathways that renderdhacer resistant to many existing chemotherapipiogt It is
estimated that approximately 50,000 women in théddnStates have metastatic endometrial cancervibatd
become eligible for new therapy options followirlgeit initial treatments and PVT-005 will be addexd the
standard chemotherapeutic regimen(s) that will $eduo treat metastatic endometrial cancer. Sipil@VT-006,
a novel and patented pyrrolobenzodiazepine dinistindt from PVT-005, has been identified as a leaddidate to
address unmet medical needs of women with triptgatiee breast cancer. Triple-negative breast caiscarvery
aggressive form of breast cancer that affects yeumgpmen, predominantly of African-American descénis
estimated that approximately 170,000 women in thédd States have triple-negative breast cancee #iiferent
molecular subtypes of triple-negative breast cahege been identified and the basal-like subtypteipie-negative
breast cancer (BL-TNBC) affects up to 40,000 wormethe United States. PVT-006 is more likely todftective
in combination with existing anticancer agents,basal-like triple-negative breast cancer subtype ttutheir
mutations in DNA repair and replication pathwayjaln PVT-006 targets as its mechanism of action.

Preclinical safety studies will be conducted over next 12 months to advance at least one of twsdidates to an
IND-stage to allow initiation of clinical studies these highly unmet medical needs in women's cance

Our Products
Our product development initiatives will address tareas in women's health — oncology and urologicaditions.

Lower Urinary Tract Symptoms Program



Lower urinary tract symptoms are the name givea group of symptoms including, overactive bladdigsuria
and urinary incontinence. Experts recommend ma#tisgecific diagnosis when possible and treatingymeptoms
and/or any underlying cause (if possible). Lowénany tract symptoms may be divided into:

. Filling or irritation symptoms - eg, frequency, ergy, dysuria, nocturia, stress incontinence, urge
incontinence; and
. Voiding or obstructive symptoms - eg, poor strebasitancy, terminal dribbling, incomplete

voiding, overflow incontinence (due to chronic wanip retention).

Symptoms can be further divided into the followgrgups:

. Storage: increased daytime urinary frequency, m@gturgency, incontinence, enuresis, contini
urinary leakage, interstitial cystitis;

. Voiding symptoms: urinary retention, poor streamsitancy, intermittent stream, straining,
terminal dribble;

. Postmicturition symptoms: postmicturition dribbleeling of incomplete emptying;

. Symptoms associated with sexual intercourse: desioéat, vaginal dryness, incontinence;

. Symptoms associated with genitourinary prolapsairfg of 'something coming down', low
backache, heaviness, dragging sensation;

. Genital and lower urinary tract pain: pain may bsogiated with bladder filling, micturition, and
postmicturition, or continuous; and

. Genitourinary pain syndromes and lower urinaryttdysfunction: symptom syndromes sugges

of lower urinary tract dysfunction may be thoseanfoveractive bladder or of bladder outlet
obstruction.

Urinary incontinence is, nevertheless, still thest@miliar lower urinary tract symptom in womerstifhates of
prevalence range from a few percent to around 50%lifferent studies. The wide variation in the ngpd
prevalence can be explained by various reasonsaautite use of different definitions, the heteraitgrof different
study populations and also population sampling gdaces. Large cross-sectional population-based Isanmawve
however concluded that the prevalence of any femaigary incontinence ranges from 20% to 40% inngand
middle-aged women, and then steadily increases agtéh Approximately half of the incontinence ies# type,
about 10% is urge urinary incontinence (UUI) ane d¢hird is mixed incontinence. Stress leakage acouore
frequently in younger women whereas urge and mixéthry incontinence are more prevalent in the oldemen.

Urinary incontinence has been shown to have a ivegaffect on physical activities, confidence, gafception
and social activities, urge urinary incontinence amixed incontinence being more detrimental thaessttype in
this respect.

Our research and development efforts are focusademtifying novel treatments for lower urinarydtaymptoms
through leveraging either novel drug delivery treamt options for existing drugs and/or identifyimgvel
biological pathways and new drugs that will addrbsslimitations of existing treatment options fower urinary
tract symptoms in women.

Clinical Trial Phases

The following section describes the most commorspkaf clinical drug trials with reference to tHmical trial
requirements that we anticipate will be requiredeach of our planned products.

Pre-Clinical Trials



Pre-clinical trials involven vitro (test tube) anéh vivo (animal) experiments using wide-ranging doses efstiudy
drug to obtain preliminary efficacy, toxicity ancdgrmacokinetic information. Such tests assist phagutical
companies in deciding whether a drug candidate gs38s scientific merit for further development as a
investigational new drug. In addition, formulatiand dosage regimen work studies will need to belected.

Phase 0

Phase 0 is a recent designation for exploratorst-iin-human trials conducted in accordance with FIDA's 2006
Guidance on Exploratory Investigational New Drubege trials are generally used for novel anticadoggs.

Distinctive features of Phase 0 trials include ddeninistration of single subtherapeutic doses (slose intended to
treat diseases) of the study drug to a small nurobetubjects (10-15) to gather preliminary datatiom agent's
pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics.

Phase |

Phase | trials are the first stage of drug testinguman subjects. Normally, a small group of Heaitolunteers (20-
50) will be selected. This phase includes trialsigieed to assess the safety, tolerability and &ffetthe drug in
relation to the human body, including how it is @ied, distributed, metabolized and eliminated Iy body.
These trials are often conducted in an inpatieiniczlwhere the subject can be observed by fulktistaff. The
subject who receives the drug is usually observeill several half-lives of the drug have passed.

Phase | trials also normally include dose-rangiog dose escalation) studies so that the appropdase for
therapeutic use can be found. The tested ranges&sdwill usually be a fraction of any dose thatses harm in
animal testing.

Phase | trials most often include healthy volurgehowever, real patients are used in some ciramoss, such as
when patients have an end-stage disease and laek teatment options. This exception to the rukesthoften
occurs in oncology (cancer) and HIV drug trialslivdeers are paid an inconvenience fee for the tivag spend in
the volunteer center. Pay ranges from a small ainafumoney for a short period of residence to gdaramount of
up to approximately $6,000 depending on the lengthe volunteer's participation in the trial.

Phase Il

Once the initial safety of a study drug has bearfioned in Phase | trials, Phase Il trials are perfed on larger
groups (20-300) and are designed to assess howtkeldrug works, as well as to continue Phase ¢tgaf
assessments using a larger group of volunteerpatiehts. When the development process for a nawy fils, this
usually occurs during Phase Il trials when the dsudjscovered not to work as planned or to haxi teffects.

Phase Il studies are sometimes divided into Pha@sard Phase IIB. Phase IlA is specifically desidine assess
dosing requirements (how much of the drug shouldyiben), while Phase 1IB is specifically designedstudy
efficacy (how well the drug works at the prescriloege(s)).

Some trials combine Phase | and Phase Il, anthddistefficacy and toxicity.

All of our planned anticancer products will needuttdergo Phase Il clinical trials. Completion oédb trials is
subject to our ability to obtain adequate financing

We anticipate initiating and completing at lease dPhase |l trial of either PVT-005 or PVT-006 atast of
approximately $8.6 million over a 12 month peritids our goal to begin our trial six months aftee completion
of the required financing; however, we will notaddish a firm start date until we raise suffici@inancing, which
there is no guarantee that we will be able to dee Trial protocol for our Phase Il trial has be@&valoped with
input from our clinical advisors.




Phase Il

Phase Il studies are randomized controlled multiter trials on large patient groups (300-3,000nwre,
depending upon the disease or medical conditiodiedd), and are intended to definitively assessefffectiveness
of the drug as compared to the current "gold stalidreatment. Because of their size and compaeigtilong
duration, Phase lll trials are the most expengiweg-consuming and difficult trials to design amohrespecially in
therapies for chronic medical conditions.

It is common practice that certain Phase Il trisdl continue while a regulatory submission is gamy at the
appropriate regulatory agency. This allows pati¢atsontinue to receive possibly lifesaving drugsilithe drug
can be obtained commercially. Other reasons fofopming trials at this stage may include "label axgion" (to
show the drug is suitable for additional types afignts/diseases beyond the original use for wihiehdrug was
approved for marketing), obtaining additional saféata, or to support marketing claims for the dr@gidies in
this phase are categorized by some companies aséRtB studies"”.

While not required in all cases, it is typicallypexted that at least two successful Phase lltridll be necessary
to demonstrate a drug's safety and efficacy inrai@ebtain approval from appropriate regulatorgraaes, such as
the FDA in the United States, the Therapeutic GoAdministration in Australia or the European Medie$
Agency in the European Union, for example.

Once a drug has proved satisfactory after Phasgdl$, the trial results are usually combineaiatlarge document
containing a comprehensive description of the naghand results of human and animal studies, matuifag
procedures, formulation details and shelf life. sThollection of information makes up the regulatetyomission
that is provided for review to the appropriate datpry authorities in different countries. They iew each
submission, and, it is hoped, give sponsors apptovaarket the particular drug.

Most drugs undergoing Phase Ill clinical trials ds marketed under FDA norms with proper recommgoms
and guidelines, but the drugs must be recalled idimtely from the market if any adverse effects apgorted.
While most pharmaceutical companies refrain from hractice, it is not abnormal to see many druggengoing
Phase 11l clinical trials in the market.

We anticipate that all of our current planned pridwvill require us to undertake the conduct ofdehll clinical
trials; however, we lack sufficient information éstimate the costs or timeframe required to cora@el Phase Il
clinical trials at this time. Our ability to pursughase Il trials will be subject to our ability tbtain adequate
financing and successfully complete earlier triiases for the products in question.

Phase IV

A Phase IV trial is also known as a post-markesuogveillance trial. Phase IV trials involve safetyrveillance
(pharmacovigilance) and ongoing technical suppbdra @rug after it receives permission to be soldage 1V
studies may be required by regulatory authoritiesay be undertaken by a sponsoring company fopetitive or
other reasons (for example, the drug may not haan lested for interactions with other drugs, orcertain
population groups such as pregnant women, who alikely to subject themselves to trials). The safet
surveillance is designed to detect any rare or-teng adverse effects over a much larger patieptjadion and
longer time period than was possible during thesBHathrough 11l clinical trials. Harmful effectdstovered by
Phase IV trials may result in a drug no longer fesald or being restricted to certain uses.

We are unable to accurately anticipate at this tivhether our current planned products will requisgo undertake
Phase IV clinical trials. Similarly, we are unaleaccurately anticipate at this time what the sasttimeframe to
complete those trials might be. Our ability to pgrsany Phase IV trials which may be required obushich we

may undertake voluntarily will be subject to ourilip to adequately finance those trials and to cassfully

complete Phase Il trials.

Markets for Our Planned Products



Estimated Sales

Metastatic Endometrial Cancer (PVT-005) > $250MM
Triple-negative breast cancer (PVT-006) > $300MM
Female Lower Urinary Tract Sympto

(PVT-002) > $300MM

Sales are conservatively estimated for US onlydernce of indication, modest pricing and marketgteation.
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Research and Development

We have not spent any amount on research and genetd expenses for the last two fiscal years. Foum
inception on June 10, 2002 to January 31, 2016 peaits$282,715 on research and development activiiiée
anticipate that we will incur approximately $6.4llian in research and development expenses ovendx¢ 12
months; however this may change if we are unsutidéasobtaining sufficient additional financing.

Intellectual Property

We own the common law trademark rights in our coafname and logo as well as the trademark fobUS
PHARMACEUTICALS". With the exception of the traderkafor IndUS, we have not registered any of our
trademark rights for protection. We have also seatwexclusive worldwide licensing rights and titteand to the
following patents through our acquisition of IndB8armaceuticals:

. United States Patent Application No. 09/822782dfibn March 30, 2001) and Patent No.
6362331 for the process for the preparation otamtdr agents.

. United States Patent Application No. 10/396102dfibn March 25, 2003) and Patent No.
6683073 for pyrimidine linked pyrrolo[2,1-C][1,4Ebzodiazepines as potential antitumor agents.

. United States Patent Application No. 10/39612@dfibn March 25, 2003) and Patent No.
6800622 for pyrene-linked pyrrolo[2,1-C][1,4] bendzzepine hybrids useful as anti-cancer
agents.

. United States Patent Application No. 10/401782dfibn March 31, 2003) and Patent No.
6884799 for non-crossed linking pyrrolo [2,1-C][[Lb&nzodiazepine and process thereof.

. United States Patent Application No. 10/401754dfibn March 31, 2003) and Patent No.

7015215 for pyrrolo[2,1-C][1,4] benzodiazepines pannds and process thereof.

Manufacturing

We have limited experience in, and do not own figed for, manufacturing any products or producididates. We
utilize contract manufacturers to produce clinisapplies of our products and our investigationalgdrare not
commercially available (PVT-005 and PVT-006). Altlghh we intend to continue to rely on contract mantifrers
to produce our products for both clinical and conuia supplies, we will oversee the productiontodge products
and do not anticipate relying on any particulartcaet manufacturer exclusively.

If we obtain FDA approval or marketing applicatiapproval outside the United States for any of owdpct
candidates, we plan to rely on contract manufacsuree produce sufficient quantities for large-scale
commercialization. These contract manufacturers lvél subject to extensive government regulatioregufatory
authorities in the markets that we intend to semquire that drugs be manufactured, packaged aveleld in
conformity with current Good Manufacturing Pracid&MP) as set by the FDA. In this regard, we ptaangage
only contract manufacturers who have the capatitjmanufacture drug products in compliance witirent Good
Manufacturing Practices in bulk quantities for coemgialization. We also intend to safeguard our lietéual



property when working with contract manufactureysvioorking only with manufacturers who in our esttioa
have a strong track record of safeguarding confidkemformation and who are willing to enter inbgreements
with us that impose upon them strict intellectualgerty protection measures.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution

We currently have no sales or distribution captiédiand limited marketing capabilities. In ordercommercialize
our products, we must develop sales, marketing disttibution capabilities or make arrangements vdgther
parties to perform these services for us.

Upon marketing approval of PVT-005 and/or PVT-006 gny of our anticancer products) from the FDAotrer
regulatory authorities, we plan to build our ownSUoncology sales force to market our productsctlireto
oncology centers and physicians in the United Stédeused in medical oncology. We believe that we best
serve this market with a focused, specialty saleset

Outside of the United States, and subject to olsigimarketing approval in the applicable countrigs,intend to
engage sales, marketing and distribution partme@anada, Europe, Asia and Latin America.
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Competition

If any of our products receive marketing approttaty may compete against, and may be used in catnxnwith,

well-established products that are currently usedHe treatment of their respective indicationg.tBe time we are
able to commercialize a product candidate, the etitipn and potential competition may be greated amore

direct. Several companies are focusing on new compg most of which are in pre-clinical or earlyapbs of
development.

We expect to compete with others on, among othieigsh the safety and efficacy of our products. Cetimg
successfully will depend on our continued abiliyettract and retain skilled and experienced persipmo identify,
secure the rights to and develop pharmaceuticalymts and compounds; and to exploit these prodaiats
compounds commercially before others are able weldp competing products. In addition, our abititlycompete
may be affected because insurers and other thitg-payors in some cases seek to encourage thefiugeneric
products making branded products less attractivmiy@rs from a cost perspective.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

Our success will depend in part on our ability totpct our products and product candidates by oioigiand
maintaining a strong proprietary position bothhie United States and in other countries. To devalapmaintain
our proprietary position, we will rely on patentofection, regulatory protection, trade secrets, vikhow,
continuing technological innovations and licensiqgortunities.

It is our policy to require our employees, consuita contractors, or scientific and other advistosgexecute
confidentiality agreements upon the commencemenengployment or consulting relationships with us.e3é
agreements provide that all confidential informataeveloped or made known to the individual dutimg course
of the individual's relationship with us is to bepk confidential and not disclosed to third pargé&sept in specific
circumstances. These agreements provide that adintions related to our business that are concebyedhe
individual during the course of our relationshigiétbe our exclusive property. There can be norasee, however,
that these agreements will provide meaningful mtide or adequate remedies for our trade secretseirevent of
unauthorized use or disclosure of such information.

Subsidiaries

We own 100% of the outstanding common stock of IBdtharmaceuticals, Inc.



Employees and Consultants

As of April 29, 2016, we have employment contraetth our chief executive officer, chief businesdiadr and
chief financial officer. We currently engage indagent contractors in the areas of legal and agpgarvices. We

plan to engage independent contractors in the areaseclinical toxicity studies and clinical triakecution and
data management.

Government Regulations

In this section and throughout this annual reptre term "FDA" means the United States Food andgDru
Administration.

Our current and future operations and researctdamdlopment activities are or will be subject toimas laws and
regulations in the countries in which we conducplan to conduct our business, including but noitéd to the
United States, Canada, India and potentially mendmmtries from the European Union. These laws and
regulations govern the research, development, aate marketing of pharmaceuticals, taxes, labordstals,
occupational health and safety, toxic substandesmical products and materials, waste managemehitrer
matters relating to the pharmaceutical industry. W&y require permits, registrations or other aufations to
maintain our operations and to carry out our futbesearch and development activities, and theseifser
registrations or authorizations will be subjectdgocation, modification and renewal.

Governmental authorities have the power to enfomapliance with lease conditions, regulatory regmients and
the provisions of required permits, registrationsother authorizations, and violators may be subjecivil and
criminal penalties including fines, injunctions, wwth. The failure to obtain or maintain a requipsdmit may also
result in the imposition of civil and criminal pédti@s, and third parties may have the right to smeenforce
compliance.

We expect to be able to comply with all applicalsles and regulations and do not believe that swechptiance
will have a material adverse effect on our competiposition. We have obtained and intend to ob&lippermits,
licenses and approvals required by all applicabipilatory agencies to maintain our current openatand to carry
out our future research and development activiiiés.are not aware of any material violations ofnpits, licenses
or approvals issued with respect to our operatiamsl we believe that we will continue to comply twill
applicable laws and regulations.
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Pharmaceutical Regulatory Regimes

Regulation by governmental authorities in the Whi®tates and other countries is a significant faatothe
development, manufacture and marketing of pharnimeds. All of our product candidates will requiregulatory
approval by governmental agencies prior to comraéeéition. In particular, our drug candidates ambjact to
rigorous pre-clinical testing and subsequent dlihtdals and other premarketing approval requinetm®f the FDA
and regulatory authorities in other countries. ¥asi federal, state and foreign statutes and regotagovern or
affect the manufacturing, safety, labeling, st@pilrecord-keeping and marketing of pharmaceuticatiucts. The
lengthy process of seeking required approvals hactontinuing need for compliance with applicaligiges and
regulations require the expenditure of substaméaburces. When we obtain regulatory approval for ef our
product candidates, the approval may be limitestpe, which may significantly limit the indicatesges for which
our product candidates may be marketed, promoteti advertised. Further, approved pharmaceuticals and
manufacturers are subject to ongoing review ansigusly unknown problems may be discovered that nesylt
in restrictions on the manufacture, sale or usgppioved pharmaceuticals or their withdrawal frw market.

Pre-Clinical Studies



Before testing any compounds with potential theuipevalue in human subjects in the United Stastsngent
governmental requirements for pre-clinical data ntngssatisfied. Pre-clinical testing includes bisttvitro andin
vivo laboratory evaluation and characterization of thfety and efficacy of a drug and its formulatione4elinical
testing results obtained from these studies, inotudests in several animal species, are submitigtie FDA as
part of an Investigational New Drug Application aatk reviewed by the FDA prior to the commencenadnt
human clinical trials. These pre-clinical data mpsivide an adequate basis for evaluating bottséfety and the
scientific rationale for initial trials in human kmteers.

Clinical Trials

If a company wants to conduct clinical trials i tinited States to test a new drug in humans, &nAlplication
must be prepared and submitted to the FDA. The INiplication becomes effective, if not rejected at pn
clinical hold by the FDA, within 30 days of filinthe application. In addition, an Institutional Rewi Board must
review and approve the trial protocol and monita trial on an ongoing basis. The FDA may, at amg tduring
the 30-day review period or at any time thereaftepose a clinical hold on proposed or ongoingicéihtrials. If
the FDA imposes a clinical hold, clinical trials yjeommence or recommence without FDA authorizatior then
only under terms authorized by the FDA. The IND Agation process can result in substantial delay expense.

New Drug Application

After completion of clinical trials, if there is Bstantial evidence that the drug is both safe dfetteve, a New
Drug Application is prepared and submitted for Bi2A to review. The New Drug Application must comtaill of
the essential information on the drug gatherethat date, including data from pre-clinical studag@sl clinical trials,
and the content and format of a New Drug Applicatioust conform with all FDA regulations and guideb.
Accordingly, the preparation and submission of avNDFrug Application is an expensive and major unaldrtg for
a sponsor.

The FDA reviews all New Drug Applications submitteeffore it accepts them for filing and may requestitional
information from the sponsor rather than accepéingew Drug Application for filing. In such an evetite New
Drug Application must be submitted with the addiibinformation and, again, is subject to revieviobe filing.
Once the submission is accepted for filing, the HIBYins an in-depth review of the New Drug Applicat By
law, the FDA has 180 days in which to review thevNgrug Application and respond to the applicante Taview
process is often significantly extended by the Rough requests for additional information andifitation. The
FDA may refer the application to an appropriateisaly committee, typically a panel of cliniciansr freview,
evaluation and a recommendation as to whetherghbcation should be approved and the scope ofampyoval.
The FDA is not bound by the recommendation, buégjigreat weight to it. If the FDA evaluations oftbthe New
Drug Application and the manufacturing facilitie® davorable, the FDA may issue either an apprtatéér or an
approvable letter, which usually contains a numiiieconditions that must be satisfied in order touse final
approval. If the FDA's evaluation of the New DrugpAication submission or manufacturing facility et
favorable, the FDA may refuse to approve the NewgDkpplication or issue a not approvable letter.

Fast Track Designation and Priority Review

The FDA's fast track program is intended to faaiétthe development and expedite the review ofdthgt are
intended for the treatment of a serious or life#ttening condition for which there is no effectiveatment and
which demonstrate the potential to address unmeiaaleneeds for their condition. Under the fastkrarogram,
the sponsor of a new drug may request the FDA $mdate the drug for a specific indication as a i@k product
at any time during the clinical development of gneduct. The FDA must determine if the product tiga for fast
track designation within 60 days of receipt of #pensor's request.
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For a product candidate where fast track designasimbtained, the FDA may initiate review of sent of a New
Drug Application before the application is completdis rolling review is available if the applicaptovides a



schedule for the submission of the remaining infatfon and pays applicable user fees. However,ithe period
specified in the Prescription Drug User Fees Adticlv governs the time period goals the FDA has ciitachto
reviewing a New Drug Application, does not beginiltthe complete application is submitted. Additadly, the fast
track designation may be withdrawn by the FDA & #DA believes that the designation is no long@psued by
data emerging in the clinical trial process.

In some cases, the FDA may designate a produgtrfority review. A product is eligible for priorityeview, or
review within a targeted six-month time frame frdime time a New Drug Application is accepted foinfil, if the
product provides a significant improvement compatedmarketed products in the treatment, diagnosis o
prevention of a disease. A fast-track designatediymt generally meets the FDA's criteria for ptiprieview. We
cannot guarantee that any of our products will ikeca priority review designation, or if a prioritdesignation is
received, that review or approval will be fasteartttonventional FDA procedures.

When appropriate, we intend to seek fast trackgthesions for our products. We cannot predict thienalte impact,
if any, of the fast track process on the timinglikelihood of FDA approval on any of our potentdoducts.
Importantly, fast track designation does not resuithe elimination or waiver of any pre-clinical dlinical trial
requirements.

Orphan Drug Designation

The FDA may grant orphan drug designation to diogended to treat a rare disease or conditionaffatts fewer
than 200,000 individuals in the United States. @rpHrug designation must be requested before stilgn New
Drug Application. If the FDA grants orphan drug igestion, the generic identity of the therapeutiert and its
potential orphan use are disclosed publicly byRB&. Orphan drug designation does not convey angiaigige in,
or shorten the duration of, the regulatory reviewd approval process. If a product that has orplag designation
subsequently receives FDA approval for the indisafior which it has such designation, the prodsatntitled to
orphan exclusivity, which means the FDA may notrapp any other applications to market the same fughe
same indication, except in very limited circumses)dor up to seven years after receiving FDA apgiro

When appropriate, we intend to seek orphan statusefrtain indications that may be treated with praducts. We
cannot predict the ultimate impact, if any, of aplstatus on the timing or likelihood of FDA appaben any of
our potential products. Importantly, if a compangtains orphan drug designation for a drug and atio
equivalent to one of our products (i.e. the santetging drug applied to the same indication), product may not
be approved for the same indication for up to setdrsequent years.

The Hatch-Waxman Act

Under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Termtétation Act of 1984, known as the Hatch-Waxmar, Ac
newly approved drugs may benefit from a statutasiqa of non-patent marketing exclusivity in theitdd States.
The Hatch-Waxman Act provides five years of marngxclusivity to the first applicant to gain apygabof a New
Drug Application under Section 505(b) of the Fo@dug and Cosmetic Act for a new chemical entityd/ig
gualifies as a new chemical entity if the FDA has previously approved any other drug containireggame active
ingredient. The Hatch-Waxman Act provides data @siuity by prohibiting abbreviated New Drug Applitms,
and the submission of section 505(b)(2) applicatiovhich are marketing applications where the appli does not
own or have a legal right of reference to all ti¢adrequired for approval, by another company fantlaer version
of such drug during the exclusive period. Protectimder the Hatch-Waxman Act will not prevent tiing or
approval of a full New Drug Application for the saractive ingredient, although the applicant wowddéquired to
conduct its own adequate and well-controlled céihtdals to demonstrate safety and effectiveness.

Other Regulatory Requirements

Any products we manufacture or distribute under Fipsrovals are subject to pervasive and contincegglation
by the FDA, including record-keeping requirements aeporting of adverse experiences with the prtsduarug
manufacturers and their subcontractors are requireegister with the FDA and, where appropriatatesagencies,
and are subject to periodic unannounced inspectignthe FDA and state agencies for compliance witirent



Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP, regulatiatisch impose procedural and documentation requingésne
upon us and each third-party manufacturer we atiliz
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The FDA closely regulates the marketing and proomotf drugs. A company can make only those claiefeting
to safety and efficacy that are approved by the FBEdilure to comply with these requirements canltés adverse
publicity, warning letters, corrective advertisiagd potential civil and criminal penalties. Phyaits may prescribe
legally available drugs for uses that are not dieedrin the product's labeling and that differ frtrose tested by us
and approved by the FDA. Such off-label uses amengon across medical specialties. Physicians magugethat
such off-label uses are the best treatment for npatignts in varied circumstances. The FDA doesegtlate the
behavior of physicians in their choice of treatnsenthe FDA does, however, restrict manufactureosnfr
communicating on the subject of off-label use.

The FDA's policies may change and additional govermt regulations may be enacted which could pregent
delay regulatory approval of our programs or otutfel product candidates, or such approval of nelications for
our future products. We cannot predict the liketilpnature or extent of adverse governmental réiguka that
might arise from future legislative or administvatiaction, either in the United States or abroashfean Union.

Clinical Trials

In common with the United States, the various pbas@re-clinical and clinical research in the Epegan Union are
subject to significant regulatory controls. The ukagory controls on clinical research in the EumpéJnion are
now largely harmonized following the implementatiof the Clinical Trials Directive 2001/20/EC, or OT
Compliance with the national implementations of tB€D has been mandatory since May 1, 2004. However,
variations in member state regimes continue tatgpaticularly in the small number of member sidteat have yet

to implement the CTD fully.

All member states currently require regulatory amkependent ethics committee approval of intereerai clinical
trials. European regulators and ethics committésssraquire the submission of adverse event regorisg a study
and a copy of the final study report.

Marketing Authorization

In the European Union, approval of new medicinabdoicts can be obtained through the mutual recagniti
procedure or the centralized procedure. The mu@ignition procedure entails initial assessmenthieynational
authorities of a single member state and subseqaeigw by national authorities in other membetestédased on
the initial assessment. The centralized procedacgires the submission of a single Marketing Auttadion
Application (a "MAA") to the European Medicines Aggy (the "EMA") leading to an approval that is dain all
European Union member states. It is required fotate medicinal products, such as biotechnologydpots and
certain new chemical entities, and is optionalaeailable at the EMA's discretion, for other neverlical entities
or innovative medicinal products with novel chaeaistics.

Under the centralized procedure, a MAA is submittedthe EMA. Two European Union member states are
appointed to conduct an initial evaluation of edAA. These countries each prepare an assessmeott,refich

are then used as the basis of a scientific opiofothe Committee for Medicinal Products for HumaseUlf this
opinion is favorable, it is sent to the Europearm@ussion which drafts a decision. After consultiwgh the
member states, the European Commission adoptsisiadeand grants a marketing authorization, whiglvalid
throughout the European Union and confers the saghés and obligations in each of the member states
marketing authorization granted by that membeestat

The European Union expanded its membership bytsgassin May 2004. Two more countries joined oruday 1,
2007. Several other European countries outsideeoEuropean Union, particularly those intendingdoede to the
European Union, accept European Union review apdoapl as a basis for their own national approval.



Advertising

In the European Union, the promotion of prescriptimedicines is subject to intense regulation anadtrob
including a prohibition on direct-to-consumer adigéng. Some jurisdictions require that all prorootl materials
for prescription medicines be subjected to eith@rpnternal or regulatory review or approval.

Data Exclusivity

For an MAA filed after October 30, 2005, Europeanidh regulators offer eight years of data exclugiduring
which generic drug manufacturers cannot file ale@ti@pplications. This is followed by two years oarket
exclusivity during which generic MAAs may be reviedv and approved but during which generic drug
manufacturers cannot launch products. The mannarhioh these new exclusivity provisions will be &eg in
practice remains far from clear and there can besgurance that our programs or our other currerititare
product candidates will qualify for such exclusyvit
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Other Regulatory Requirements

If a marketing authorization is granted for our guwots in the European Union, the holder of the miimk
authorization will be subject to ongoing regulataryligations. A holder of a marketing authorizatifor our
products is legally obliged to fulfill a number obligations by virtue of its status as a Marketifgthorization
Holder (a "MAH"). While the associated legal respbility and liability cannot be delegated, the MAt¢an
delegate the performance of related tasks to fharties, provided that this delegation is appraplyadocumented.
A MAH can therefore either ensure that it has adéguresources, policies and procedures to fulfgl
responsibilities, or can delegate the performariceome or all of its obligations to others, suchdadributors or
marketing partners.

The obligations of a MAH include:

. Manufacturing and Batch Release: MAHs should guasathat all manufacturing operations
comply with relevant laws and regulations, applieadbod manufacturing practices, the product
specifications and manufacturing conditions setimtihe marketing authorization and that each
batch of product is subject to appropriate reldasmalities.

. Pharmacovigilance: MAHs are obliged to monitor shéety of products post-approval and to
submit to the regulators safety reports on an exp@dnd periodic basis. There is an obligation to
notify regulators of any other information that neffect the risk benefit ratio for the product.

. Advertising and Promotion: MAHSs remain responsioleall advertising and promotion of their
products in the relevant jurisdiction, includingprotional activities by other companies or
individuals on their behalf. Some jurisdictionsu@g that a MAH subject all promotional
materials to either prior internal or regulatoryiesv and approval.

. Medical Affairs/Scientific Service: MAHSs are reged to have a function responsible for
disseminating scientific and medical informationtbair medicinal products, predominantly to
healthcare professionals, but also to regulatodspatients.

. Legal Representation and Distributor Issues: MAHsrasponsible for regulatory actions or
inactions of their distributors and agents, inahgdihe failure of distributors to provide a MAH
with safety data within a timeframe that allows MAH to fulfill its reporting obligations.

. Preparation, Filing and Maintenance of the Appi@aand Subsequent Marketing Authorization:
MAHs have general obligations to maintain apprdprigcords, to comply with the marketing
authorization's terms and conditions, to submiereal applications and to pay all appropriate fees
to the authorities. There are also general regpdbiigations, such as an obligation to inform



regulators of any information that may lead totiedification of the marketing authorization
dossier or product labeling, and of any actionuspgnd, revoke or withdraw an approval or to
prohibit or suspend the marketing of a product.

We may hold marketing authorizations for our prddun our own name, or appoint an affiliate or Hdatmwration
partner to hold the marketing authorization on loginalf. Any failure by a MAH to comply with thesblmgations
may result in regulatory action against the MAH aitgl approvals and ultimately threaten our ability
commercialize our products.

Approvals Outside of the United States and the peaa Union

We will also be subject to a wide variety of foreigegulations governing the development, manufecand
marketing of our products. Whether or not FDA appt@mr European marketing authorization has bedairdd,
approval of a product by the comparable reguladaorities of other foreign countries must stél dibtained prior
to manufacturing or marketing the product in thosantries. The approval process varies from couiatrgountry
and the time needed to secure approval may bedamgghorter than that required for FDA approvahdEuropean
marketing authorization. We cannot assure you ¢haical trials conducted in one country will becapted by
other countries or that approval in one country ult in approval in any other country.
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Third-Party Reimbursement and Pricing Controls
General:

In the United States and elsewhere, patients' adcepharmaceutical products depends in signifipamt on the
coverage and reimbursement of a product or sehycthird-party payors, such as government progrgrisate
insurance plans and employers. Third-party payocseasingly are challenging the prices chargednfedical
products and services. It will be time consumingl axpensive for us to go through the process okisge
reimbursement from Medicare, Medicaid and privaagqrs. We may be unable to achieve reimbursement fr
some payors because they may not consider our gioda be "reasonable and necessary" or cost-Bifect
Furthermore, it is possible that even if payorswiting to reimburse patients for our productse tieimbursement
levels may not be sufficient to allow us to self products on a competitive and profitable basis.

In many foreign markets, including the countriegshia European Union, the pricing of pharmaceuticalucts is
subject to direct governmental control and to deigibursement programs with varying price contrechanisms.
In the European Union, governments influence theepof pharmaceutical products through their pgcand
reimbursement rules and the control of nationallthegare systems that fund a large part of the obdstuch
products to consumers. The approach taken vames fnember state to member state: some jurisdictipesate
positive and/or negative list systems under whiatdpcts may only be marketed once a reimbursentice pas
been agreed, and other member states allow congpémiéix their own prices for medicines, but monitnd
control company profits. The downward pressure @ath care costs in general, particularly presioiptirugs, has
become very intense. As a result, increasingly tbgtriers are being erected to the entry of newdyets, as
exemplified by the National Institute for Clinic&ixcellence in the United Kingdom which evaluates tata
supporting new medicines and passes reimbursereentmmendations to the government. In addition,omes
countries cross-border imports from low-priced nessk(parallel imports) exert a commercial presgurericing
within a country.

In the United States, there have been, and we expacthere will continue to be, a number of fedemd state
proposals to implement means by which the governmem negotiate lower drug prices for Medicare biediicaid
beneficiaries. While we cannot predict whether slegfislative bills will become law, their enactmexatuld have a
material adverse effect on our business, finargadition and results of operations.



Medicare:
In the following section, all references to "CM®far to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid e

We expect that in the United States, some or arnibajof the patients who are treated with our praduwill be
Medicare beneficiaries. The CMS is the agency witthe Department of Health and Human Services that
administers both Medicare and Medicaid. Two aspefidedicare reimbursement will be relevant to products:

the availability of reimbursement for physician\éees for administration of our products and theikmbility of
reimbursement for our products themselves.

The CMS has asserted the authority of Medicaretmaover particular products or services if it detmes that
they are not "reasonable and necessary" for Meglibaneficiaries. The CMS may create a national rege
determination (a "NCD") for a product, which estslis on a nationwide basis the indications ththeicovered
and the frequency limits for administration of theoduct. However, for most new drugs that are lelégifor
payment, the CMS does not create a NCD. We do mowvkwvhether we will seek or obtain a NCD for anyoaof
current or potential products or whether any NCDobl#ain will contain favorable coverage terms. Asntioned
above, if Medicare coverage for our products islakbe, the CMS may decide to provide reimbursentbrdugh
one of two avenues: Part B coverage for physic@miaistered drugs, or Part D coverage for outpatien
prescription drugs. Under Part B coverage, Medigaimburses purchasers of drugs that meet threateta
requirements:

. the product is reasonable and necessary;
. the product is not usually self-administered andwas is incidental to a physician's service in the
office setting; and
. the administering physician bills Medicate diredtly the product.
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Currently, topical products are considered "usuakyf-administered”; therefore, coverage under Bamould
require a specific determination that any of owdurcts differ from most topical products and shahkerefore be
covered under Part B. There can be no guarantegvéhwill obtain such a determination. For the oeasdiscussed
below, the failure to obtain such a determinati@uld materially and adversely affect our ability generate
revenue.

If there is not a national coverage decision, twal Medicare contractors that are responsibladoninistering the
Part B program on a regional basis may have theratien to decline coverage and reimbursement finug or to
issue a local coverage decision (an "LCD"). Theskcies can include both coverage criteria for thheag and
frequency limits for the administration of the druthe local contractors in different areas of tlairdry may
determine that our products should be treated rikest topical patches and may deny coverage undeérBPar,

even if they allow coverage, may establish varyoayerage criteria and frequency limits for any pad
Furthermore, obtaining LCDs in the various regioas be a time-consuming and expensive process.

Medicare payment for physician services relatetthéoadministration of any of our products, if am§l] most likely
be determined according to a prospectively set gaymate, determined by a procedure code establlishighe
American Medical Association. These codes, calledréht Procedural Terminology ("CPT") codes, ddsrthe
procedure performed and can be specific or morergéim nature. We believe that although thereeaisting CPT
codes that could be used, a specific code for tmairastration of each of our products would be erable. We
plan to apply for a specific CPT code. If, at launa specific CPT code is not available, local Madé contractors
will advise which existing CPT code should be uedervices related to the administration of otgducts.

The CMS has been considering changes to Medicangbuesement that could result in lower payments for
physician-administered drugs, and Congress maycalssider legislation that would mandate lower t@insement
levels. A reduction in reimbursement levels coulatenially and adversely affect our revenue.



The CMS may determine that any of our products atogualify for Part B coverage and should insteadttvered
under the Part D outpatient prescription drug bienBécause, unlike Part B, Part D coverage reisdsipatients
only for the drug itself and does not provide reimgement for the physician's administration sesviitough a
physician can bill for service under Part B andsitpossible that the CMS will provide such coverdgethe

administration of any of our products, even if greduct in question is covered under Part D), pliges may not
consider our products as attractive a treatmeribwpt they are reimbursed under Part D insteadPaft B. In

addition, under Part D, there are multiple typeplahs and numerous plan sponsors, each with itsfommulary

and product access requirements. While the CMSuated Part D plans' proposed formularies for putiyt
discriminatory practices, the plans have considerdiscretion in establishing formularies, estabfig tiered co-
pay structures and placing prior authorization atiwer restrictions on the use of specific produktsreover, Part
D plan sponsors are permitted and encouraged totiatg) rebates with manufacturers. Revenue forppaducts
will be substantially affected by their respectfeemulary status on Part D plans and the rebateisRart D plan
sponsors are able to negotiate.

Medicaid:

Most State Medicaid programs have established peefedrug lists, and the process, criteria and ftiamee for
obtaining placement on the preferred drug list iaoyn state to state. A federal law establishesimmim rebates
that a manufacturer must pay for Medicaid utiliaatof a product, and many states have establishgolesmental
rebate programs as a condition for including a gmayluct on a preferred drug list. Submitting afemed drug list
application to each state will be a time-consumang expensive process, and it is not clear how naainyhich
state programs will accept the applications. Reuieves for these applications can vary from week&4 months
or more.

Private Insurance Reimbursement:

Commercial insurers usually offer two types of Hasemedical benefits and pharmacy benefits. Inshprivate
insurance plans, physician-administered drugs eveiged under the medical benefit. If private iresrdecide to
cover any of our products, they will reimburse tloe drug(s) and its administration in a varietywafys, depending
on the insurance plan's revenue targets, emplayebanefit manager input and the contract negaotiwi¢h their
physicians. Like Medicare and Medicaid, commergialurers have the authority to place coverage aitidation
limits on physician-administered drugs. Many privaisurers tend to adopt reimbursement methoddaoigie a
product similar to those adopted by Medicare. Raeedor our products may be materially and adveraéfgcted if
private payors make unfavorable reimbursement messor delay making favorable reimbursement deoisi
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REPORTS TO SECURITY HOLDERS

We are required to file annual, quarterly and aurneeports, proxy statements and other informatigin the
Securities and Exchange Commission and our filsxgsavailable to the public over the internet at Securities
and Exchange Commission's website at http://wwwgssc The public may read and copy any materisdsl fby us
with the Securities and Exchange Commission atSheurities and Exchange Commission's Public Rederen
Room at 100 F Street N.E. Washington D.C. 2054% phblic may obtain information on the operationttod
Public Reference Room by calling the Securities Brdhange Commission at 1-800-732-0330. The SEQ als
maintains an Internet site that contains repontsxyand formation statements, and other infornmatiegarding
issuers that file electronically with the SEC, #ipi/www.sec.gov.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry



There is substantial doubt as to whether we witittoue operations. If we discontinue operationg) gould lose
your investment.

Our financial statements have been prepared omditegy concern basis, which assumes that we wilalble to
realize our assets and discharge our liabilitighénnormal course of business. However, as atadgidi, 2016, we
have not earned any revenues and had a defict4B8%9,546. We anticipate that we will incur in@ea expenses
without realizing sufficient revenues (if any) téfset those expenses and we therefore expect to Bignificant
losses for the foreseeable future. Our ability mtimue our operations is dependent on obtainindjtiadal
financing and generating future revenues, and sarasce can be given that we will successfullylide & do so.
Accordingly, our auditor has indicated in our fical statements that these factors raise substalotidot about our
ability to continue as a going concern. Importanthe inclusion in our financial statements of angoconcern
opinion may negatively impact our ability to raifsgure financing and achieve future revenue. Theahof our
ability to continue as a going concern will be reqd only when, in the opinion of our auditor, oavenues have
reached a level that is able to sustain our busiopsrations.

If we are unable to obtain additional financingnfr@utside sources and eventually generate enowgimues, we
may be forced to sell a portion or all of our asset curtail or discontinue our operations. If arfithese happens,
you could lose all or part of your investment. Gumancial statements do not include any adjustmeémtsur
recorded assets or liabilities that might be neamgs§ we become unable to continue as a going &amc

We have incurred operating losses in each yearesour inception and expect to continue to incurssaibtial and
increasing losses for the foreseeable future. Iicarenot generate sufficient revenues to operatéitpldy, we may
suspend or cease our operations.

We have not generated any revenue since our imcepti June 10, 2002 and we have incurred operatidgnet
losses in each year of our existence. We experieadeet loss of $10,307,065 for the year endedaisr8l, 2016,
compared to a net loss of $1,129,004 for the yedee January 31, 2015. We expect to incur subatasutid

increasing losses for the foreseeable future aglewelop, seek regulatory approval for and commbzeisour

product candidates and pursue our other reseatll@relopment activities. If our products are natcessful in
clinical trials, does not gain regulatory approoadoes not achieve market acceptance, we may geverate any
revenue. We also cannot assure you that we wiirbétable even if we successfully commercialize products.

If we fail to generate sufficient revenues to openarofitability, or if we are unable to fund owntinuing losses,
you could lose all or part of your investment.
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Our business is to research and develop new thesajoi treat unmet needs in women's health focusingncology
and urology. Our current product pipeline includesvel treatments for oncology and we are also agief) novel
delivery technologies to allow targeted deliveryegisting drugs for a faster time-to-market.

We will require substantial additional funds to qalete our research and development activities, isdch funds
are not available we may need to significantly ailor cease our operations.

We will require substantial funds to research, tigwetest and protect our product candidates, antanufacture
and market any such candidates that may be appfovedmmercial sale. Based on our current casbléewe do
not have sufficient cash to meet our planned dagatp operating needs through January 2017, incjudiar
planned research and development activities. Wsede$240,000 through private placements duringyé¢lae ended
January 31, 2016. Based on our planned researclieneglopment activities, we anticipate that we wéltjuire
additional funds of approximately $1.5 million toeet our planned day-to-day operating needs fomtha 12
months. If we do not raise sufficient funds, ouarplof operation will be delayed until such time ves raise
sufficient funds, provided we are able to do satliar, the cost of carrying out our operating dtiés and research
and development activities is not fixed, and owhclgvels may at any time prove to be insuffictenfinance them.
Our financing needs may change substantially becausumber of factors which are difficult to predic which
may be outside of our control. These include ineedacompetition, the costs of licensing existinggdr and



protecting rights to our proprietary technologye tlesources required to complete pre-clinical dimical studies,
and the length and results of the regulatory apdrprocess.

We may not succeed in raising the additional fuhds we require because such funds may not beadn@ito us on
acceptable terms, if at all. We intend to seek tamtdil funding through strategic alliances or thgbuublic or
private sales of our equity securities, and we gy obtain equipment leases and pursue oppo#sriiti obtain
debt financing in the future. If we are unable tgain sufficient funding on a timely basis, we miagy forced to
significantly curtail or cease our operations.

Our inability to complete our research and develepimprojects in a timely manner could have a matexdverse
effect of our results of operations, financial citiwesh and cash flows.

If our research and development projects are nopbeted in a timely fashion, our company could eigee:

. substantial additional cost for re-application biain clinical trial approvals;

. additional competition as other groups may enterattea of use of anti-inflammatory application
to treat neurocognitive impairment;

. up to six months delay in obtaining approvals; and

. delay in obtaining future inflow of cash from fir@al or partnership activities, any of which co

have a material adverse effect of our results efaipons, financial condition and cash flows.

Any products that we may develop will be requiredundergo a time-consuming, costly and burdensoree p
market approval process, and if we are unable taimbegulatory approval for our products we mayeanebecome
profitable.

Any products that we may develop will be subjecextensive governmental regulations relating toetigvment,
clinical trials, manufacturing and commercializatidn the United States, for example, the prospedtierapeutic
products that we intend to develop and market agelated by the FDA under its new drug developnaard
review process. Before such therapeutic produatsbea marketed, we must obtain clearance from tha Bp
submitting an investigational new drug applicatitimn by successfully completing human testing uritieee
phases of clinical trials, and finally by submittia new drug application.

The time required to obtain approvals for our pextjve therapeutic products from the FDA and o#ggncies in
foreign locales with similar processes is unprexdils. We expect to be able to accelerate the apppracess and
to increase the chances of approval by using egistind approved drugs as the basis for our owmtdagy.
However, we cannot guarantee that our expectatiothde realized, and there is no assurance thaiwileever
receive regulatory approval to use our proprietsuistances, methods and processes. If we do nainahich
regulatory approval, we may never become profitable

We may not commence clinical testing for any ofmospective therapeutic products and the commeveie of
any clinical study that we may conduct will depesghificantly upon our choice of indication and opatient
population selection. If we are unable to commesiirécal testing or if we make a poor choice inrtex of clinical
strategy, we may never achieve revenues.

In order to commence clinical testing we must sasfidly complete and obtain positive scientificuiés from pre-
clinical studies and, in the case of an existinggdhat we are re-profiling for a new indicatiodpat existing pre-
clinical or early stage clinical studies to our ovasearch. If we successfully complete any clingtady of our
own, the commercial value of any such study widh#ficantly depend upon our choice of indicatior aur patient
population selection for that indication.
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Our clinical trials for each drug may fail to adeapiely demonstrate the safety and efficacy of thatlate, which
could force us to abandon our product developmértgfor that drug candidate.

Before obtaining regulatory approval for the comerdr sale of any of our product candidates, we must
demonstrate through lengthy, complex and expenmigelinical testing and clinical trials that egutoduct is both
safe and effective for use in each target indicat{@linical trial results are inherently difficuid predict, and the
results we have obtained or may obtain from thimdyptrials or from our own trials may not be iraive of results
from future trials. We may also suffer significatbacks in advanced clinical trials even afteaiolitg promising
results in earlier studies.

Although we intend to modify any of our protocofs dngoing studies to address any setbacks, therdeao
assurance that these modifications will be adeqoathat these or other factors will not have aatieg effect on
the results of our clinical trials. This could siigantly disrupt our efforts to obtain regulatoapprovals and
commercialize our product candidates. Furthermeeemay voluntarily suspend or terminate our clihtcals if at

any time we believe that they present an unacckptadety risk to patients, either in the form oflasirable side
effects or otherwise. If we cannot show that owdpict candidates are both safe and effective imceli trials, we
may be forced to abandon our business plan.

We rely on third parties to conduct our pre-cliniand clinical trials. If these third parties do hperform as
contractually required or otherwise expected we may be able to obtain regulatory approval for gumoduct
candidates, which may prevent us from becomingtphdé.

If we are unable to establish a sales, marketing distribution infrastructure or enter into collakations with
partners to perform these functions, we may natumeessful in commercializing our product candidate

In order to successfully commercialize any of otoduct candidates, we must either develop a setmfa sales,
marketing and distribution infrastructure or eritéo collaborations with partners to perform thesevices for us.
We will require substantial resources to creatd aurcinfrastructure, and we may never possessetwirces to do
so. For example, we may be unable to recruit at@inrean adequate number of effective sales and etiagk
personnel or we may incur unforeseen costs and neggein connection with developing the necessary
infrastructure.

Although we plan to develop our own sales and narjeorganizations in some markets, we intend ti@reimto

partnering, co-promotion and other distributionaagements to commercialize our products in mosketsr We
may not be able to enter into collaborations oreptable terms, if at all, and we may face compmetith our search
for partners with whom we may collaborate. If wes arot able to build a satisfactory sales, marketing

distribution infrastructure or collaborate with omemore partners to perform these functions, wg nwd be able to
successfully commercialize our product candidatésgch could cause us to cease our operations.

Our product candidates may never gain market agureg@ even if we obtain the necessary regulatory@as,
which could prevent us from generating revenues.

Even if we receive the necessary regulatory appsaeacommercially sell our product candidates, shecess of
these candidates will depend on their acceptangghppsicians and patients, among other things. Ma&eeptance
of, and demand for, any product that we developcamdmercialize will depend on many factors, inchgdi

. our ability to provide acceptable evidence of sa#atd efficacy;

. our ability to obtain sufficient third-party insuree coverage or reimbursement;

. the availability, relative cost and relative effigeof alternative and competing treatments;
. the effectiveness of our or our collaborators'satearketing and distribution strategy; and
. publicity concerning our products or competing prctd and treatments.

If our product candidates fail to gain market a¢aape, we may be unable to generate sufficientneeo
continue our business.
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We will depend on other parties to manufacture puoduct candidates. If these parties fail to meet o
manufacturing requirements and applicable regulgtorequirements, our product development and
commercialization efforts could suffer and we meyen realize a profit.

If we obtain the necessary regulatory approvalméoket our products, we will rely on contract mamtéirers as
single source suppliers for our product candidates.

Because of our planned reliance on contract matwifers, we may also be exposed to additional risicduding

those related to intellectual property and theufail of such manufacturers to comply with stricthfexced

regulatory requirements, manufacture componentautospecifications, or deliver sufficient componeoantities
to us in a timely manner. For example, a contraatuffacturer working on our behalf may violate th&liectual

property rights of a third party in manufacturing@mponent of one of our products, and if suchodation occurs
without our knowledge, we may be held vicariougple for the acts of our contractor, incur relatedts and court
mandated damages, or become enjoined from sellimdupts which violate those third-party intelledtpesoperty

rights. Similarly, if a contract manufacturer warli on our behalf is found to be in violation of FIbk other

national regulatory standards regarding the matwfacpackaging or labeling of any of our produets, could

face any of a number of adverse consequences ingledstly regulatory investigations and finesemtiptions in

the flow of our products or materials, product fksgar liability to consumers regarding any of quoducts that do
not meet such regulatory requirements. If any ebéhevents occurs, if our relationship with anpwf potential

contract manufacturers terminates, or if any suanufacturer is unable fulfill its obligations to f any reason,
our product development and commercialization éfoould suffer and we may never realize a profit.

We face potential product liability exposure, anty &laim brought against us may cause us to dikesburces
from our normal operations or terminate sellingstdibuting and marketing any product for which wava
received regulatory approval. This may cause usetise our operations as it relates to that product.

The use of our product candidates in clinical $riahd the sale of any products for which we obtagulatory
approval may expose us to product liability claifnem consumers, health care providers, pharmacdutic
companies or other entities. Although we plan ttambproduct liability insurance coverage for olinical trials
with limits that we hope will be customary and agi&tg to provide us with coverage for foreseealksrassociated
with our product development efforts, our insuracogerage may be insufficient to reimburse us far actual
expenses or losses we may suffer.

If we obtain sufficient financing to proceed witliroplanned clinical trials, we intend to purchassurance in
amounts customary for trials comparable to our olmthat effect, we intend to consult with indugprpfessionals
to determine the optimal amount of coverage. Ireotd obtain insurance, we must subject our clirtital protocol
to a full review by our eventual insurance providene process of binding an insurance policy falimical trial
can take as long as three months.

We also plan to expand our insurance to cover dnentercial sale of products if we obtain the neagsssgulatory
approval to do so; however, the same product itgbilsks apply in those circumstances as in céhitrials.

Further, even if we are able to successfully defentselves against any potential claims, we wKelly incur

substantial costs in the form of unanticipated esps and negative publicity. This could result ecréased
demand for our product candidates, the withdraviadliaical trial participants, an impaired businegputation,
revenue loss or an inability to commercialize oroduct candidates. Any of these consequences cauise us to
cease our operations.

We face substantial competition in the therapepltiarmaceutical research and development industhjclwvcould
harm our business and our ability to operate padfly.



Our industry is highly competitive, and many of quutential competitors, either alone or togethethwtheir
partners, have substantially greater financial wesss, research and development programs, cliticl and
regulatory experience, expertise in the proteatibimtellectual property rights, and manufacturidgstribution and
sales and marketing capabilities than us. As dtréhay may be able to:

. develop product candidates and market productsatiedess expensive, safer, more effective or
involve more convenient treatment procedures tharfudure products;

. commercialize competing products before we candawmy of our product candidates;

. initiate or withstand substantial price competitioore successfully than us;

. enjoy greater success in recruiting skilled scfentiorkers from a limited pool of available tale
and

. more effectively negotiate third-party licenses atrdtegic alliances.
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All of our product candidates and product developmerocesses will be subject to ongoing regulatory
requirements, and may therefore be the subjecegélatory or enforcement action. The associatedscosuld
prevent us from achieving our goals or becominditable.

Our product candidates, clinical data, third-pamyanufacturing facilities and processes and adwvegtisnd
promotional activities for any product that recaivegulatory approval will be subject to significaaview and
ongoing and changing regulation by various regmatagencies. Our failure to comply with any regofst
requirements may subject us to administrative aétjal sanctions, which may include warning ledtesivil and
criminal penalties, injunctions, product seizures detention, product recalls, total or partial srspon of
production, or the denial of pending product margtpplications.

Even if we receive regulatory approval to marketgticular product candidate, such approval coelddnditional
upon our conducting costly post-approval studiesoadd limit the indicated uses that we are ablaétude on our
product labels. In addition, regulatory or enforegmactions could adversely affect our ability evelop, market
and sell our prospective products successfullylardh our reputation, which could lead to reducedketademand
for such products. Consequently, the costs assacigith any such action could cause our businessiffer and
prevent us from achieving our goals or becominditatae.

Since our place of business and several of oucarfi directors and business assets are also ldcateCanada,
you may be limited in your ability to enforce UcBiil actions against them for damages to the vadfigyour
investment.

We plan to indemnify our directors and officers iaga liability to us and our security holders, arsdich
indemnification could increase our operating costs.

Our Articles allow us to indemnify our directorsdaafficers against claims associated with carryuog the duties
of their offices. Our Articles also allow us to méurse them for the costs of certain legal defenlseofar as
indemnification for liabilities arising under the&urities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act") mayfermitted to our
directors, officers or control persons, we havenbagvised by the SEC that such indemnificationgairast public
policy and is therefore unenforceable.

Since our officers and directors are aware that thay be indemnified for carrying out the dutiestldir offices,
they may be less motivated to meet the standagisresl by law to properly carry out such duties,alhcould
increase our operating costs. Further, if our efficand directors file a claim against us for inddication, the
associated expenses could also increase our opecasts.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property



If we are unable to maintain and enforce our prefairy intellectual property rights, we may not d@eato operate
profitably.

Our commercial success will depend, in part, omioirtg and maintaining patent protection, tradeetgarotection
and regulatory protection of our technologies ametipct candidates as well as successfully defenttiind-party
challenges to such technologies and candidatesvbe able to protect our technologies and pradiamdidates
from use by third parties only to the extent thalid’and enforceable patents, trade secrets otategy protection
cover them and we have exclusive rights to use tlim ability of our licensors, collaborators anggliers to
maintain their patent rights against third-partyltanges to their validity, scope or enforceabilityl also play an
important role in determining our future.

In addition, our commercial success will dependpant, on maintaining patent rights we have licenseplan to
license related to products we may market in theréu Since we will not fully control the patenbpecution of any
licensed patent applications, it is possible that l@ensors will not devote the same resourceatt@ntion to the
prosecution of the licensed patent applicationsvaswould if we controlled the prosecution of thepligations
ourselves. Consequently, the resulting patent ptiotg, if any, may not be as strong or comprehenai it would
be had we done so.

The patent positions of biopharmaceutical compaceesbe highly uncertain and involve complex leyad factual
guestions that include unresolved principles armlids. No consistent policy regarding the breadtictlaims

allowed regarding such companies' patents has emhéogdate in the United States, and the patamt®in outside
the United States is even more uncertain. Chamge#her the patent laws or in interpretations atept laws in the
United States or other countries may diminish thiee of our intellectual property. Accordingly, wannot predict
with any certainty the range of claims that maybewed or enforced concerning our patents or thady patents.
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We also rely on trade secrets to protect our teldgnes, especially where we do not believe pateategtion is

appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secregsdéficult to protect. While we seek to proteandidential

information, in part, through confidentiality agments with our consultants and scientific and o#@isors, they
may unintentionally or willfully disclose our inforation to competitors. Enforcing a claim againghiad party

related to the illegal acquisition and use of traderets can be expensive and time consuming,hendutcome is
often unpredictable. If we are not able to mainfzatent or trade secret protection on our technesognd product
candidates, then we may not be able to exclude etitops from developing or marketing competing pratd, and
we may not be able to operate profitability.

If we are the subject of an intellectual propemfringement claim, the cost of participating in ditigation could
cause us to go out of business.

There has been, and we believe that there willicoatto be, significant litigation and demands [foenses in our
industry regarding patent and other intellectualerty rights. Although we anticipate having a dalefense to any
allegation that our current product candidatesdpetion methods and other activities infringe thaids and

enforceable intellectual property rights of anydhparties, we cannot be certain that a third pailtiynot challenge

our position in the future. Other parties may ovatept rights that we might infringe with our protkior other

activities, and our competitors or other patentibcd may assert that our products and the methed=mploy are
covered by their patents. These parties could beiagms against us that would cause us to incustantial

litigation expenses and, if successful, may requé&¢o pay substantial damages. Some of our patetimpetitors
may be better able to sustain the costs of compddent litigation, and depending on the circumstaneve could
be forced to stop or delay our research, developmmeanufacturing or sales activities. Any of thessts could
cause us to go out of business.



We may in the future be required to license patigtits from third-party owners in order to developr products
candidates. If we cannot obtain those licensesf d@hird-party owners do not properly maintain orferce the
patents underlying such licenses, we may not betahinarket or sell our planned products.

We have licensed patent-protected technologieshamdl anticancer drug candidates through the Indttfbisition

and we may also license other intellectual propfasn other third parties, if we believe it is nesary or useful to
use additional third-party intellectual propertydevelop our products. Typically, we would seelé&gotiate and
obtain any required third party licenses immedjatellowing the completion of preliminary researthestablish a
concept and plan of development for a new prodacdidate. However, depending on the ongoing results

requirements of pre-clinical or clinical trials, iwwh may unexpectedly vary from our anticipated plai

development, we may be required to seek additidmial-party licenses at later stages of producettgyment. We
may be required to pay license fees or royaltielsath to obtain such licenses, and there is noagee that such
licenses will be available on acceptable termat #ll. Even if we are able to successfully obtlitense, the rights
may be non-exclusive, and this would give our caitgrs access to the same intellectual propertysaswhich

could ultimately prevent us from commercializingraduct.

Upon obtaining a license, our business prospedisdepend, in part, on the ability of our licensdes obtain,
maintain and enforce patent protection on our Beenintellectual property. Our licensors may teatenour
license, may not pursue and successfully prosemyepotential patent infringement claim, may failrhaintain
their patent applications, or may pursue any lityaless aggressively than we would. Without pebta for the
intellectual property that we license, other conigsmmay be able to offer substantially similar prots for sale,
and we may not be able to market or sell our pldmpreducts or generate any revenues.

If the FDA grants one of our competitors an orplising designation for a drug and indication combipnatthat is
similar to the drug and indication combination usaud targeted by one of our products, we will fagmificant
competition in marketing our product during the eseyear exclusivity period.

The FDA may grant an orphan drug designation toug thtended to treat a rare disease or conditian affects
fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United Stafes orphan drug designation must be requested®dafeponsor
submits a New Drug Application to the FDA, andhiétFDA grants such a designation the generic igeafithe
therapeutic agent and its potential orphan uselia@osed publicly by the FDA. An orphan drug desition does
not convey any advantage in, or shorten the duratipthe regulatory review and approval proceas dhdrug must
undergo; however, if a product that is the subjfctan orphan drug designation subsequently receRiza
approval for the indication for which it has suctesignation, the product is entitled to orpharwsieity for up to
seven years after receiving FDA approval. This reeiduat the FDA may not approve any other applicatito
market the same drug for the same indication, exoegery limited circumstances.

Therefore, if one of our competitors obtains anharpdrug designation for a drug and indication coation that

is identical to the drug and indication combinata@frone of our products (i.e. the same underlyingychpplied to
the same indication), our product may not be apguider the same indication for up to seven subssiggears.
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Risks Associated with Our Securities

Trading on the OTC Bulletin Board may be volatiledasporadic, which could depress the market pritew
common stock and make it difficult for our stockleo$ to resell their shares.

Our common stock is quoted on the OTC Bulletin Bloservice of the Financial Industry Regulatory Aartty.
Trading in stock quoted on the OTC Bulletin Boasbften thin and characterized by wide fluctuationgrading
prices, due to many factors that may have littlddowith our operations or business prospects. Wdietility could
depress the market price of our common stock fasaes unrelated to operating performance. MoredkerOTC
Bulletin Board is not a stock exchange, and tradihgecurities on the OTC Bulletin Board is oftenrmsporadic



than the trading of securities listed on a quotatgystem like NASDAQ or a stock exchange like Amex.
Accordingly, shareholders may have difficulty réisgl any of their shares.

Our stock is a penny stock. Trading of our stockyrba restricted by the SEC's penny stock regulatiand
FINRA's sales practice requirements, which maytlarstockholder's ability to buy and sell our stock

Our stock is a penny stock. The Securities and &xgé Commission has adopted Rule 15g-9 which ginera
defines "penny stock" to be any equity securityt thes a market price (as defined) less than $5e0Gipare or an
exercise price of less than $5.00 per share, sutgecertain exceptions. Our securities are covénethe penny
stock rules, which impose additional sales praatempiirements on broker-dealers who sell to persdher than
established customers and "accredited investots.térm "accredited investor" refers generallynititutions with
assets in excess of $5,000,000 or individuals witiet worth in excess of $1,000,000 or annual ircerteeding
$200,000 or $300,000 jointly with their spouse. Pleany stock rules require a broker-dealer, poa transaction
in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from thes;ule deliver a standardized risk disclosure doaurirea form
prepared by the SEC which provides information alpanny stocks and the nature and level of riskkénpenny
stock market. The broker-dealer also must provigecustomer with current bid and offer quotatiamstfie penny
stock, the compensation of the broker-dealer adatesperson in the transaction and monthly atstatements
showing the market value of each penny stock heltié customer's account. The bid and offer quimatiand the
broker-dealer and salesperson compensation infamahust be given to the customer orally or intiwg prior to
effecting the transaction and must be given toctistomer in writing before or with the customepsfirmation. In
addition, the penny stock rules require that prioa transaction in a penny stock not otherwisamgtdrom these
rules, the broker-dealer must make a special wiritigtermination that the penny stock is a suitablestment for
the purchaser and receive the purchaser's writiegeeent to the transaction. These disclosure nemeints may
have the effect of reducing the level of trading\éty in the secondary market for the stock ttasubject to these
penny stock rules. Consequently, these penny stolels may affect the ability of broker-dealers tade our
securities. We believe that the penny stock rulssodirage investor interest in, and limit the méakdity of, our
common stock.

In addition to the "penny stock" rules promulgated the Securities and Exchange Commission, thenEiah

Industry Regulatory Authority has adopted ruled tieguire that in recommending an investment tastamer, a

broker-dealer must have reasonable grounds foe\ie§ that the investment is suitable for that cosr. Prior to

recommending speculative low priced securitieshtirt non-institutional customers, broker-dealerssimmake

reasonable efforts to obtain information aboutdhstomer's financial status, tax status, investrobjgctives and

other information. Under interpretations of theates, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authoritglibves that

there is a high probability that speculative loviepd securities will not be suitable for at leasing customers. The
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority requiremembake it more difficult for broker-dealers to rewoend that

their customers buy our common stock, which mayt your ability to buy and sell our stock.

You will experience dilution or subordinated stomkler rights, privileges and preferences as a residl our
financing efforts.

We must raise additional capital from external searto carry out our business plan over the nexhdths. To do
S0, we may issue debt securities, equity secugtiescombination of these securities; howevermag not be able
to sell these securities, particularly under currearket conditions. Even if we are successfuindifg buyers for
our securities, such buyers could demand highéstamtes or require us to agree to onerous opgrativenants,
which could in turn harm our ability to operate dwsiness by reducing our cash flow and restriotingoperating
activities. If we choose to sell shares of our camrstock, this will result in dilution to our exist) stockholders. In
addition, any shares of common stock we may issay mve rights, privileges and preferences sup#itiiose of
our current stockholders.

We do not intend to pay dividends and there wilsthe fewer ways in which you are able to makeia ga your
investment, if at all.

We have never paid dividends and do not intendatpgny dividends for the foreseeable future. Toetktent that
we may require additional funding currently not yded for in our financing plan, our funding sowscmay
prohibit the declaration of dividends. Because wendt intend to pay dividends, any gain on youestment will



need to result from an appreciation in the pricewf common stock. There will therefore be feweysvan which
you are able to make a gain on your investmenat iéll. There is also no guarantee that your imaest will
appreciate.
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You may face significant restrictions on the resdlgour shares due to state "blue sky" laws.

Each state has its own securities laws, often adalidue sky" laws, which (1) limit sales of secig# to a state's
residents unless the securities are registeretian state or qualify for an exemption from registra and (2)
govern the reporting requirements for broker-dealbwing business directly or indirectly in the staBefore a
security is sold in a state, there must be a negish in place to cover the transaction, or it traes exempt from
registration. The applicable broker-dealer must &ls registered in that state.

We do not know whether our securities will be regisd or exempt from registration under the lawarof state. A
determination regarding registration will be madethose broker-dealers, if any, who agree to sevenarket
makers for our common stock. There may be sigmifistate blue sky law restrictions on the abilifyrvestors to
sell, and on purchasers to buy, our securities. fauld therefore consider the resale market focommon stock
to be limited, as you may be unable to resell yshares without the significant expense of statéstegion or
qualification.

Other Risks

Because some of our officers and directors aretat&n non-U.S. jurisdictions, you may have noctiffe recourse
against the non-U.S. officers and directors for goigduct and may not be able to enforce judgment awid
liabilities against our officers, directors, expgrnd agents.

Some of our directors and officers are nationald/@nresidents of countries other than the UnitedteS,
specifically Canada and Germany, and all or a switisi portion of such persons' assets are locatgside the
United States. As a result, it may be difficult fovestors to enforce within the United States @arggments
obtained against our officers or directors, inahgdjudgments predicated upon the civil liabilityopisions of the
securities laws of the United States or any statesbf.

Trends, Risks and Uncertainties

We have sought to identify what we believe to ke tiost significant risks to our business, but wenoa predict
whether, or to what extent, any of such risks mayrdalized nor can we guarantee that we have fohtll
possible risks that might arise. Investors shouddefully consider all of such risk factors beforeakimg an
investment decision with respect to our commonkstoc

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

As a "smaller reporting company”, we are not regplito provide the information required by this Item

Iltem 2. Properties

We currently lease an office space at 25 Olympi@re, Suite K-300, Woburn, MA 01801, USA. We also
maintain a dedicated mailing address and telepheception service located at 1275 West 6th AveNa@couver,
British Columbia, Canada V6H 1A6. We also have asde office and meeting space at that locatiormfoominal

fee, on an as-used basis.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings



We know of no material, existing or pending legabqeedings against our company, nor are we invob&a
plaintiff in any material proceeding or pendingdétion. There are no proceedings in which anywfdirectors,
officers or affiliates, or any registered or beaigfi stockholder, is an adverse party or has anahiaterest adverse
to our interest.

Iltem 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Iltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Relaed Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Our common stock quoted on the OTC Bulletin Boamdar the Symbol "PVOTF". Our common stock was diste
for quotation on April 13, 2010.

The following table reflects the high and low biddrmation for our common stock obtained from Steatch and
reflects inter-dealer prices, without retail magk-umarkdown or commission, and may not necessegjyesent
actual transactions.

The high and low bid prices of our common stocktfer periods indicated below are as follows:

OTC Bulletin Board ™"
Quarter Ended High Low

January 31, 2016 $ 1.1C$ 0.8«
October 31, 2015 $ 107 $ 0.3t
July 31, 2015 $ 0371 $ 0.01
April 30, 2015 $ 040 % 0.0C
January 31, 2015 $ 0.06¢ $ 0.0C
October 31, 2014 $ 0.06¢ $ 0.01¢
July 31, 2014 $ 01z $ 0.03Z
April 30, 2014 $ 039 $ 0.05¢
January 31, 2014 $ 017 $ 0.021
(1) Over-the-counter market quotations reflecteiirdealer prices without retail mark-up, maldwn ol

commission, and may not represent actual transetio

As of April 29, 2016, there were approximately 58iders of record of our common stock. As of sucleda
74,922,114 common shares were issued and outstandin

Our common shares are issued in registered forearTiust LLC, 16540 Pointe Village Drive, Suite 2Q6itz,
Florida 33558, telephone number (813) 235-449thdgegistrar and transfer agent for our commonmnesha

Dividend Policy

We have not paid any cash dividends on our comrtaek sand have no present intention of paying armyddnds
on the shares of our common stock. Our currentpadi to retain earnings, if any, for use in oue@ions and in
the development of our business. Our future dividpalicy will be determined from time to time byrdooard of
directors.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Reeds from Registered Securities

Other than as set out below, we did not sell anytggecurities which were not registered underSkeurities Act
during the year ended January 31, 2016 that weretherwise disclosed on our quarterly reports om#10-Q or
our current reports on Form 8-K filed during thayended January 31, 2016.

Effective March 19, 2015, we entered into dires®ivices agreements with our past president artdipastor, Dr.
BJ Bormann, and our directors, Dr. Wolfgang Rend Bm. Patrick Frankham. Pursuant to the agreemeat$
director shall provide director services to our pamy for a period of 24 months in consideration 6r000,000
shares of our common stock payable in installmeh&500,000 shares upon execution of the agreerdds@0,000
after 6 months, 2,500,000 after 12 months and 208@0after 24 months. Also effective March 19, 20d&
entered into a management consulting agreementDvitlGiora Davidai. Pursuant to the agreement Cavibai
shall provide consulting services to our companyaderm of 12 months renewable by mutual agreerfteran
additional 12 months. In consideration of the se¥sj we agreed to pay to Dr. Davidai 10,000,000eshaf our
common stock payable in installments of 2,500,008res upon execution of the agreement, 2,500,068 &ft
months, or 2,500,000 after 12 months and 2,500a@0 24 months (subject to renewal of the termy.March 20,
2015, we issued 40,000,000 common shares payablest@ormann, Renz, Frankham and Davidai pursigatite
above described agreements. The common sharesteamed or payable were held in escrow to baseteto the
directors or consultant in accordance with the geaftheir respective agreements. The 40,000,06thwn shares
were issued to two (2) US persons in reliance ole BO6 under Regulation D and/or Section 4(2) ef $lecurities
Act of 1933 and to two (2) non-US persons (as tiwah is defined in Regulation S of the Securities & 1933), in
offshore transactions relying on Regulation S @& Securities Act of 1933. Effective November 3, 208hare
cancellation/return to treasury agreements wereredtinto with Drs. Bormann, Renz, Frankham andidzav
Pursuant to each of the agreements, Drs. Bormagmgz,F-rankham and Davidai have agreed to the datioal of
10,000,000 common shares in the capital of our Gomsuch that an aggregate of 40,000,000 commaesia
the capital of our Company were cancelled. On Fafyrd1, 2016, the management consulting agreemigmtDw.
Davidai was terminated.

On April 15, 2015, we issued an aggregate of 2(BlDshares of our common stock to two individualsservices
rendered. The shares were issued at a deemedopi$e10 per share. The 2,500,000 common shares iasued
to two non-US persons (as that term is defined @guRation S of the Securities Act of 1933), in bffse
transactions relying on Regulation S of the Seiagrifict of 1933.

Effective July 24, 2015, we closed a private plagetiby issuing an aggregate of 1,400,000 sharesrofommon
stock at prices of $0.10 and $0.20 per share, fmssgproceeds of $240,000. We issued the secumtieso (2) non
U.S. persons (at that term as defined in Reguléiaf the Securities Act of 1933), relying on Regjioin S and/or
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 and ¢h{@) U.S. persons (as that term is defined in Reign S of the
Securities Act of 1933) relying upon Rule 506 ofjRkation D of the Securities Act of 1933.

Effective July 29, 2015, we entered into an adyisboard agreement with Dr. Pravin Chaturvedi, wioour

current president and director. Pursuant to theegent, Dr. Chaturvedi shall provide advisory smwito our
company for a period of 12 months in considerat@ml00,000 shares of our common stock payablastaliments
of 25,000 shares on August 1, 2015, 25,000 on Jar8ig 2016, 25,000 on July 31, 2016 and 25,000atuary
31, 2017. On September 21, 2015, we issued 10@;000non shares payable to Dr. Chaturvedi pursuattdo
above described agreement. The common shares tneayeed or payable were held in escrow to be setbéo the
advisor in accordance with the terms of the agreniehe 100,000 common shares were issued to agtkdpin

reliance on Rule 506 under Regulation D and/oriSeek(2) of the Securities Act of 1933.

Also on September 21, 2015, we issued 100,000 shdireur common stock to a consultant for strategizisory,
investor relations and public relations serviceg Mlied on Regulation D and/or Section 4(2) of Sleeurities Act
of 1933.



Effective November 23, 2015 and December 4, 2015 issued 4,512,500 and 237,500, respectively, shafre
common stock to Clear Trust LLC, as nominee for ghareholders of IndUS, as consideration for treresh of
IndUS acquired from such shareholders of IndUS.rélled on Regulation D and/or Section 4(2) of tlee8ities
Act of 1933.

Effective November 20, 2015, we entered into an leympent agreement with our president and direcior,
Chaturvedi. Pursuant to the agreement, we agrepdydr. Chaturvedi 25,000 shares of our commookséach
month until a financing transaction is consummaga33 shares of our common stock were issued areiNber
30, 2015 and 25,000 shares of our common stock issoed on each of the following dates: December2815,
January 29, 2016, February 29, 2016 and March(R16.2

On February 29, 2016, we issued 100,000 sharesrafammon stock to two (2) consultants for investod public
relations services. We relied on Regulation D an8kxtion 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

Except as disclosed below, we do not have a st@tioro plan in favor of any director, officer, cofisumt or
employee of our company.

Convertible Securities

As of April 29, 2016, we had outstanding optionptochase 13,450,000 shares of our common stoekeatise
prices ranging from $0.10 to $0.70 and exercisabté November 30, 2020 to February 22, 2021. Ag\pfil 29,
2016, we had no warrants outstanding.

Purchase of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Aiffated Purchasers

We did not purchase any of our shares of commoeksto other securities during our fourth quarteioaf fiscal
year ended January 31, 2016.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

As a "smaller reporting company”, we are not regghito provide the information required by this Item

Iltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjiorctwith our audited financial statements and #lated notes
for the years ended January 31, 2016 and Januar@®Ib that appear elsewhere in this annual reddre
following discussion contains forward-looking staents that reflect our plans, estimates and bel@és actual
results could differ materially from those discubse the forward looking statements. Factors tlwatld cause or
contribute to such differences include, but are lmoited to those discussed below and elsewherhigiannual

report, particularly in the section entitled "RiB&ctors" beginning on page 20 of this annual report

Our audited financial statements are stated inddnftates Dollars and are prepared in accordanite Wnited
States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

Purchase of Significant Equipment
We do not intend to purchase any significant eqeiphover the next twelve months.

Personnel Plan



We do not expect any material changes in the numbemployees over the next 12 month period (algfowe
may enter into employment or consulting agreemauiitis our officers or directors). We do and will ¢omne to
outsource contract employment as needed.
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Results of Operations
For the Years Ending January 31, 2016 and 2015

Year Ended
January 31,
2016 2015
$ Nil $ Nil
$10,321,49 $ 117,48:
Accretion of discounts on convertible debentures $ Nil $ 8,72
Financing costs $ Nil $ 152,75.
Gain on change in fair value derivative $ (14,429 $ (188,70)
$
$
$

Revenue
Operating expenses

Loss on settlement and conversions of debentures Nil $ 973,85t
Interest expense Nil $ 64,88¢
Net income (los: (10,307,06) $(1,129,00)-

Expenses

Our operating expenses for our years ended JaBda016 and 2015 are outlined in the table below:

Year Ended
January 31,
2016 2015
Depreciation and amortization $ 322§ 40¢
Consulting $ Nil $ Nil
Foreign exchange loss $ 13,91! $ 52,930
General and administrative $ 961,74t $ 30,607
Management fees $2,268,29' $ 2,69¢
Professional fees $ 340,22( $ 30,84«
Research and development $ Nil $ Nil
Stock-based compensation $6,736,99- $  Nil

Operating expenses for year ended January 31, Pei€ased by $10,204,006 as compared to the cothgara
period in 2015 due to increased general and adirtiisee activities such as investor relations amdnmtions.
Professional fees increased primarily due to ouguesition of IndUS. Management fees and stock-based
compensation increased as a result of 2,708,333moomstock issued for services and 6,200,000 opttons
purchase our common stock granted.
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Revenue

We have not earned any revenues since our inceptidnve do not anticipate earning revenues in geoming
quarter.



Equity Compensation

Our company has a stock option plan which was adbahd approved by our shareholders on Decemb&033,
During our fiscal year ended January 31, 2016,®@ID stock options with exercise price of $0.10 amaturity on
December 14, 2020 were granted to directors amhauttant. As well, 200,000 stock options with price of
$0.25 and maturity on November 30, 2020 were gchtdenembers of our Scientific Advisory Board. Werently
do not have any other equity compensation plargrangements.

Liquidity and Financial Condition

Working Capital

At At
January January
31, 31,
2016 2015
Current Assets $103,21' $ 93¢
Current Liabilities $ 435,10« $ 55,79(
Working Capital (Deficit) $(331,889) $ (54,857)
Cash Flows
Year Year
Ended Ended
January January
31, 31,
2016 2015
Net Cash used in Operating Activiti $(163,94) $(47,25)
Net Cash used in Investing Activiti $ Nil $ Nil
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activiti $240,23. $ 47,32:
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash $ (5,490% (160
Increase (Decrease) in Cash During the Period $ 70,80( $ (9€)

We will require additional funds to fund our budegtexpenses over the next 12 months. These fungddenaised
through equity financing, debt financing, or ottmrurces, which may result in further dilution ire tequity
ownership of our shares. There is still no asswadhat we will be able to maintain operations &\l sufficient
for an investor to obtain a return on his investmignour common stock. Further, we may continueb&
unprofitable. We need to raise additional fundghie immediate future in order to proceed with ouddeted
expenses.
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Specifically, we estimate our expenses and workaqtal requirements for the next 12 months tosbfbows:

Estimated
Expenses
Description ($)
Research and Development Costs:
Studies and manufacture of active product ingredien 4,130,001)
IND filing 1,000,000
R&D headcount 1,250,000

Sales and Marketing Costs:
Entertainment and promotion 24,00(



Investor relations 60,00(

Literature 11,60(
Travel 60,00(
Operating Expenses:
Director fees 160,000
Insurance 40,00(
Office 21,20(
Office and laboratory lease 30,00(
Professional fees 143,000
Public company expenses 52,50(
Salaries and benefits 898,520
Telephone and internet 6,00(
Vehicles and transportation 6,00(

Total: 8,887,82:)

Based on our planned expenditures, we will reqaidtéitional funds of approximately $8.9 million toopeed with
our business plan over the next 12 months. If veairgeless than the full amount of financing thatreguire, we
will not be able to carry out our complete businpan and we will be forced to proceed with a sdaback
business plan based on our available financialuress.

We anticipate that we will incur substantial loss$es the foreseeable future. Even if we carry out planned
research and development activities on our prodticése is no guarantee that we will be able toketathem or
derive any revenues from their sale. Currently,imtend to prioritize the allocation of any finangithat we may
receive toward the development of PVT-005 and P\3%-0

We expect that we may obtain material net caslowglfrom our projects 18 to 36 months following #tert of our
proposed clinical trials, which we expect will begioon after the necessary funding is obtained.d¥ew there can
be no assurance we will obtain such cash inflows.

We intend to raise capital through equity and, etessary, debt financing. We anticipate that thH& bt any
additional funding we receive will be in the forrhemuity financing from the sale of our common &taddowever,
we do not have any financing arranged and we cgmmaide any assurance that we will be able tceraigficient
funds from the sale of our common stock to fund @peerations or planned research and developmeinitiast In
the absence of such financing, we will not be d@blearry out our planned research and developmeititées.
Even if we are successful in obtaining equity ficiag to fund our operations and research and dpuaot
activities, there is no assurance that we will mbtae funding necessary to pursue any advanceshres and
development following the completion of our planndihical trials. If we do not continue to obtainlditional
financing, we may be forced to abandon our busipkss

Any modifications to our plans will be based on mdactors, including the results of our clinicalats and the

amount of available capital. Further, the extentach we carry out our development of planned pobsl is
dependent upon the amount of financing availablesto

32

Future Financings

We will require additional financing in order toade us to proceed with our plan of operationsdiasussed
above, including approximately $8.9 million oveethext 12 months to pay for research and developaech
ongoing expenses. These cash requirements arecegs®f our current cash and working capital ressur
Accordingly, we will require additional financing order to continue operations and to repay ouiliiees. There
is no assurance that any party will advance adwitidunds to us in order to enable us to sustainpban of
operations or to repay our liabilities.



We anticipate continuing to rely on equity salesoaf common stock in order to continue to fund business

operations. Issuances of additional shares willltés dilution to our existing stockholders. Thaseno assurance
that we will achieve any additional sales of ouuiggsecurities or arrange for debt or other finagao fund our

planned business activities.

We presently do not have any arrangements for iaddit financing for the expansion of our operatioasd no
potential lines of credit or sources of financimg aurrently available for the purpose of procegdiith our plan of
operations.

Contractual Obligations
As a "smaller reporting company"”, we are not regglito provide tabular disclosure obligations.
Going Concern

We have not generated any revenues and are depemmenobtaining outside financing to carry out operations
and pursue our pharmaceutical research and develupmetivities. If we are unable to generate futash flows,
raise equity or secure alternative financing, wey mat be able to continue our operations and osinass plan
may fail. You may lose your entire investment.

If our operations and cash flow improve, managenimiieves that we can continue to operate. Howewer,
assurance can be given that management's actidineesuilt in profitable operations or an improverném our

liquidity situation. The threat of our ability toostinue as a going concern will cease to exist amhen our

revenues have reached a level able to sustainusimess operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that drazee reasonably likely to have a current orrieiteffect on
our financial condition, changes in financial cdiafi, revenues or expenses, results of operatimpsdity, capital
expenditures or capital resources that is materiatockholders.

Critical Accounting Policies

The discussion and analysis of our financial cooditand results of operations are based upon amaméial
statements, which have been prepared in accordeitit¢he accounting principles generally acceptethe United
States of America. Preparing financial statemeatpires management to make estimates and assumpiian
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilitresjenue, and expenses. These estimates and agswsnate
affected by management's application of accourimiigies. We believe that understanding the basisrature of
the estimates and assumptions involved with thedhg aspects of our financial statements is @altito an
understanding of our financial statements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of these financial statements imfaranity with generally accepted accounting pritegpin the
United States requires management to make estimaté@assumptions that affect the reported amounéssets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent asswid liabilities at the date of the financial stagmts and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses dugngpiorting period. Our company regularly evaluatgimates
and assumptions related to the recoverability nffived assets, valuation of convertible deberstuassumptions
used to determine the fair value of stock-basedpamsation and derivative liabilities, and deferiecbme tax
asset valuation allowances. Our company basestiteaes and assumptions on current facts, histiogixperience
and various other factors that it believes to kesoeable under the circumstances, the results @hwbrm the
basis for making judgments about the carrying \&lofeassets and liabilities and the accrual ofscast expenses
that are not readily apparent from other sourcdse @actual results experienced by our company méegrdi
materially and adversely from our company's eseésal o the extent there are material differencésden the
estimates and the actual results, future resultpefations will be affected.
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Long-lived Assets

In accordance with ASC 360, "Property, Plant andifgment”, our company tests long-lived assets setagroups

for recoverability when events or changes in cirstances indicate that their carrying amount may bt
recoverable. Circumstances which could triggenere include, but are not limited to: significareéateases in the
market price of the asset; significant adverse géarin the business climate or legal factors; actaiion of costs

significantly in excess of the amount originallypexted for the acquisition or construction of tissed; current

period cash flow or operating losses combined withistory of losses or a forecast of continuingéssassociated
with the use of the asset; and current expectatiah the asset will more likely than not be solddisposed

significantly before the end of its estimated ubéfa. Recoverability is assessed based on theyicey amount of

the asset and its fair value, which is generaltgideined based on the sum of the undiscountedftash expected

to result from the use and the eventual disposdh®fasset, as well as specific appraisal in ceitatances. An
impairment loss is recognized when the carrying @més not recoverable and exceeds fair value.

Stock-Based Compensation

Our company records stock-based compensation ior@daece with ASC 718Compensation — Stock-Based
Compensationusing the fair value method. All transactionswhich goods or services are the consideration
received for the issuance of equity instruments areounted for based on the fair value of the cmmation
received or the fair value of the equity instrumisstied, whichever is more reliably measurable.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments that are not cifesd as equity and are not used in hedging refatiips are
measured at fair value. Subsequent changes tedfaie are recorded in the statement of operations.

Income Taxes

Our company accounts for income taxes using thet asel liability method in accordance with ASC 74@¢come
Taxes". The asset and liability method provideg theferred tax assets and liabilities are recoghife the
expected future tax consequences of temporaryrediftes between the financial reporting and taxsa$assets
and liabilities, and for operating loss and taxd@rearryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabgitare measured
using the currently enacted tax rates and lawswfibbe in effect when the differences are expddtereverse. Our
company records a valuation allowance to reducerdsf tax assets to the amount that is believee titaly than
not to be realized. As of January 31, 2016 and 26@bcompany did not have any amounts recordeiparg to
uncertain tax positions.

Our company files federal and provincial income ttaturns in Canada and federal and state incomeetarns in
the United States. Our company recognizes intenedtpenalties related to uncertain tax positionsinexpense.
During the years ended January 31, 2016 and 2b&fg tvere no charges for interest or penalties.

Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measures

ASC 820,Fair Value Measurementsequires an entity to maximize the use of obddevanputs and minimize the
use of unobservable inputs when measuring fairevai$C 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy basethe level

of independent, objective evidence surrounding itipits used to measure fair value. A financial rinsient's

categorization within the fair value hierarchy isbd upon the lowest level of input that is sigaifit to the fair

value measurement. ASC 820 prioritizes the inmits three levels that may be used to measure dhiev

Level 1 -Level 1 applies to assets or liabilities for whittere are quoted prices in active markets for idaht
assets or liabilities.



Level 2 -Level 2 applies to assets or liabilities for whitliere are inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable for the asset or liability such as quigieces for similar assets or liabilities in aetimarkets; quoted
prices for identical assets or liabilities in maskavith insufficient volume or infrequent transacts (less active
markets); or model-derived valuations in which ffigant inputs are observable or can be derivedggally from,

or corroborated by, observable market data.

Level 3 -Level 3 applies to assets or liabilities for whiblere are unobservable inputs to the valuation otstlogy
that are significant to the measurement of thevialine of the assets or liabilities.
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Our company's financial instruments consist priattypof cash, amounts receivable, accounts payafdeaccrued
liabilities and due to related parties. Pursuam$& 820, the fair value of our cash is determihaded on "Level
1" inputs, which consist of quoted prices in actimarkets for identical assets. We believe that#overded values
of all of our other financial instruments approxisgheir current fair values because of their remd respective
maturity dates or durations.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of our parent entity, Piltarmaceuticals Inc., is the Canadian dollar &edfiinctional
currency of our subsidiary is the US dollar. Oumpany's presentation currency is the US dollar.

Monetary assets and liabilities are translatedgusive exchange rate prevailing at the balance sietet Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated inigoreurrencies are translated at rates of exchangéfect at the
date of the transaction. Expenses are translateavertage rates for the period. Gains and lossesngrion
translation or settlement of foreign currency demated transactions or balances are included imlétermination
of income.

Results of operations are translated into our cawyipgresentation currency, US dollars, at an gpjate average
rate of exchange during the year. Net assets abdities are translated to US dollars for presgéoapurposes at
rates of exchange in effect at the end of the per@ains or losses arising on translation are meized in other
comprehensive income (loss) as foreign currenaystadion adjustments.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Our company has implemented all new accounting quooements that are in effect and that may imptact i
financial statements and does not believe thaethee any other new accounting pronouncementshthag been
issued that might have a material impact on itarfaial position or results of operations.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

As a "smaller reporting company”, we are not regplito provide the information required by this Item

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
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Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended January 31, 2016 and 2015



(Expressed in U.S. dollars)
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors
Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. (the "Caoryipaas
of January 31, 2016 and 2015 and the related cdasetl statements of operations, stockholderstitigfind cash
flows for each of the years in the two-year perodled January 31, 2016. These consolidated finastatements
are the responsibility of the Company's managemént: responsibility is to express an opinion onsthe
consolidated financial statements based on outaudi

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighatBlo
(United States). Those standards require that ae @hd perform the audits to obtain reasonablerasse about
whether the consolidated financial statements are 6f material misstatement. The Company is ngaired to
have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audisdhiernal control over financial reporting. Owdés included
consideration of internal control over financialpogting as a basis for designing audit procedutes are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for theppse of expressing an opinion on the effectiverasthe
Company's internal control over financial reportifgccordingly, we express no such opinion. An aualgo
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgathe amounts and disclosures in the finansiatements,
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well asativag the
overall financial statement presentation. We belitnat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion the consolidated financial statersergferred to above present fairly, in all materggdpects, the
financial position of Pivot Pharmaceuticals Incofiganuary 31, 2016 and 2015, and the resultsedf bperations
and cash flows for each of the years in the twa-yesiod ended January 31, 2016, in conformity wikls.
generally accepted accounting principles.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemeat® been prepared assuming that the Company amitinue

as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1 to tmsalidated financial statements, the Company had a
accumulated deficit, negative working capital, amal revenue to date as of January 31, 2016 whictesai
substantial doubt about its ability to continueaagoing concern. Management's plans concerning timedters are
also described in Note 1. The consolidated findrat@ements do not include any adjustments thghtmiesult
from the outcome of this uncertainty.

As mentioned in Note 12, the accompanying constdiifinancial statements have been restated focdhection
of an error relating to the Company's understatémérstock-based compensation expenses for the gmded
January 31, 2016.

/s! Sadler, Gibb & Associates, LLC

Salt Lake City, UT
April 29, 2016, except for Notes 8, 10, 11 andd=to which the date is June 7, 2016
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PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

Assets
Current assets

Cash

Prepaids and other current assets
Total current assets

Security deposit
Property and equipment, net (Note 4)
Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders' Deficit

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to related parties (Note 9)
Derivative liabilities (Note 5)

Total liabilities

Stockholders' Deficit

Common stock: Unlimited shares authorized, withpat value, 74,722,100 a
65,863,766 shares issued and outstanding, resplctiVote 6)

Common stock issuable (Note 6)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders' deficit

Total liabilities and stockholders' deficit

Nature of operations and continuance of businesse([1l)
Subsequent events (Note 11)

January
January 31, 31,
2016 2015
$ $
(Restated)

71,63¢ 83¢
31,57¢ 98
103,21! 93¢
2,90( -
= 327
106,11! 1,26¢
397,48 41,13¢
37,62: -
- 14,65¢
435,10« 55,79(
7,054,49° 3,470,81
16,20¢ -
6,174,60 262,27t
745,25 224,86(

(14,319,54) (4,012,48).

(328,98

106,11!

(54,525

1,26¢

(The accompanying notes are an integral part afetloensolidated financial statements)
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PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

Revenue
Expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Foreign exchange loss
General and administrative
Management fees
Professional fees
Stock-based compensation
Total expenses
Loss from operations
Other (expenses) income
Accretion of discount on convertible debentures
Financing costs
Gain on change in fair value of derivative lialpg
Loss on settlement and conversions of debentures
Interest expense
Total other income (expenses)

Net loss

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation adjustment

Net comprehensive lo:

Net loss per share, bas

Net loss per share, dilut

Weighted average shares outstanding - basic

Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted

Year

Ended
Year Ended January
January 31, 31,

2016 2015
$ $
(Restated)

32z 40¢
13,91: 52,93(
961,74t 30,60°
2,268,29 2,69/
340,22 30,84«
6,736,99 -

10,321,49 117,48

(10,321,49)  (117,48)

- (8,729
- (152,759
14,42: 188,70
- (973,850
- (64,889
14,428 (1,011,52)

(10,307,06) (1,129,00)-

520,39: 153,95
(9,786,67) (975,059
(0.19) (0.10)
(0.19) (0.10)
77,718,221 11,599,995

77,718,21 11,599,99)




(The accompanying notes are an integral part afetloensolidated financial statements)
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PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equityfi¢ide
(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

Foreign
Common Additional Currency
Common Stock Stock Paid-In  Translation
Shares  Amount Issuable Capital Adjustment  Deficit Total
# $ $ $ $ $ $
Balance - January 3:
2014 10,076,70 1,656,33. 224,68! 259,54( 70,91 (2,883,47) (672,009
Contributed capital - - - 2,73¢ - - 2,73¢
Common stock issued 1
termination fees 1,000,000 224,68! (224,68 - - - -
Common stock issued
default of loans 2,750,000 152,61: - - - - 152,61:
Common stock issued ¢
settlement and
conversion of debenture 35,524,53 610,10¢ - - - - 610,10¢
Common stock issued t
settle amounts due to
related party 16,512,52 827,07 - - - - 827,07
Net loss - - - - 153,95( (1,129,00) (975,059
Balance — January 31,
2015 65,863,76 3,470,81! = 262,27¢ 224,86( (4,012,48) (54,52Y
Common stock issued f
services 2,708,33. 3,296,72 16,20¢ - - - 3,312,93
Common stock issued
asset acquisition (Note  4,750,00! 46,72 - - - - 46,72
Common stock issued 1
cash 1,400,000 240,23: - - - - 240,23.
Stock-based
compensation (Restate! - - - 5,912,32 - - 5,912,32}
Net loss (Restate - - - - 520,39. (10,307,06) (9,786,67.).
Balance - January 3.
2016 (Restated) 74,722,10 7,054,49 16,20¢ 6,174,60. 745,25, (14,319,54) (328,989

(The accompanying notes are an integral part afetloensolidated financial statements)
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PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows



(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

Operating activities

Net los!

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:

Accretion of discount on convertible debentures
Common stock issued for services
Common stock issued for loan defaults

Compensation expense recognized in asset acquisitio

Depreciation and amortization
Fair value of stock options vested
Gain on change in fair value of derivative lialbég
Loss on settlement and conversions of debentures
Services contributed by related party
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaids and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to related parties

Net cash used in operating activi

Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Proceeds from issuance of convertible debentures
Proceeds from related party loans

Net cash provide by financing activities

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash

Increase (decrease) in cash

Cash - beginning of period

Cash — end of period

Supplemental disclosures:
Interest paid
Income tax paid

Non-cash activities:

Common stock issued for settlement and conversbdsbentures
Common stock issued for settlement of amounts duelated party

Common stock issued in asset acquisition

Year
Ended
Year Ended January
January 31, 31,
2016 2015
$ $
(Restated)
(10,307,06) (1,129,00)
z 10,74:
3,340,82 -
- 152,75:
349,15! -
322 40¢
6,387,83 -
(14,425  (188,70)
- 973,85t
z 2,73¢
(15,939 4,71¢
95,34¢ 88,77:
: 36,45¢
(163,94 (47,25))
240,23: -
- 10,86
- 36,45¢
240,23: 47,32:
(5,490 (160
70,80( (96)
83¢ 93¢
71,63¢ 83¢
- 24¢€
- 697,86
- 887,39
46,72: -

(The accompanying notes are an integral part afetloensolidated financial statements)
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PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended January 31, 2016

(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

1.

Nature of Operations and Continuance of Business

Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. (the "Company") was lipooated in British Columbia under the Business
Corporations Act on June 10, 2002. On April 7, 20t Company changed its name from Neurokine
Pharmaceuticals Inc. to Pivot Pharmaceuticals Tie Company is in the business of developing and
commercializing new uses for existing prescriptibngs as well as developing proprietary encapsuiati
technology in the treatment of neurodegeneratiseaties.

These consolidated financial statements have besppaped on the going concern basis, which assumags t
the Company will be able to realize its assetsdiadharge its liabilities in the normal course ofimess.
As at January 31, 2016, the Company has not eamgdevenue, has a working capital deficit of $899,
and an accumulated deficit of $14,319,546. Theinoat operations of the Company are dependentson it
ability to generate future cash flows or obtain iiddal financing. These factors raise substardialibt
about the Company's ability to continue as a gemgcern. These consolidated financial statementsotio
include any adjustments to the recorded assetahilities that might be necessary should the Camgze
unable to continue as a going concern.

Asset Acquisition

On November 20, 2015, the Company completed thaisitign of IndUS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("IndUS")
pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger andiistgpn Agreement dated as of November 4, 2015.
As consideration for the purchase, the Companyetsst, 750,000 shares of common stock, of which
4,512,500 shares of common stock were issued oremdber 23, 2015 and 237,500 shares of common
stock were issued on December 4, 2015 which shaees being held as a contingency pertaining to the
liabilities of IndUS which were assumed by PivoheTCompany will also be granting 41,833 stock oio
pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger. IndEsUnited States-India cross-border pharmacalutic
company conducting research and development aetvibor advancing novel therapeutics in the ardas o
oncology, infectious diseases and diabetes whastsasonsisted of a portfolio of patented and petgmy,
novel anticancer drug candidates from multiple clea classes of molecules referred to as
pyrrolobenzodiazepine dimers.

The Company evaluated this acquisition in accordamith ASC 805, Business Combinations (10-55-4) to
discern whether the assets and operations of Indigb the definition of a business. The Company
concluded there were not a sufficient number of Eycesses obtained to develop the inputs intoutsitp
nor could such processes be easily obtained bgdmepany. Accordingly, the Company accounted fas thi
transaction as the acquisition of assets and &k®wloyee (compensation arrangement).

The transaction was accounted for in accordanck asset acquisition guidance found in ASC 805 and
share based payment guidance found in ASC 718, €nsapion — Stock Compensation. The consideration
transferred, assets acquired, liabilities assumeédcampensation expense recognized is as follows:

Consideration paid: $
Liabilities assumed 260,40(
Stock options granted 35,63}

Common stock issued 46,72



Total purchase price 342,76(
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PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended January 31, 2016

(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

2. Asset Acquisition (continued)
Consideration received: $
Cash 14,60¢
Other current assets 4,68¢
Compensation expense 323,47(
Net value of assets purcha 342,76(

3. Significant Accounting Policies

(@)

(b)

(©)

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements and the e@latotes of the Company are prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipieein the United States and are expressed in
U.S. dollars. The Company's fiscal year-end is dan31.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financiakestants in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States requinesagement to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets andlitie® and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated finahatatements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. The Caspagularly evaluates estimates and
assumptions related to the useful life and recdilinaof long-lived assets, assumptions used to
determine the fair values of stock-based compemsatind derivative liabilities and deferred
income tax asset valuation allowances. The Compgeses its estimates and assumptions on
current facts, historical experience and variolreofactors that it believes to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form thsisbéor making judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities and the accrualosts and expenses that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The actual results experiermedhe Company may differ materially and
adversely from the Company's estimates. To thenexitere are material differences between the
estimates and the actual results, future resultépefations will be affected.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporhée financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company. Control is agbid where the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of atitg so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
The consolidating entities include:

% of Jurisdiction




ownership

Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. Parent Canada
IndUS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 100% USA
Cash and Cash Equivalents

(d)

(e)

The Company considers all highly liquid instrumentth a maturity of three months or less at the
time of issuance to be cash equivalents. As ataigrdl, 2016 and 2015, the Company had no
cash equivalents.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is comprised of office eaquépt and is recorded at cost. The Company

amortizes the cost of equipment on a straight-basis over their estimated useful life of five
years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended January 31, 2016

(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

3. Significant Accounting Policiegcontinued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Long-lived Assets

In accordance with ASC 360, "Property, Plant andigment”, the Company tests long-lived
assets or asset groups for recoverability whentswanchanges in circumstances indicate that their
carrying amount may not be recoverable. Circum&siwehich could trigger a review include, but
are not limited to: significant decreases in thekeatprice of the asset; significant adverse change
in the business climate or legal factors; accurmaadf costs significantly in excess of the amount
originally expected for the acquisition or constiol of the asset; current period cash flow or
operating losses combined with a history of logses forecast of continuing losses associated with
the use of the asset; and current expectationthigatisset will more likely than not be sold or
disposed significantly before the end of its estedauseful life. Recoverability is assessed based
on the carrying amount of the asset and its fdwejawhich is generally determined based on the
sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected tdtrizem the use and the eventual disposal of the
asset, as well as specific appraisal in certaitaint®s. An impairment loss is recognized when the
carrying amount is not recoverable and exceedwvéire.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company records stock-based compensation oragsrace with ASC 718, Compensation —
Stock-Based Compensation, using the fair value otetlll transactions in which goods or

services are the consideration received for theaisse of equity instruments are accounted for
based on the fair value of the consideration rexkior the fair value of the equity instrument
issued, whichever is more reliably measurable.

Derivative Financial Instruments



(i)

0

(k)

Derivative financial instruments that are not diéeesd as equity and are not used in hedging
relationships are measured at fair value. Subséquleanges to fair value are recorded in the
statement of operations.

Loss Per Share

The Company computes net loss per share in acomedaith ASC 260, Earnings Per Share. ASC
260 requires presentation of both basic and diletthings per share ("EPS") on the face of the
consolidated statement of operations. Basic EP8oisputed by dividing net income (loss)
available to common shareholders (numerator) by weéghted average number of shares
outstanding (denominator) during the period. DilutePS gives effect to all dilutive potential
common shares outstanding during the period udiegtiteasury stock method and convertible
preferred stock using the if-converted method.dmputing diluted EPS, the average stock price
for the period is used in determining the numbersiofres assumed to be purchased from the
exercise of stock options or warrants. Diluted E@ludes all dilutive potential shares if their
effect is anti dilutive. As at January 31, 2016e tBompany has 1,700,750 (2015 — 460,000)
potentially dilutive shares.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

ASC 220, Comprehensive Incomeestablishes standards for the reporting and ajspif
comprehensive loss and its components in the cioiagetl financial statements. As at January 31,
2016 and 2015, the Company's comprehensive incomleidied foreign currency translation
adjustments.

Research and Development Costs

Research costs are expensed in the period thaatkedgcurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended January 31, 2016

(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

3. Significant Accounting Policies(continued)

o

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using thet @sgl liability method in accordance with
ASC 740, "Income Taxes". The asset and liabilitythrod provides that deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the expected futuex consequences of temporary differences
between the financial reporting and tax bases sdtasand liabilities, and for operating loss and ta
credit carry-forwards. Deferred tax assets andliieds are measured using the currently enacted
tax rates and laws that will be in effect when diféerences are expected to reverse. The Company
records a valuation allowance to reduce deferrgdatsets to the amount that is believed more
likely than not to be realized. As of January 3Q1& and 2015, the Company did not have any
amounts recorded pertaining to uncertain tax posti

The Company files federal and provincial income taturns in Canada and federal and state
income tax returns in the United States. The Companognizes interest and penalties related to
uncertain tax positions in tax expense. Duringytbars ended January 31, 2016 and 2015, there
were no charges for interest or penalties.



(m)

Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measures

ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements, requires anyetgitnaximize the use of observable inputs
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs wheasoméng fair value. ASC 820 establishes a fair
value hierarchy based on the level of independ®sjective evidence surrounding the inputs used
to measure fair value. A financial instrument'segarization within the fair value hierarchy is
based upon the lowest level of input that is sigaift to the fair value measurement. ASC 820
prioritizes the inputs into three levels that mayused to measure fair value:

Level 1

Level 1 applies to assets or liabilities for whitlere are quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2

Level 2 applies to assets or liabilities for whittere are inputs other than quoted prices
that are observable for the asset or liability sashquoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities in active markets; quoted prices foemtical assets or liabilities in markets with
insufficient volume or infrequent transactions ¢legctive markets); or model-derived
valuations in which significant inputs are obseteadr can be derived principally from, or
corroborated by, observable market data.

Level 3

Level 3 applies to assets or liabilities for whitthkere are unobservable inputs to the
valuation methodology that are significant to theasurement of the fair value of the
assets or liabilities.

The Company's financial instruments consist priaklypof cash, amounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities and due to relptaties. Pursuant to ASC 820, the fair value of our
cash is determined based on "Level 1" inputs, whimsist of quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets. The recorded values of all ofimancial instruments approximate their current
fair values because of their nature and respentatirity dates or durations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended January 31, 2016

(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

3. Significant Accounting Policies(continued)

(n)

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the parent entity, PiRbtarmaceuticals Inc., is the Canadian dollar and
the functional currency of its subsidiary is the d@&lar. The Company's presentation currency is
the US dollar.

Monetary assets and liabilities are translatedgutiie exchange rate prevailing at the consolidated
balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and tiedillenominated in foreign currencies are
translated at rates of exchange in effect at the dathe transaction. Expenses are translated at



average rates for the period. Gains and lossem@rian translation or settlement of foreign
currency denominated transactions or balancesahedied in the determination of income.

Results of operations are translated into the Carylpgoresentation currency, US dollars, at an
appropriate average rate of exchange during the e assets and liabilities are translated to US
dollars for presentation purposes at rates of exghan effect at the end of the period. Gains or
losses arising on translation are recognized irerotomprehensive income (loss) as foreign
currency translation adjustments.

(0) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The Company has implemented all new accountingqmecements that are in effect and that may
impact its consolidated financial statements andsdaot believe that there are any other new
accounting pronouncements that have been issuddnifght have a material impact on its
consolidated financial position or results of opierss.

4. Property and Equipment

January January

31, 31,

2016 2015

Net Net
Accumulated carrying carrying

Cost amortization value  value

$ $ $ $

Office furniture and equipment 1,62¢ 1,62¢ - 327

Depreciation expense included as a charge to inapase$322 and $409 for the years ended January 31,
2016 and 2015, respectively.
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(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

5. Derivative Liability
Derivative liability consists of share purchase naats originally issued in private placements with
conversion/exercise prices denominated in UnitemteSt dollars, which differs from the parent ergity’
functional currency.

The fair values of derivative liability as at Janual, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

January January

31, 31,
2016 2015
$ $

380,000 warrants expiring on July 30, 2015 - 14,65¢



- 14,65¢

The fair value of derivative financial liability wadetermined using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model, using the following assumptions:

Risk-

free Expectec Expeded
Expectec Interest Dividend Life (in
Volatility Rate Yield years)

As at issuance date:
380,000 warrants expiring on July 30, 20: 125% 1.2€% 0% 4.5C

6. Common Stock
During the year ended January 31, 2016:

€) On March 6, 2015, 10,000,000 ssaof common stock were issued to directors, finevfand
consultant (the "shareholders") and valued at 88 using the market price of the stock or
date of issuance. An additional 30,000,000 shafesmmon stock were held in escrow and to be
released as follows: 10,000,000 shares of comnmok stn each of August 25, 2015, February
2016 and February 25, 2017. On August 25, 2015000000 shares of common stock v
released to the shareholders. In October 2015 sttaeeholders returne®l0,000,000 shares
common stock issued and received to the Companycdocellation. On the same date,
remaining 20,000,000 shares of common stock hekesarow were returned to the Company
cancellation.

(b) On April 15, 2015, the Compyrissued 2,500,000 shares of common stock to dcgeprovide
and an officer for services provided valued at $2389. The value of the common stock was b
on the market price of the stock on the date afasse.

(c) In July 2015, 1,000,000 a&fes of common stock were issued for cash procee&200,084 ¢
$0.20 per share. In April 2015, 400,000 sharesoofimon stock were issued for cash procee
$40,148 or $0.10 per share.

(d) On August 1, 2015, 25,000 shares of commookstvere $sued to a member of the Compa
Scientific Advisory Board ("SAB member") and valuad $9,125 using the market price of
stock on the date of issuance. An additional 75gl@#es of common stock are held in escrov
will be released as follows: 280 shares of common stock on each of Januarg2@g, July 3]
2016 and January 31, 2017. On January 31, 20160@5Shares of common stock were releas
the SAB member. For the year ended January 31,,2016&dditional $16,206 was recognizec
services provided, which was valued using the marykee of the stock on January 31, 2016.
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6. Common Stock(continued)

(e) On August 24, 2015, 100,000 shares of common st@ck issued to a service provider and va
at $53,500 using the market price of the stockhendate of issuance.



(f)

(9)

On November 23, 2015, 4,512,500 shares ofmmom stak were issued pursuant to the a
acquisition (Note 2). On December 4, 2015, a furft®,500 shares of common stock were is
pursuant to this acquisition. The shares issuea watued at $46,723, which is the net valu
assets purchased.

On November 30, 2015, 8,333 shares of common stemle issued to the Company's C
Executive Officer ("CEQ") pursuant to an employmagteement and valued at $8,750 usin
market price of the stock on the date of issua@eDecember 31, 2015d January 29, 201
25,000 shares of common stock were issued to thep@noy's CEO pursuant to the si
employment agreement and valued, using marketgpat¢he stock on these dates, at $25,00!
$22,500, respectively.

During the year ended January 31, 2015:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

1,500,000 shares of common stock were issuableupnrdo a default penalty on a convert
debenture on April 27, 2014.

1,000,000 shares of common stock were issuableiantr$o a default penalty on a loan payabl
September 19, 2014.

16,512,521 shares of common stock were issuablannary 2015 to settle $150,740 of amc
due to a related party.

250,000 shares of common stock were issued duhegyéar pursuant to default penalties
convertble debentures and 29,920,253 shares of commoh s®® issuable in January 201E
conversion of convertible debentures. 1,000,000eshaf common stock were issued during
year pursuant to termination fee on a convertileleethture

5,604,285 shares of common stock were issuahlanuary 2015 to settle loans payable.

Share Purchase Warrants

The following table summarizes the continuity cashpurchase warrants:

Weighted
Average
Number Exercise
of Price
Warrants $
Balance, January 31, 2015 and 2014 380,00 0.0t
Expired (380,000 (0.05)

Balance, January 31, 2016 - -
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Stock Options



Effective December 30, 2015, the Company adoptstbek option plan. Under this plan, the Company
may grant options to its directors, officers, enygles and consultants up to an amount as deterrhintte
Company and will be no more than a percentagesafutstanding common stock as may be requiredéy th
stock exchange the Company is listed with. The @gerprice of the stock options will be determirosd
the Company and will be no less than any minimurar&ge price as may be required by the stock
exchange the Company is listed with.

The following table summarizes the continuity of thompany's stock options:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average Aggregate
Number Exercise Remaining Intrinsic
of Price Contractual Value
Options  (US$) Life (years) (US$)

Outstanding, January 31, 2015 and 20: 80,00( 0.0t 0.3/1. -
Granted 6,200,00! 0.1C 4.€ 4,930,001)
Expired (80,000 (0.05) - -

Outstanding, January 31, 2016 6,200,001 0.1C 4.¢ 4,930,000

The fair value of stock-based compensation expemseestimated using the Black-Scholes option ggicin
model and the following assumptions:

Risk-
free Expectec Expectec
Expectec Interest Dividend Life (in

Volatility Rate Yield years)
200,000 options expiring on Nember 3(
2020 432% 1.62% 0% 5.C
6,000,000 options expiring on December
2020 42% 1.71% 0% 5.C

Additional information regarding stock options dslanuary 31, 20186, is as follows:

Exercise
Options Price Expiry
Options Outstanding Exercisable $ Date
Novembe
200,000 50,00( 0.2t 30, 2020
Decembe
6,000,000 6,000,00! 0.1C 14, 2020

6,200,000 6,050,00!
$125,319 of stock-based compensation have yet tedumgnized and will be recognized in future pesiod
Related Party Transactions

(a) As at January 31, 2016, the Company owed $3005 -$nil) to a director of the Company, wh
is unsecured, non-interest bearing, and due on ggma

(b) As at January 31, 2016, the Company has eivedale of $866 (2015 $nil) from the Company



Chief Executive Officer, which has been receivelssguent to year end.

(c) As at January 31, 2016, the Company owed6R27(2015 -$nil) to related parties related to st
options to be granted pursuant to the AgreementRiad of Merger and Acquisition Agreem
dated as of November 4, 2015 between the CompahynaltdS (Note 2).
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9. Related Party Transactions(continued)

(d) During the year ended January 31, 2016, tfgany's director performed semtcvalued at $r
(2015 - $2,694) which have been recorded as aibatitin to capital.

10. Income Taxes

The Company has approximately $6,400,000 of noiitaddpsses carried forward to offset taxable ineom
in future years which expire beginning in fiscal220 The income tax benefit differs from the amount
computed by applying the Canadian federal and poiai statutory rates to net loss before incomegax
for the years ended January 31, 2016 and 201%cteply, as a result of the following:

Net loss before tax
Statutory rate

Expected tax recovery

Lower effective tax rate on losses in U.S. juridic
Permanent differences and other

Expenses deductible for tax purposes

Current period losses not recognized

Income tax provision

2016 2015
$ $
10,307,06  1,129,00.
26.(% 26.(%

2,679,83 293,54
(22) -
(1,657,42) 46,68
44 48

(1,022,43)  (340,27)

The significant components of deferred income tssets and liabilities as at January 31, 2016 arid,20

after applying enacted corporate income tax ratesas follows:

Non-capital losses carried forward

Valuation allowance

Net deferred tax as:s
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2016 2015
$ $

1,664,841 705,25
(1,664,84) (705,25
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The following table lists the fiscal year in whithe loss was incurred and the expiration date ef th
operating loss:

Non-

Capital

Loss

Expiry Date $
2029 310,81:
2030 55,77¢
2031 99,74¢
2032 470,58¢
2033 -
2034 491,50:
2035 1,042,32i
2036 3,932,51;
6,403,26:
11. Subsequent Events

(a) In February 2016, the Company issued 100sb@@es of common stock to consultants.

(b) On February 23, 2016, the Company granted 7,250d)ibns to purchase the Compa
common stock to officers, directors and consultattan exercise price of $0.70 per share w
maturity date of February 22, 2021. The stogitians vest as follows: 1,812,500 immedial
1,812,500 on May 23, 2016, 1,812,500 on Augus2P36 and 1,812,500 on November 23, 2016.

(c) On each of February 29, 2016, March 31, 2016, Ma3026 and May 31, 2016, 25,000 share
common stock were issued to the Company's CEOrap&asation.

(d) On May 3, 2016, the Company granted 29,000 optiopairchase the Company's common sto
a consultant at an exercise price of $0.34 pereswith a maturity date of May 2, 2021. The s
options vest as follows: 26,000 immediately, 1,000Nmvember 2, 2016, 1,000 on May 2, 2
and 1,000 on November 2, 2017.
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12. Restatement

The Company has restated the 2016 financial statisnas originally presented in its 10K filed on Ag8,
2016. The changes and explanation of such ardlas/$o

Consolidated balance sheet as of January 31, 2016:

Originally Restatemen As Restated
Reported Adjustment $




$ $

Additional paid-in capital 4,574,64 1,599,95  6,174,60 .
Accumulated other comprehensive income 616,57: 128,68I 745,25.
Accumulated deficit (12,590,91) (1,728,63) (14,319,54)

Consolidated statement of operations for the yede@ January 31, 2016:

Originally Restatemen
Reported Adjustment As Restated

$ $ $
Stock-based compensation 5,008,36! 1,728,63.  6,736,99. .
Total expenses 8,592,85 1,728,63. 10,321,49)
Net los! (8,578,43) (1,728,63) (10,307,06)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 336,12( 184,27: 520,39:
Net comprehensive la (8,242,31) (1,544,36) (9,786,67)

The adjustments above reflect restatement duedii@uhl stock-based compensation of $1,728,634dei
recognized on the 6,200,000 stock options grantethg the year, together with the effects of tratisb
the additional expense into the Company's presentatirrency.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountasion Accounting and Financial Disclosure

There were no disagreements related to accountingiples or practices, financial statement disates internal
controls or auditing scope or procedure duringttte fiscal years and interim periods, including therim period
up through the date the relationship ended.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Management's Report on Disclosure Controls and Pedares

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange dwatmanagement evaluated the effectiveness ofdbigil and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedasesf January 31, 2016.

Disclosure controls and procedures refer to cositenld other procedures designed to ensure thatmiafmn

required to be disclosed in the reports we filesapbmit under the Securities Exchange Act is reahrgeocessed,
summarized and reported within the time periodscifipe in the rules and forms of the SEC and thaths
information is accumulated and communicated toroanagement, including our president (our princgpacutive
officer) and our chief financial officer (our pripal financial officer and principal accounting ic#r), as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardinguieed disclosure. In designing and evaluating disclosure
controls and procedures, management recognizearnkatontrols and procedures, no matter how weligsthed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assuraneehi¢ving the desired control objectives, and mamamt is
required to apply its judgment in evaluating anglementing possible controls and procedures.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control ovéinancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingraaithtaining adequate internal control over finahgorting.
Under the supervision and with the participation cefr management, including our president (our [giadc
executive officer) and our chief financial offiqgur principal financial officer and principal aegding officer), we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofimt@rnal control over financial reporting as ohdary 31, 2016
using the criteria established internal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOQ).



A material weakness is a deficiency, or combinatibrdeficiencies, in internal control over finariciaporting,
such that there is a reasonable possibility thagterial misstatement of our company's annual teriim financial
statements will not be prevented or detected oimaly basis. In its assessment of the effectiversdssternal
control over financial reporting as of January 3016, our company determined that there were cbaé#ficiencies
that constituted material weaknesses, as desdoibledy:

1. We did not maintain appropriate financial reportingpntrols — As of January 31, 2016, ¢
company has not maintained sufficient internal caatover financial reporting for the financ
reporting process. As at January 3016, our company did not have sufficient financedorting
controls with respect to the ability to process ptar accounting issues such as its ¢
acquisition. Subsequent to January 31, 2016, ompeoy has obtained the necessary assista
engire that the performance of complex accountingeisstan be performed accurately and
timely basis.

Accordingly, our company concluded that these adntieficiencies resulted in a reasonable posgibilitat a

material misstatement of the annual or interimricial statements will not be prevented or detectedx timely
basis by the company's internal controls.
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As a result of the material weaknesses describedeabmanagement has concluded that our companyatid
maintain effective internal control over financiaporting as of January 31, 2016 based on crisiablished in
Internal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by COSO.

Sadler, Gibb & Associates, LLC, our independentsteged public auditors, was not required to ansl nat issued
an attestation report concerning the effectivereéssur internal control over financial reporting esJanuary 31,
2016 pursuant to temporary rules of the Securéia Exchange Commission that permit our comparprawide

only management's report in this annual report.

Changes in Internal Controls

During the period ended January 31, 2016, there werchanges in our internal control over finan@glorting that
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenally affect, our internal control over finantraporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

On February 5, 2015, we accepted the resignatiddroAhmad Doroudian as our President and ChiefcEtiee
Officer of our company. Dr. Ahmad Doroudian remaéngdirector and serves as Chairman of the Boardddfition,
Dr. Hamid Doroudian resigned as a director of campany. The resignations of Dr. Ahmad Doroudian Bnd
Hamid Doroudian were not the result of any disagrems with our company regarding our operationdicies,
practices or otherwise.

Also on February 5, 2015, Dr. Barbara-Jean Borm&ennedy (BJ Bormann) and Dr. Wolfgang Renz were
appointed directors of our company. Concurrentlyhwdr. Ahmad Doroudian's resignation, we appoinbad
Bormann as Chief Executive Officer of our company.

On November 16, 2015, we accepted the resignatfoBro BJ Bormann as director. We also accepted the
resignation of Dr. Bormann as our Chief Executivifig@r effective October 16, 2015. Dr. Bormann'sigeation
was not the result of any disagreements with oorgany regarding our operations, policies, practarestherwise.

Dr. Ahmad Doroudian, our director and Chairman loé Board, was appointed as our interim Chief Exeeut
Officer.



On November 20, 2015, we appointed Dr. Pravin Gfatli as our new Chief Executive Officer and DicgctAlso
on the same date, we accepted the resignation .oAlbmad Doroudian as interim Chief Executive OfficBr.
Doroudian remained as Chairman of the board.
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

All directors of our company hold office until theext annual meeting of the security holders or|uhigir
successors have been elected and qualified. Thesffof our company are appointed by our boawdiretctors and
hold office until their death, resignation or rerab¥rom office. Our directors and executive offigetheir ages,
positions held, and duration as such, are as fstiow

Position Held with the Date First Elected or
Name Company Age Appointed
Dr. Ahmad Doroudian Chairman, Secretary and Direc 55 September 17, 2007
Dr. Pravin Chaturvedi Chlef Executive Officer ar November 20, 2015

Director 53

Moira Ong Chief Financial Officer 41 December 26, 2010
Dr. Patrick Frankham Director 44 July 24, 2014
Dr. Wolfgang Renz Director 46 February 5, 2015

Business Experience

The following is a brief account of the educatiow dusiness experience during at least the pastyfars of each
director, executive officer and key employee of oampany, indicating the person's principal occiapaturing
that period, and the name and principal businesiseobrganization in which such occupation and eypkent were
carried out.

Dr. Ahmad Doroudian — Chairman, Secretary and Dirtec

Dr. Ahmad Doroudian was as our appointed presideimgf Executive Officer and Director on Septembér 2007
and as Chief Executive Officer and secretary ondd&0, 2011. He resigned as President, Chief ExexQtfficer

and Secretary on August 30, 2011 and was re-amubag President, Chief Executive Officer and Sacyein July

24, 2014. Dr. Doroudian subsequently resigned asidnt and Chief Executive Officer on Februarg®l5 and
was appointed as Chairman on that date. CurrebBity,Ahmad Doroudian acts as our company's Chairman,
Secretary and Director.

Prior to joining us, Dr. Doroudian was involvedearly stage financing and management of private pardudicly
listed companies. From 1997 to 2004, he actedastitef executive officer, chairman, vice chairnsaml director
of PanGeo Pharma, Inc. (now PendoPharm, a divisidhharmascience Inc.), a TSX-listed company fodniolg
Dr. Doroudian which received over $100 million dof in financing. From 2004 through 2007, Dr. Dalian also
served as the president of, Rayan Pharma Inc.xporter of pharmaceuticals to Eastern Europe. FRO®6 to
2008, Dr. Doroudian was owner and chief executifiicer of ABF Pharmacy, a group of successful fetai
pharmacies. Dr. Doroudian is also the chief exgeutdfficer of Merus Labs International Inc., a dpHy
pharmaceutical company engaged in the acquisitidrieensing of pharmaceutical products.

Dr. Pravin R. Chaturvedi — President, Chief Execu#i Officer and Director
Dr. Pravin Chaturvedi was the founder of BostonedakidUS Pharmaceuticals, Inc., which was acquingdur

company in November 2015 and a co-founder and seageinterim chief executive officer of Florida-bds
Oceanyx Pharmaceuticals. He also serves as the agientific officer of San Francisco-based Napo



Pharmaceuticals. Previously, he has served as rd®dpnt and chief executive officer of Boston-lbh&eion
Pharmaceuticals. Dr. Chaturvedi serves on the soafr@ceanyx, FuelEd Schools, Cellanyx, PRADAN U&#l
Sindu Research Laboratories. He has previouslyedemn the Boards of Scion Pharmaceuticals and Di§id®. He
also serves as an advisory board member to our@aeyn@FC Biosciences and Springboard Enterprisdssathe
Chair of the Research Advisory Council for the Hedbciences Center of West Virginia University. ldean
adjunct faculty member at Georgetown Medical School
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Over his 25+ year career, Dr. Chaturvedi has ppédied or led the discovery and/or developmentviiets for

several new chemical entities, culminating in thecessful development and commercialization of sdveew
drugs that are currently marketed by various congsarPrior to his roles at our company, IndUS, @geaNapo
and Scion Pharmaceuticals, Dr. Chaturvedi, speverak years at Vertex Pharmaceuticals as the Héddad

Evaluation. Prior to Vertex, he was in the preciigroup at Alkermes and he started his R&D camedhe

Product Development group at Parke-Davis/WarnerleainBompany (now Pfizer). Dr. Chaturvedi holds alPh
in Pharmaceutical Sciences from West Virginia Ursity and a Bachelor's in Pharmacy from the Unitgrsf

Bombay

Moira Ong — Chief Financial Officer

Moira Ong was appointed as our Chief Financial €@ffion December 26, 2010. Ms. Ong has more thaea& of
experience in public company accounting and awgliorting. From 2010 through 2012, Ms. Ong was #isovice
president of finance of Merus Labs Internationat.lna specialty pharmaceutical company engagedhén t
acquisition and licensing of pharmaceutical prosduérom 2005 until 2010, Ms. Ong was senior managea
global accounting firm in charge of completion @fancial statements for Canadian publicly listednpanies.
From 2003 to 2005 she served as financial conduftana private financial planning company. Ms. Ongs a
manager in the banking and securities group abbaglaccounting firm in New York from 2000 to 2008s. Ong
obtained her Chartered Professional Accountantgdesipn in 1999 and her Chartered Financial Analyst
designation in 2003.

Dr. Patrick Frankham — Director

Dr. Patrick Frankham was appointed as directorusfommpany on July 24, 2014. Dr. Frankham has @Qeyears
of experience in the biopharmaceutical and serviodsistries. Prior to joining Pivot Pharmaceutidads was
Executive Director, Healthcare Innovation, Boeheningelheim GmbH. He has also founded severalinatibnal
healthcare startup enterprises including healthicdloemation technology, services and pharmacelsticampanies.
His professional experience includes public andgteé companies as well as multinational corporatidie has
developed pharmaceutical products in several tieetep areas and interacted with global regulatartharities.
Notable prior organizations where he held increasadership roles include, Phoenix Internatioriéé ISciences
(MDS Pharma Services), Endoceutics Inc., Aeterntéfex) BioAxone Biosciences, & ICON Clinical ResgarDr
Frankham obtained his PhD in molecular endocrinpi@gniversité Laval, Canada), and holds an MBA indfce
(University of Liverpool, UK). We appointed Dr. Figham to our board due to his background in the
biopharmaceutical industry.

Dr. Wolfgang Renz — Director

Dr. Wolfgang Renz was appointed as a director af @ampany on February 5, 2015. Dr. Wolfgang Renz is
president of international business at Physiciarterdctive. Formerly, he served as corporate viesigent of
business model & healthcare innovation at Boehringgelheim, one of the world's largest pharmacalti
companies. For over a decade, he has been invaivddveloping medicines and technology to help jpedgad
healthier, more productive lives. At Boehringeretigeim, he led a team of specialists to find, tast develop the
disruptive technologies that will shape the wayltheeare will be delivered in the future. In additi he also serves
as adjunct professor of surgery at McGill UniversitFaculty of Medicine in Montreal, Canada. DrnRdolds a
medical degree and a Ph.D. from Freiburg Univerasitst is board certified in Germany in emergencyinieé.



Family Relationships

There are no other family relationships between @ingur directors, executive officers and propod@dctors or
executive officers.

Conflicts of Interest

Dr. Chaturvedi is a co-founder and serves as ariimtchief executive officer of Oceanyx Pharmacaml, a
company that is developing novel drugs indicatedHe treatment of cancer, bone and neurodegeverditsorders.
Dr. Chaturvedi currently also serves on the bodrdliectors of various for-profit entities, includj Oceanyx
Pharmaceuticals, Cellanyx, Bach Pharma, and twepmnofit organizations, PRADAN USA and FuelEd Sclsol
He also serves on the board of the Indian affilaténdUS Pharmaceuticals (Sindu Research Labdeaoand
remains a consultant to Napo Pharmaceuticals agdadaAnimal Health, which are focused on gastraitiel
products. He also serves on the advisory boarahathar non-profit entity (Springboard Enterprisasjl serves as
an Adjunct Professor of Medicine at Georgetown Mab&chool.
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Dr. Renz is president of international busines®laysicians Interactive and also serves as adjumdegsor of
surgery at McGill University's Faculty of Mediciire Montreal, Canada.

While we do not anticipate that these activitiel @d@mpete with our business, Dr. Chaturvedi and Renz may
have pre-existing fiduciary duties with one or maeganizations and may not agree to present bisines
opportunities or research data to us unless othiiies have first declined to accept them or cotes to their
release. Accordingly, they may have a conflict mierest in determining to which entity a particularsiness
opportunity should be presented.

Our directors are not obligated to commit theirdiand attention exclusively to our business anchraingly, they

may encounter a conflict of interest in allocatthgir time between our operations and those ofrdbiisinesses.
Our directors devote their time on an as neededs.bA# of our directors, in the course of theithet business
activities, may become aware of investment andr@ssi opportunities which may be appropriate fosgmation to
us as well as other entities to which they owedadiary duty. As a result, they may have conflictsnterest in

determining to which entity a particular businegpartunity should be presented. They may also @ fthure

become affiliated with entities engaged in busirsgivities similar to those we intend to conduct.

In general, officers and directors of a corporatoa required to present business opportunitiescarporation if:

. the corporation could financially undertake the appnity;
. the opportunity is within the corporation's linelafsiness; and
. it would be unfair to the corporation and its stoaklers not to bring the opportunity to the

attention of the corporation.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings
To the best of our knowledge, none of our directwrexecutive officers has, during the past terrgea

1. been convicted in a criminal proceeding or badject to a pending criminal preming (excluding traffi
violations and other minor offences);

2. had any bankruptcy petition filed by or against business or property of the person, or of anyngaship
corporation or business association of which he avgsneral partner oxecutive officer, either at the tir
of the bankruptcy filing or within two years pritwr that time;



3. been subject to any order, judgment, or decreesuabsequently reversed, suspended or vacated,y
court of competent jurisdiction or fedexa state authority, permanently or temporarily @mjg, barring
suspending or otherwise limiting, his involvememtainy type of business, securities, futures, conities
investment, banking, savings and loan, or insuratiities, or to be ass@ted with persons engaget
any such activity;

4. been found by a court of competent jurisdictiorainivil action or by the SEC or the Commodity Fat
Trading Commission to have violated a federal atessecurities or commodities law, and thégment he
not been reversed, suspended, or vacated;

5. been the subject of, or a party to, any federaltate judicial or administrative order, judgmerdcie, ¢
finding, not subsequently reversed, suspended eated (not including any setitleent of a civil proceedir
among private litigants), relating to an allegedlation of any federal or state securities or coritiex
law or regulation, any law or regulation respectiimgncial institutions or insurance companies udahg
but not linted to, a temporary or permanent injunction, orofedisgorgement or restitution, civil mor
penalty or temporary or permanent cease-@egist order, or removal or prohibition order, ay éaw ol
regulation prohibiting mail or wire fraud or frairdconnection with any business entity; or

6. been the subject of, or a party to, any sanctioorder, not subsequently reversed, suspended ateha
any selfregulatory organization (as defined in Section @@) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S
78c(a)(26))), any registered entity (as defined irct®a 1(a)(29) of the Commodity Exchange Ac
U.S.C. 1(a)(29))), or any equivalent exchange, @aton, entity or organization that has disciptiy
authority over its members or persons associatddavnember.
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Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Ekange Act of 1934

Our common stock is not registered pursuant toi@ed? of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, raeraded (the
"Exchange Act"). Accordingly, our officers, direcsp and principal stockholders are not subjectto lieneficial
ownership reporting requirements of Section 16{ah® Exchange Act.

Code of Ethics

Effective April 20, 2011, our company's board ofediors adopted a code of business conduct andsetiat
applies to, among other persons, members of oudbafadirectors, our company's officers including @resident,
chief executive officer and chief financial officegmployees, consultants and advisors. As adopi@dcode of
business conduct and ethics sets forth writterdstats that are designed to deter wrongdoing apdaimote:

1. honest and ethical conduct, including the ethiealdting of actual or apparent conflicts of interestwee
personal and professional relationships;

2. full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandablscliisure in reports and documents that we file ,wot
submit to, the Securities and Exchange Commissidniraother public communications made by us;

3. compliance with applicable governmental law$gs and regulations;

4. the prompt internal reporting of violations of thede of business conduct and ethics to an appte
person or persons identified in the code of busitesduct and ethics; and

5. accountability for adherence to the code ofrtass conduct and ethics.



Our code of business conduct and ethics requimasng other things, that all of our company's senifficers
commit to timely, accurate and consistent disclesolr information; that they maintain confidentiafdrmation;
and that they act with honesty and integrity.

In addition, our code of business conduct and steiophasizes that all employees, and particularyjos officers,
have a responsibility for maintaining financialégtity within our company, consistent with generakccepted
accounting principles, and federal and state segesilaws. Any senior officer who becomes awararof incidents
involving financial or accounting manipulation ather irregularities, whether by witnessing the degit or being
told of it, must report it to our company. Any faié to report such inappropriate or irregular canad others is to
be treated as a severe disciplinary matter. Iga&rest our company policy to retaliate against agjvidual who
reports in good faith the violation or potentiablation of our company's code of business condndtethics by
another.

Our code of business conduct and ethics was indladean exhibit to our annual report on Form 10k fwith the
SEC on May 11, 2011. We will provide a copy of tlmle of business conduct and ethics to any persihrout
charge, upon request. Requests can be sent tot Pharmaceuticals Inc., 1275 West 6th Avenue, Vaven
British Columbia V6H 1A6.

Committees of the Board

All proceedings of our board of directors were asetdd by resolutions consented to in writing bytladl directors
and filed with the minutes of the proceedings daf tlirectors. Such resolutions consented to in ngitby the
directors entitled to vote on that resolution abheeting of the directors are, according to the c@te laws of the
state of Nevada and the bylaws of our companyabd and effective as if they had been passedateting of the
directors duly called and held.
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Our company currently does not have nominating, pgmation committees or committees performing simil
functions nor does our company have a written natitig, compensation or audit committee charter. lénard of
directors does not believe that it is necessahate such committees because it believes thautiaiéns of such
committees can be adequately performed by ourtdirec

Our company does not have any defined policy orcedare requirements for shareholders to submit
recommendations or nominations for directors. Tinectbrs believe that, given the early stage ofaewelopment,

a specific nominating policy would be premature afdittle assistance until our business operatidegelop to a
more advanced level. Our company does not currdralye any specific or minimum criteria for the éiec of
nominees to the board of directors and we do net reny specific process or procedure for evaluatingh
nominees. Our directors assess all candidates,hetheatubmitted by management or shareholders, arice ma
recommendations for election or appointment.

A shareholder who wishes to communicate with ousrdoof directors may do so by directing a writteqguest
addressed to our president, at the address apgearithe first page of this annual report.

Audit Committee and Audit Committee Financial Expert

Our board of directors has determined that noneuofthe members of our audit committee qualifieamasaudit
committee financial expert" as defined in Iltem 4)®)(ii) of Regulation S-K. Dr. Wolfgang Renz imtdependent”
as the term is used in Item 7(d)(3)(iv) of Schedulé under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934masnded.

Our company has a formal audit committee which fwasied in May 2010, but currently does not havéarfcial
expert. Our audit committee consists of Dr. Ahmamkdddian and Dr. Patrick Frankham. Financial infation
relating to quarterly reports was disseminatedltbaard members for review. The audited finansialtements for



the years ended January 31, 2016 and 2015 weréptbto each member of the board in which any carscby
the members were directed to management and thi@eud

We believe that the members of our board of audiihrittee and our entire board of directors areectilvely

capable of analyzing and evaluating our finandialesnents and understanding internal controls aodeglures for
financial reporting. We believe that retaining adépendent director who would qualify as an "agditnmittee
financial expert" would be overly costly and burseme and is not warranted in our circumstancesngive early
stages of our development and the fact that we havegenerated any material revenues to date. ditien, we

currently do not have nominating, compensation wafitacommittees or committees performing similandtions

nor do we have a written nominating, compensatioauait committee charter. Our board of directoogsd not
believe that it is necessary to have such comnsitieause it believes the functions of such coraastcan be
adequately performed by our board of directors.

Our company has an audit committee charter whichadpted and approved by our board of directorglayn 25,
2010.

Item 11. Executive Compensation
The particulars of the compensation paid to thiefdhg persons:
(a) our principal executive officer;

(b) each of our two most highly compensated executffieess who were serving as executive officersha
end of the years ended January 31, 2016 and 2ad5; a

(c) up to two additional individuals for whom disclosuwvould have been provided under (b) but for tlu
that the individual was not serving as our exeeutificer at the end of the years ended Januarp@1¢
and 2015, who wavill collectively refer to as the named executiiicers of our company, are set ou
the following summary compensation table, except tto disclosure is provided for any named exee
officer, other than our principal executive offisewhose dtal compensation did not exceed $100,00
the respective fiscal year:

59

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Non-

Equity  Nonqualified

Incentive Deferred All

Plan Compensa-  Other

Stock Option Compensa- tion Compensa-

Name and Salary Bonus Awards Awards tion Earnings tion Total
Principal Position Year ($) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) ($)
Dr. Pravin 2016 Nil Nil  379,72C NIl Nil Nil Nil 379,720
Chaturvedi® 2015 N/A  N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
President, Chie
Executive  Office
and Director
Moira Ong® 2016  Nil Nil  191,35¢ Nil Nil Nil Nil 191,356
Chief Financial 2015 NIl Nil 3,976 Nil Nil Nil Nil 3,976
Officer
Dr. Ahmad 2016 NIl Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Doroudian® 2015 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

Chairman,



Secretary and

Director

Dr. Barbara-Jean 2016 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Ann Bormann 2015 NIl Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
KennedySBJ

Bormann)®®

Former President
Chief Executive
Officer and Directo

(1) Dr. Chaturvedi was appointed as our president, Chiefcitikee Officer and Director on November
2015.

(2) Ms. Ong was appointed as our Chief Financifit€ on December 26, 2010.

3) Dr. Doroudian was appointed as our Presidehnief ExecutiveOfficer and Director on September 17, 2
and as Chief Executive Officer and Secretary ondd&0, 2011. He resigned as President, Chief Eixa
Officer and Secretary on August 30, 2011 and weaappinted as president, Chief Executive Officer
secgetary on July 24, 2014. Dr. Doroudian subsequergbygned as President and Chief Executive O
on February 5, 2015 and was appointed as Chairmahat date. Currently Dr. Ahmad Doroudian act
our company's Chairman, Secretary and Director.

(4) Dr. Bormann was appointed as our President, Chiet&ive Officer and Director on February 5, 2(
Dr. Bormann resigned as President and Chief Exex@ifficer on October 16, 2015 and as Directa
November 16, 201

Other than as set out below, there are no arrangsnoe plans in which we provide pension, retiretraansimilar
benefits for directors or executive officers. Ouedtors and executive officers may receive shantions at the
discretion of our board of directors in the fut¢e do not have any material bonus or profit slgaglans pursuant
to which cash or non-cash compensation is or maydie to our directors or executive officers, exciyat share
options may be granted at the discretion of ourdboédirectors.
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Stock Option Plan

Our company has stock option plan which was adogtedapproved by our shareholders on December(3®,. 2
Stock Options/SAR Grants

During our fiscal year ended January 31, 2016,0{@ID stock options with exercise price of $0.10 amaturity on
December 14, 2020 were granted to two of our dirsctSubsequent to year end, we granted 7,250,008 s
options with exercise price of $0.70 and maturityF@bruary 22, 2021 to officers, directors and atiasts.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End

The particulars of unexercised options, stock tfest not vested and equity incentive plan awardo@ornamed
executive officers are set out in the followingléab

Options Awards Stock Awards
Number of  Number of Equity Option Number Market Equity Equity
Securities ~ Securities Incentive Exercise Option of Value Incentive Incentive
Underlying  Underlying Plan Price Expiration Shares  of Plan Plan

Name Unexercised Unexercised Awards: (%) Date or Shares Awards: Awards:




Options Options Number of Units of  or Number Market

#) #) Securities Stock  Units of or
Exercisable Unexercisable Underlying That of Unearned Payout
Unexercised Have That Shares, Value
Unearned Not Have Units of
Options Vested Not or Other Unearned
(#) (#) Vested Stock Shares,

$) Rights Units
That or Other
Have Not Rights
Vested That
#) Have Not
Vested
(%)
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Option Exercises
During our fiscal year ended January 31, 2016 ethesre no options exercised by our named officers.
Compensation of Directors

Other than set out below, we do not have any ageatsfor compensating our directors for their sssiin their
capacity as directors, although such directorseapected in the future to receive stock optionpumchase shares
of our common stock as awarded by our board ottiirs.

We have determined that Dr. Wolfgang Renz is aepeddent director, as that term is used in Iteny(3)(v)(B)
of Schedule 14A under tiecurities Exchange Act of 19%% amended, and as defined by Rule 4200(a)(1theof
NASDAQ Marketplace Rules.

Effective November 19, 2015, we entered into dioeservices agreements with our directors, Dr. \gaoiy Renz
and Dr. Patrick Frankham. Pursuant to the agreesreatth director shall provide director servicesubcompany
for a period of 24 months in consideration for D000 options to purchase our common stock toraeted as
follows: 2,000,000 options on each of December208,5, December 15, 2016, December 15, 2017, Deaebihe
2018 and December 15, 2019. Each agreement masrinenated by our company without notice for causeyy
any party with 30 days prior notice.
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Pension, Retirement or Similar Benefit Plans

There are no arrangements or plans in which weigeopension, retirement or similar benefits forediors or
executive officers. We have no material bonus afiprsharing plans pursuant to which cash or noshca
compensation is or may be paid to our directorexacutive officers, except that stock options mayghanted at
the discretion of the board of directors or a cotterithereof.

Indebtedness of Directors, Senior Officers, Execute Officers and Other Management
None of our directors or executive officers or asgociate or affiliate of our company during th&t lavo fiscal
years, is or has been indebted to our company by of@uarantee, support agreement, letter of credibther

similar agreement or understanding currently ontitay.

Iltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters



The following table sets forth, as of April 29, &) Xertain information with respect to the benaficgwnership of
our common shares by each shareholder known by be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of oumamn
shares, as well as by each of our current direetodsexecutive officers as a group. Each persosdiasvoting and
investment power with respect to the shares of comstock, except as otherwise indicated. Benefmaiership
consists of a direct interest in the shares of comstock, except as otherwise indicated.

Amount and Nature Percentage
of of Class®

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Beneficial Ownership
Dr. Ahmad Doroudian @
4172 Doncaster Wi 21,659,509
Vancouver BC V6S 1V9 Common Shares 25.62%
Dr. Pravin Chaturvedf’
27 Jenkins Road 1,208,333
Andover, MA 01810 Common Shares 1.43%
Moira Ong ©
2392 Lawson Avent 2,500,000"
West Vancouver, BC V7V 2E6 Common Shares 2.96%
Dr. Patrick Frankharfy
388 De La Vauvette 2,100,000?
Rosemere, QC, J7A 4J7 Common Shares 2.48%
Dr. Wolfgang Renz'%
Am Hochgericht 3 2,000,000
Rheinfelden, Germany 79618 Common Shares 2.37%
Directors and Officers as a Gro(? 29,467,834

Common Shares 34.85%
ClearTrust LLC, nominee for IndUS Pharmaceuticals 4,750,000
shareholders Common Shares 5.62%
Sierra Capital Limited
2" floor, Marcopole Plaza
Halifax Street 4,000,000
St. Vincent, British West Indies Common Shares 4.73%
Over 5% Shareholders as a Group 8,750,000

Common Shares 10.35%
Q) Under Rule 13d-3, a benafitowner of a security includes any person wheeatly or indirectly, throug

any contract, arrangement, understanding, reldtipnsr otherwise has or shares: (i) voting powsrich
includes the power to vote, or to direct the votirigshares; andi) investment power, which includes
power to dispose or direct the disposition of sha@ertain shares may be deemed to be benefiowaihec
by more than one person (if, for example, persdmsesthe power to vote or the power to disposéne
shares). In addition, shares are deemed to be lo@ibfiowned by a person if the person has thetrig
acquire the shares (for example, upon exercisenafpgion) within 60 days of the date as of which
information is provided. In computing the pentage ownership of any person, the amount ofes
outstanding is deemed to include the amount ofeshbeneficially owned by such person (and only
person) by reason of these acquisition rights. Aesalt, the percentage of outstanding sharesmpfperso
as shown in this table does not necessarily refleetperson’'s actual ownership or voting power
respect to the number of shares of common stoalaligtoutstanding on April 29, 2016. As of April ;
2016, there were 74,922,114 shares of our compaagisnon stock issued and outstanding.

(2) Dr. Ahmad Doroudian was appointed as our Presidetmief Executive Officer and Director on Septen
17, 2007 and as Chief Executive Officer and Seryeia March 30, 2011. He resigned as Riest, Chie
Executive Officer and Secretary on August 30, 2ahil was rexppointed as President, Chief Exect
Officer and Secretary on July 24, 2014. Dr. Dorandsubsequently resigned as President and
Executive Officer on February 5, 2015 amds appointed as Chairman on that date. CurremntlyABmac



Doroudian acts as our company's Chairman, Secratahpirector.
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3) Includes 20,259,501 shares owned by Dr. Doroud?®9,000 shares owned by Khadija Zerouali,
spouse oDr. Ahmad Doroudian, 200,000 shares owned by KiRkarma International Company Ltd
company over which Dr. Ahmad Doroudian and Ms. Batbhave shared voting and investment powe|
1,000,000 options to purchase shares at $0.70geriad of five years from February 23, 2016.

4) Dr. Chaturvedi was appointed as our President, f(Executive Officer and Director on November
2015.

(5) Includes 208,333 shares owned by Dr. Chaturaed 1,000,000 options to purchase shares at $6r70
period of five years from February 23, 2016.

(6) Ms. Ong was appointed as our Chief Financi@ic€ on December 26, 2010.

@) Includes 2,000,000 shares owned by Ms. Ong andB0@ptions to purchase shares at $0.70 for ag
of five years from February 23, 2016.

(8) Dr. Patrick Frankham was appointed as Direofaur company on July 24, 2014.

(9) Includes 100,000 shares owned by Inflexion Poindltheare, a company over which Dr. Frankham
shared voting and investntepower with his spouse and 2,000,000 options tohmase shares at $0.10 f
period of five years from December 15, 2015.

(10) Dr. Renz was appointed as a Director of amgany on February 5, 2015.

(12) Includes 2,000,000 options to purchase statr$6.10 for a period of five years from Decembgr2015.

Changes in Control

We are unaware of any contract or other arrangeorgmtovisions of our Articles or Bylaws the opépatof which

may at a subsequent date result in a change ofotafitour company. There are not any provisionsun Articles

or Bylaws, the operation of which would delay, dete prevent a change in control of our company.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaans, and Director Independence

Except as disclosed herein, no director, executffieer, shareholder holding at least 5% of sharfesur common

stock, or any family member thereof, had any malenterest, direct or indirect, in any transaction proposed

transaction since the year ended January 31, 2006hich the amount involved in the transactionesded or

exceeds the lesser of $120,000 or one percenteofvhrage of our total assets at the year-enchtast three

completed fiscal years.

Director Independence

We currently act with four directors, consisting Bf. Ahmad Doroudian, Dr. Pravin Chaturvedi, Dr.triR&
Frankham and Dr. Wolfgang Renz. Dr. Patrick Framklaad Dr. Wolfgang Renz are independent directors.

Our audit committee consists of Dr. Ahmad Doroudiad Dr. Patrick Frankham.

We do not have a standing compensation or nommatiimmittee, but our entire board of directors actsuch
capacities.
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Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The aggregate fees billed for the most recentlypletad fiscal year ended January 31, 2016 anchifiscal year
ended January 31, 2016 for professional servicedered by the principal accountant for the audibwf annual
financial statements and review of the financialtesnents included in our quarterly reports on FAG¥Q and
services that are normally provided by the accminta connection with statutory and regulatorynijs or
engagements for these fiscal periods were as fellow

Year Ended
January January
31,2016 31, 2015

$ $
Audit Fees 17,50( 16,50(
Audit Related Fees Nil Nil
Tax Fees Nil Nil
All Other Fees Nil Nil
Total 17,50( 16,50(

Our board of directors pre-approves all servicewigied by our independent auditors. All of the abservices and
fees were reviewed and approved by the board efctlirs either before or after the respective sesviwere
rendered.

Our board of directors has considered the natuleaamount of fees billed by our independent auditéms believes

that the provision of services for activities uatell to the audit is compatible with maintaining ;udependent
auditors' independence.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(@) Financial Statements
(1) Financial statements for our company are listethénindex under Item 8 of this document

(2) All financial statement schedules are omitted bseahey are not applicable, not material or theiireq
information is shown in the financial statementsiotes thereto.

(b) Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Description

3) Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws

31 Articles of Incorporation 649186 B.C. Ltd. (incompted by reference fromur Registration Stateme

on Form S-1 filed on August 7, 2009)

3.2 "Company Act" Memorandum of 649186 B.C. Ltd. Céctate of Amendment (incorporated



reference from our Registration Statement on Forbfifd on August 7, 2009)

Certificate of Filing of 649186 B.C. Ltd. (incormed by reference from our Registration Statema

£ Form S-1 filed on August 7, 2009)
34 Certificate of Incorporation of 649186 B.C. Ltdngorporated by reference from our Registre
' Statement on Form S-1 filed on August 7, 2009)
3.5 Certificate of Name Change of 649186 B.C. Ltd. terés Health Corp. (incorporated by refer¢
from our Registration Statement on Form S-1 fileddmgust 7, 2009)
36 Transition Application © Xerxes Health Corp. (incorporated by referencemfrour Registratic
' Statement on Form S-1 filed on August 7, 2009)
3.7 Certificate of Name Change of Xerxes Health CapNéurokine Pharmaceuticals Inc. (incorporate
reference from our Registration Statement on Forbfied on August 7, 2009)
3.8 Notice of Alteration to Authorized Share Structymecorporated by reference from our Registre
Statement on Form S-1 filed on August 7, 2009)
39 Notice of Alteration to Autorized Share Structure (incorporated by referenceut Current Report
' Form 8-K filed on June 4, 2014)
3.10 Notice of Alteration removing P-Existing Company Provisions (incorporated by refeseto ou
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 9, 2014
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Exhibit
Number Description
3.11 Articles (incorporated by reference to our Curri@aport on Form 8-K filed on October 9, 2014)
3.12 Notice of Alteration changing name to Pivot Pharenditals Inc. (incorpated by reference to ¢
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 17, 2015)
3.13 Certificate of Name Change of Neurokine Pharmacalgtilnc. to Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc.
(20) Material Contracts
10.1 Non-Exclusive License Agreememith Globe Laboratories Inc. dated June 17, 2(008orporated b
reference to our Registration Statement on FormASiled on December 3, 2009)
10.2 Clinical Trial Services Agreement with Virtus Cliail Development (Pty) Limited dated Marth200¢
(incorporated by reference to our Registratione®taint on Form S-1/A filed on March 4, 2010)
10.3 Master Service Agreement with Northern Lipids Idated October 2, 2007 (incorporated by refer
to our Registration Statement on Form S-1/A fileddecember 3, 2009)
10.4 Assignment of Invention (NKO1) dated January 30, 2008 (incorporated by mefereto ou
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed on Delsen8, 2009)
10.5 Assignment of Invention (NK-002) dated Alpt8, 2008 (incorporated by reference to our Regi®or

Statement on Form S-1/A filed on December 3, 2009)



10.6 Subscription Agreement with Ahmad Doroudian (inaogied by reference to our Formk8filed on
August 12, 2010)

10.7 Debt Settlement Subscription Agreement dated Septemb@&r 2013 with Ahmad Doroudii
(incorporated by reference to our Quarterly ReparEorm 10-Q filed on December 16, 2013)

10.8 Director Services Agreement dated February 25, 2@lith Barbara-Jean Bormarkenned
(incorporated by reference to our Current Reporfform 8-K filed on March 26, 2015)

10.9 Director Services Agreement dated February 25, 20tb Dr. Patrick Frankham (incorporated
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed\tarch 26, 2015)

10.10 Director Services Agreement dated February 26, 2@ith Dr. Wolfgang Renz (incorporated
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed\tarch 26, 2015)

10.11 Consulting Services Agreement dated Februzisy 2015 with Dr. Giora Davidai (incorporated
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed\tarch 26, 2015)

10.12 Director Services Agreement dated November 19, 20ith Dr. Patrick Frankham (incorporated
reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10 Qifd@ December 15, 2015)

10.13 Director Services Agreement dated November 19, 28@b Dr. Wolfgang Renz (incorporated
reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10 Qifd@ December 15, 2015)

10.14 Consulting Serices Agreement dated November 19, 2015 with Dr.r&iDavidai (incorporated |
reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10 Qifd@ December 15, 2015)

10.15 Plan of Merger and Acquisition Agreement between campany and IndUS Pharmaceuticais;.,
dated November 4, 2015 (incorporated by referemceur Current Report on ForénK filed or
Novembe 23, 2015 and our Current Report on Form 8 K/Adfiten February 3, 2016)

10.16 Employment Agreement dated November 20, 2015 with Pravin Chaturvedi (incorporated
reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10 Qifd@ December 15, 2015)

10.17*  Employment Agreement dated February 1, 2016 withAbmad Doroudian

10.18*  Employment Agreement dated February 1, 2016 witlr&iong

10.19*  Consulting Services Agreement dated February 16 20th Soho Capital Inc.

(31) Rule 13a-14(d)/15d-14(d) Certifications

31.1* Section 302 Certification under the Sarbanes-OAletyof 2002 of Principal Executive Officer
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Exhibit

Number Description

31.2* Section 302 Certification under the Sarbanes-Oletyof 2002 of Principal Financial Officer

(32)

Section 1350 Certifications



32.1* Section 906 Certification under the Sarbanes-Oaletyof 2002 of Principal Executive Officer
32.2* Section 906 Certification under the Sarbanes-OAletyof 2002 of Principal Financial Officer
99 Additional Exhibits

99.1 Audit Committee Charter

99.2 Stock Option Plan

101* Interactive Data Files

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuine

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docunhen

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenim

* Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the ExgjgaAct, the registrant caused this report to baesl on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrize

PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
(Registrant)

Dated: June 7, 2016 By Pravin Chaturvet
Dr. Pravin Chaturvedi
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: June 7, 2016 Bg! Moira On¢
Moira Ong
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal  Financial  Officer ar
Principal
Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bdigvthe
following persons on behalf of the registrant amthie capacities and on the dates indicated.

Dated: June 7, 2016 Byg/ Pravin Chaturvel
Dr. Pravin Chaturvedi
Chief Executive Officer and Director




(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: June 7, 2016 Bg!/ Ahmad Doroudie
Dr. Ahmad Doroudian
Chairman, Secretary and Director

Dated: June 7, 2016 Byg! Patrick Frankhar
Dr. Patrick Frankham
Director

Dated: June 7, 2016 Bg! Wolfgang Rel

Dr. Wolfgang Renz
Director
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EXHIBIT 10.17
THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT is as of the™day of February, 2016
BETWEEN:
PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC. , a corporation incorporated pursuant to the lafith® Province of
British Columbia and having an address of Suite, 3¥5 West 8 Avenue, Vancouver, B.C., Canada,

V6C 1V5

(the "Employer")

AND:
Ahmad Doroudian, an individual having an address of 4172 Doncadlay, Vancouver, B.C., Canada
V6S 1V9
(the "Employeé")

WHEREAS:

A. The Employer is a specialty pharmaceutical campangaged in the acquisition and licensing of theahd
pharmaceutical products (thBusines$);

B. The Employee has represented that the Emplogseskills and expertise that are required by th@lByer for
its operations;

C. The Employer wishes to obtain and the Employeshes to provide services to the Employer on thegeand
conditions contained herein.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cards herein contained and other good and valuable
consideration, the parties confirm and agree thatBmployee's employment with the Employer is stthije the
terms and conditions of this Agreement and ar®k®is:



ARTICLE 1 — EMPLOYMENT

1.1 Effective the date of this Agreement (tistdrt Date"), the Employee will serve as tihief Business Officer
("CBO") and have the responsibility as Head of Business @orporate Development, reporting to tGhief
Executive Officer ("CEO") of the Employer as more fully described in Schedulto this Agreement, and will
perform the duties set out in Schedule A. In cagybut these duties and responsibilities, the Eygdoshall
comply with all reasonable instructions as may fitome to time be given by the CEO and/or the BadrDirectors
(the 'Board").

1.2 Start Date is defined as February'12016.
1.3Term is for a period of two (2) years from Start Date.

1.4 The Employee represents that his employmertt thié Employer does not violate any contractualigions
enforceable against the Employee and that the Brapls authority to enter into this Agreement isnestricted by
any agreement between the Employee and any othigr plae Employee agrees to indemnify the Empldyem

damage, loss, liability, cost or expense, includisgsonable legal fees and expenses, caused ie whoi part by
the breach by the Employee of this covenant.

1.5 The Employee recognizes and understands thadriorming the duties and responsibilities of Eraployee's
employment as provided in this Agreement, the Eggdowill occupy a position of high fiduciary truand
confidence pursuant to which the Employee will depeand acquire wide experience and knowledge veiipect
to all aspects of the manner in which the Emplaybkusiness is conducted. Without limiting the galigr of the
foregoing, the Employee shall observe the high@stdards of loyalty, good faith and avoidance offticts of duty
and self-interest. It is the intent and agreemdrthe Employee and of the Employer that such kndgdeand
experience shall be used solely and exclusivetyritherance of the business interests of the Engploy

1.6 During the Employee's employment with the Empiothe Employee will:

(@) well and faithfully serve the Employer and use Bmployee's best efforts to promote the
interests of the Employer;

(b) unless prevented by ill health or injury, d&vthe whole of th&amployee's working time a
attention to the business of the Employer;

(c) with the exception of the Employee's existing iweshent with Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc.,
Employee will not, without the prior written consexf the Employer, engage any other busines
profession or occupation, or become an officer, leyge, contractor for service, agent
representative of any other company, partnersivig, foerson, organization or enterprise wl
that engagement or position conflicts with,could reasonably conflict with at some future dat
interferes with, or could reasonably interfere wéthsome future date, the performance o
Employee's duties and obligations to the Emploged

(d) comply with the Employer's policies and prdaess, as may be amended from time to time.

ARTICLE 2 — SERVICE

2.1 During the term of the employment, the Emplosieall devote himself to the Business of the Emptoy

2.2 The Employee is employed as an Exempt emplagdewill be available to serve at least 30 hourswyezk by
the Employer. It is understood by the parties thathours of work involved will vary and may beesgular and may



exceed the minimum hours stipulated in the contrdbe Employee agrees to work such hours as negessa
fulfill his obligations pursuant to this Agreementithin reason.

ARTICLE 3 — CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

3.1 The Employee acknowledges that in the perfooman his obligations hereunder, he will acquirdimation
about certain matters which are confidential toEneployer and which information is the exclusivepmerty of the
Employer, including but without limiting:

€) supplier lists;

(b) pricing policies;

(c) records and statistics;

(d) any secret or trade secret or knmow of the Employer or any information relatingthe Employe

or to any person, firm or other entity with whidiretEmployer does business which is not kn
outside of the Employer;

(e) sales and promotional policies;

® any information, process or idea not gengriatiown outside of the Employer;

(9) financial information about the Employer;

(h) confidential personal remuneration and bésafind policies;

® programs, systems, packages, otvgaife products or documentation thereof and othiedléctua

property rights of the Employer; and
)] information about the Employer's customersl@nts, its members or business partners;

(all of the foregoing herein referred to aschfidential Information " including such information as a
director, officer or senior employee of the Employeay from time to time indicate to the Employee as
being included in the expression "Confidential nfiation").

3.2 The Employee acknowledges that such Confiddnfiarmation could be used to the detriment of Ereployer.
Accordingly, the Employee undertakes to treat mtths Confidential Information confidentially and ags not to
disclose such information to any person, firm, agg@mn or corporation, assist any third party tosi or use such
information for any purpose other than for the ligioé the Employer.

3.3 The Employee acknowledges that the Employapplirs, customers and clients may require thel&yep, on
its own behalf or on the behalf of its employeesagree to various non-disclosure and confidetfi@ibvenants
regarding information supplied to the Employer hgtsthird parties. The Employee agrees to compti @i such
terms and conditions of such covenants and furtiggees to indemnify the Employer from any damagss,|
liability, costs or expenses (including reasondétml fees and expenses), caused in whole or inbyahe breach
by the Employee of this covenant.




3.4 Any discoveries, ideas and suggestions, impnevis or inventions of any character pertainintheoindustry,
or coming within the scope of the Business of tmepByer, made or developed by the Employee whil¢hin
employ of the Employer, whether or not conceivednade during his regular working hours, or whethrenot the
Employee is specifically instructed to make or depahe same, shall be for the benefit of the Eippland shall
be considered to have been made under and by wftilés contract and shall immediately becomeptaperty of
the Employer.

3.5 The Employee will treat as confidential any wiexlge of the Employer's formulae, specificatiomssecret
processes or other Confidential Information he megquire in the course of his employment and he watl while

in the employ of the Employer or at any time after termination of his employment, divulge any mnfiation with

respect to any formulae, specifications, methodgrocesses or other Confidential Information of Ereployer or
with respect to any other matter of a secret natdmieh may have come into his possession whildénemploy of
the Employer, or publish or cause to be publisloedytherwise utilize, any subject-matter, exceptyvéver, as he
may be authorized so to do in writing by the Boafr®irectors of the Employer.

ARTICLE 4 —- REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS

4.1 In consideration of the Employee's performaotehe obligations contained herein the Employeallshn
accordance with its normal practices, pay to th@lEyee the remuneration and provide such beneditetforth in
Schedule B to this Agreement.

4.2 In addition to the remuneration set forth im&tule B, the Employee shall be entitled to paicatian of four
weeks per annum. Vacation shall be taken at suoh ¢ir times as is mutually determined. Vacatioretimearned
in proportion to the amount of the year worked.

4.3 The parties acknowledge and agree that any misitmwhich the Employee is entitled to hereursthel be less
such deductions or amounts to be withheld as redudy applicable law and regulations.

ARTICLE 5 — EMPLOYER'S PROPERTY

5.1 The Employee understands and agrees that eafisitincluding, without limitation, programs, softea
documentation, equipment, vehicles, books, manuvatsrds, files, customer lists, materials, repand items of
any and every kind or nature furnished, or whiclth@ absolute discretion of the Employer may frametto time
be furnished to the Employee by the Employer oate@ by the Employee pursuant to this Agreemerit sdraain

and be considered the exclusive property of thel&yep at all times, and shall be returned, togettign all copies
and/or other reproductions thereof, to the Emplayayood condition promptly upon the request of Emeployer at
any time during the term of this Agreement, andhfeith upon the termination, for any reason, oftAgreement.
Upon termination of employment, the Employee wikaowledge and confirm, in writing, compliance withis

provision.

5.2 The Employee acknowledges that each and etesryaf work product which relates in any way to thesiness
of the Employer created by the Employee duringpéeod of his employment with the Employer, whetberated
by the Employee during office hours or non-officeutrs and whether or not created using the Empkyer
equipment, supplies or software, is and shall ranaaid be considered the exclusive property of thplByer.
Work product shall include but not be limited tademarks, service marks, logos, trade names, gipgd or
copyrightable material, patents or patentable ratand designs of a commercial nature withouttétin. If any
writings or works of design or authorship are ngtdperation of law works made for hire, the Empleyereby
assigns to the Employer the ownership of all rigtitsopyright and all other proprietary rights inch items and the
Employer shall have the right to obtain and holditsh own name rights of copyright, copyright regisibns,
trademark and trade name registrations and siitatection which may be available in the works.

ARTICLE 6



ARTICLE 6 — RESTRICTED ACTIVITIES

6.1 Any specific Employer transactions includingguct or company acquisitions, and licensing areaments
which the Employer is actively pursuing while theyioyee is in the Employment of the Employer shealldeemed
Confidential Information and the Employee will lestricted from pursuing such transactions for aopeof three
years after the end of the Employee's employment.

ARTICLE 7 — TERMINATION

7.1 Subject to Article 7.2 below, the Employer niegminate the Employee's employment at any timaaut cause
by providing the Employee a period of notice ofaration of employment of six (6) months or suchice and
payment as may be required by #mployment Standards Adtany, whichever is greater. For greater cerairit
the Employee is terminated without cause, the Eygalawill receive a cash severance payment of §imgiths of
annual salary.

7.2 If the Employer terminates the Employees' egmplent without cause after a Triggering Event (aBndd
below), then, at the option of the Employee, exsatoie at any time within three (3) months after dage of the
Triggering Event, the Employee may:

(a) elect to continue to be employed by the Employexdcordance with the terms of this agreeme
any agreed to replacement contract, or

(b) give thirty (30) days notice in writing to the Eropkr that this agreement or any agree
agreement has been terminated, in which event thpldyer will pay to the Employee, a ci
severance payment equal to 24 months of annualsala

(c) For the purpose of this Article 7.2, "Trigopey Event” is defined as:

(i) a take-over bid @defined in the Securities Act (British Columbia)jich is successful in acquiri
Common shares of the Company;

(i) a change of control of the Board, which includas,ib not limited to:

A. the election by the shareholdefsthe Company at any annual or special generatintggeof les:
than a majority of the persons nominated for edechliy management of the Company;

B. the election by the shareholders of the Comparangtannual or special general meeting of
than a majority of the persons nominated for edechy the Company's theneumbent board
directors; or

C. the purchase or acquisition of shares of the Compamd/or securities (the "Converti
Securities") convertible into shares of the Camp or carrying rights to acquire shares ol
Company, as a result of which a person, group ofqms or persons acting jointly or in con
(collectively the "Holder") beneficially own or epase control or direction over shares of
Company and/orConvertible Securities such that, assuming only tomversion of th
Convertible Securities beneficially owned by theldéos, entitle them to cast more than |
percent (50%) of the votes attaching to all of shares of the Company which may be ¢ast
elect directors;

(i) the sale of all or substantially all the assetthhefCompany;



(iv) the sale, exchange or other disposition of a mgjaf the outstanding shares of the Company
single or series of related transactions;

(v) the termination of the Company's business or thédiation of its assets; or

(vi) the merger or amalgamation or other corporateuetstring of the Company in a transaction or si
of transactions in which the Company's shareholdessiwe less than 51 percent of the outstan
shares of the new or continuing corporation.

7.3 It is acknowledged and agreed that the Emplmay, at its sole option, elect to pay the Empltg/ealary over
the course of the notice period in lieu of any e®trequired by this Agreement. The Employer repssand
guarantees that the amounts payable pursuant iclesrf7.1, 7.2 or 7.3 herein shall not be less tiah required
pursuant to the notice and severance pay provisibtiee Employment Standards Adt any, provided that all such
payments pursuant to tliEemployment Standards Asttall be deemed to be payments on account of asowing
pursuant to Articles 7.1, 7.2 or 7.3 herein.

7.4 The Employee may terminate the Employee's ot with the Employer at any time, upon giving l&ss
than thirty (30) days notice in writing to the Empér on the express condition that the Employer maive any
additional notice in excess of that required byEngployment Standards Act.

7.5 In the event of the death of the Employee leetbe expiration of the notice periods referredhtdrticles 7.1,
7.2 and 7.3, the Employer shall have no furtheigaltibn to make any payments whatsoever except as be
required by th&amployment Standards Act.

7.6 Upon termination of the employment, the Emptogball cooperate fully with the Employee shoule th
Employee wish to convert to individual coverage &feyinsurance policies which the Employer mained on the
life of the Employee. At the request of the Empkybe Employer shall provide any and all informatia its
possession with respect to any such plan that resigtathe Employee in converting any such policyntbvidual
coverage. The Employer shall maintain the Emploa®@ member of any health and/or dental group wlinh
existed on the date of such termination for theiddoPeriod, provided the plan permits such contionaand
provided the Employee pays his individual premidros the date of termination.

7.7 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary coméai herein, the employment of the Employee matheabption
of the Employer, be terminated by the Employerhaiitt notice or payment in lieu thereof, for causer the
purpose of this Agreement "cause" shall includdeuit limitation:

(1) any breach of the provisions in Articles 3r&l 8 of this Agreement by the Employee,

(2) repeated violation of instructions or pubde rules of the Employer,
) any other conduct of the Employee thatasognized as just cause under the law of B
Columbia.

7.8 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary coméai herein, the employment of the Employee matheabption
of the Employee, be terminated by the Employeehauit further notice, if the Employer shall breacty @f the
provisions in Article 4 of this agreement and shale failed to cure such breach within five dafysraeceipt by
the Employer of a notice from the Employee askirggEmployer to cure such breach.

7.9 The parties understand and agree that thegyofimotice or the payment of severance pay byEtimployer to
the Employee upon termination shall not prevent&ployer from alleging cause.

HUMAN RIGHTS CODE



7.10 The Employer agrees that it will respect thgployee's right to equal treatment with respedhi® Agreement
without discrimination because of race, ancestlgce of origin, color, ethnic origin, citizenshigreed, sex, age,
sexual orientation, record of offenses, maritatustafamily status or handicap in accordance with British
ColumbiaHuman Rights Code

7.11 The Employee agrees to respect the rightdl offeer employees and agrees to equal treatmehtrespect to
employment without discrimination because of ramecestry, place of origin, color, ethnic origintiz@nship,
creed, sex, age, sexual orientation, record ofne#e, marital status, family status or handicapcitordance with
the British ColumbidHuman Rights Code

ARTICLE 8 — SURVIVAL OF PROVISIONS

8.1 Notwithstanding any termination of this Agreemend irrespective of the reasons for such teation, the
provisions of Article 3, Article 5, Article 6 and $hall survive such termination and remain in falice and effect
thereafter in accordance with their respective serm

ARTICLE 9 — SEVERABILITY

9.1 In the event that any provision or part of hggeement is found to be void or invalid by a dotlre remaining
provisions, or parts thereof, shall be and remaifuli force and effect.

ARTICLE 10 — NOTICES

10.1 Any notice given or required to be given unithés Agreement will be in writing and signed byar behalf of
the party giving it. Such notice may be served @eally and in either case may be sent by prioribgtgo the
addresses of the parties noted on page one oAgneement, or by fax, email or other electroniasmission. Any
notice served personally will be deemed served idiately, and if mailed by priority post will be deed served
seventy two (72) hours after the time of posting] # by electronic transmission, upon successarngmission.

ARTICLE 11 — GOVERNING LAW

11.1 This Agreement will be governed by and comsirin accordance with the laws of the Province ofidh
Columbia. Each of the parties hereby irrevocabtgras to the jurisdiction of the Courts of VancoyvBritish
Columbia, with respect to any disputes arisingafuhis Agreement.

ARTICLE 12 — CANADIAN FUNDS

12.1 Unless otherwise provided herein, dollar an®ueferred to in this Agreement shall be in Caaadunds.

ARTICLE 13 — ENTIRE AGREEMENT

13.1 This agreement constitutes the entire agreebetween the parties with respect to the employroérthe
Employee and any and all previous agreements,enritt oral, express or implied between the padiesn their
behalf relating to the employment of the Employee laereby terminated and cancelled and each opdnies
releases and forever discharges the other of an &lbactions, causes of action, claims and demardgsoever
under or in respect of any such agreement. Any ficatibn to this Agreement, except as providedHerein, must
be in writing and signed by the parties or is shalloid and of no effect.

ARTICLE 14 — WAIVER




14.1 Failure by the Employer or the Employee tg @i any provision in this Agreement in any givestance or
instances shall not constitute a precedent or bemdd a waiver.

ARTICLE 15 — HEADINGS

15.1 The headings utilized in the Agreement arectmvenience only and are not to be construed ynveay as
additions or limitations of the covenants and agrets contained herein.

ARTICLE 16 - ENUREMENT

16.1 This Agreement will enure to the benefit ofld® binding upon the parties hereto and theireesge heirs,
executors, administrators, successors, personasemtatives and permitted assigns.

ARTICLE 17 — SET OFF

17.1 Upon termination of this Agreement for anysag the Employee authorizes the Company to dddhretany
payments due to the Employee, any amounts the Bmplmay owe to the Company including without lirdta,
advances, loans, purchases made by the Companghatf lof the Employee, expense over-payments omatso
paid to the Employee on the condition that all art@f such amounts have to be repaid to the Coynjpaiine event
of early termination. This provision will be apgaliso as not to conflict with any applicable ledisla including the
Employment Standards Act

ARTICLE 18 — ASSIGNABILITY

18.1 This Agreement is personal to the Employeeraag not be assigned by him.
18.2 Upon notice to the Employee this Agreement begssigned to an affiliate of the Employer.

18.3 For the purposes of this Article 18, "affdiathas the meaning given thereto in Biesiness Corporations Act
(British Columbia).

18.4 Except as aforesaid, this Agreement shalleetmithe benefit of and be binding upon the patiie®to and
their respective successors and assigns, includimgthe case of the Employee, his heirs, executmd
administrators.

ARTICLE 19 — INDEPENDENT LEGAL ADVICE

19.1 The Employee acknowledges that (a) he hasaeddinderstood this Agreement; and (b) has beemdhe
opportunity to obtain independent legal advicednrection with this Agreement.

ARTICLE 20 — SCHEDULES

20.1 Schedule A and Schedule B form part of thise&gient.

Where there is a conflict between the terms andigians set out in the body of this Agreement andhe
Schedules the terms and provisions set out in thediles shall govern.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereunto have exatthis agreement as of théday of February, 2016.



PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC .

Per: /s/ Pravin Chaturve(

Authorized Signatory

SIGNED, SEALED and DELIVERED hy
Ahmad Doroudian in the presence of:

/sl Lujza Zawadz

Signature

Lujza Zawadzki

/s/ Ahmad Doroudiz
) AHMAD DOROUDIAN

— N N N

Print Name

Address

Accountant

Occupation

N e e e e N N N N N N
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SCHEDULE A

JOB DESCRIPTION

Position: Chief Business Officer & Head of Business andpdoate Development

The scope of the Employee's employment shall irgglbdt not be limited to the following:

. Establish relationships with strategic partners;
. Identifying and securing financing; and
. Identifying and securing acquisition opportunities.
11
SCHEDULE B

EMPLOYEE'S REMUNERATION

@ The Employee shall be entitl¢éo receive for each year of employment a salgoakto such amount as
agreed to by the Compensation Committee (and irvkat there is no standing Compensation Comrr



then as agreed to by the Board of Directors) ofEhgloyer and the Emploge from time to time. It
agreed that the Employee will be paid at the rétevo hundred thousand ($200,000) Dollars per ar
(the "Base Salary"), which shall accrue until stiote as successful financing is obtained.

(b) The Employee shall bentitled to such options to acquire additional skane the Employer as t
Compensation Committee (and in the event ther@istanding Compensation Committee, then as a
to by the Board of Directors) of the Employer slagtermine from time to time.

(c) The Employee will be entitled to receive health almhtal benefits according to the Employer's b¢
plan. In addition, the Employer will provide the Rlmyee with adequate long term disability and
insurance coverage. Employee benefits grovided in accordance with formal plan docureemtpolicie
and any issues with respect to entitlement or payroé benefits will be governed by the terms ofh
documents or policies. The Employer reserves thiatenal right to revise the termg the benefits or 1
eliminate any benefits altogether. The Employeeegthat any changes to the benefits will not aife
change any other part of this Agreement.

12

EXHIBIT 10.18
THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT is as of the™day of February, 2016
BETWEEN:
PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC. , a corporation incorporated pursuant to the lafith® Province of
British Columbia and having an address of Suite, 3®¥5 West 8 Avenue, Vancouver, B.C., Canada,

V6C 1V5

(the "Employer")

AND:
g/lo(isra Ong, an individual having an address of 2392 Lawsoerrue, West Vancouver, B.C., Canada V7V
E
(the "Employeé")
WHEREAS:
A. The Employer is a specialty pharmaceutical compargaged in the acquisition and licensing of heatit
pharmaceutical products (thBUsiness);
B. The Employee has represented that the Employeskillssand expertise that are required by the Epg
for its operations;
C. The Employer wishes to obtain and the Emplayishes to provide services to the Emy@pbon the tern

and conditions contained herein.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cams herein contained and other good and valuable
consideration, the parties confirm and agree thatEmployee's employment with the Employer is stibije the
terms and conditions of this Agreement and ar@b®is:



ARTICLE 1 — EMPLOYMENT

1.1 Effective the date of this Agreement (tt&tdrt Date"), the Employee will report to thEresident & Chief
Executive Officer (CEO) of the Company and serve as the Chief Financifit€fof the Employer (theCFQO") as
more fully described in Schedule A to this Agreetmand will perform the duties set out in Schedilén carrying
out these duties and responsibilities, the Emplayed comply with all reasonable instructions asy/rfrom time to
time be given by th€EO and/or the Company's Board of Directors (tBedrd").

1.2 Start Date is defined as February 1st, 2016.

1.3Term is for a period of two (2) years from Start Date.

1.4 The Employee represents that her employmeifit thi# Employer does not violate any contractualisions
enforceable against the Employee and that the Brapls authority to enter into this Agreement isnestricted by
any agreement between the Employee and any othigr flae Employee agrees to indemnify the Empldyem

damage, loss, liability, cost or expense, includisgsonable legal fees and expenses, caused ie whoi part by
the breach by the Employee of this covenant.

1.5 The Employee recognizes and understands thadriorming the duties and responsibilities of Eraployee's
employment as provided in this Agreement, the Eggdowill occupy a position of high fiduciary truand
confidence pursuant to which the Employee will depeand acquire wide experience and knowledge veifipect
to all aspects of the manner in which the Emplaybkusiness is conducted. Without limiting the galigr of the
foregoing, the Employee shall observe the high@stdards of loyalty, good faith and avoidance offticts of duty
and self-interest. It is the intent and agreemdrnthe Employee and of the Employer that such kndggeand
experience shall be used solely and exclusivetyritherance of the business interests of the Engploy

1.6 During the Employee's employment with the Empiothe Employee will:

(a) well and faithfully serve the Employer and use Braployee's best efforts to promote the
interests of the Employer;

(b) unless prevented by ill health or injurgvdte the whole of the Employee's working time
attention to the business of the Employer;

(c) with the exception of the Employee's existing imashent with Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. and
Business Services Inc., the Employee will not, withthe prior written consent of the Employ
engage in any other business, profession or ocicupair become an officer, employee, contre
for service, agent or representative of any otbengany, partnership, firm, person, organizatic
enterprisewhere that engagement or position conflicts withcould reasonably conflict with
some future date, or interferes with, or could osably interfere with at some future date,
performance of the Employee's duties and obligatiorthe Employer; and

(d) comply with the Employer's policies and prdaees, as may be amended from time to time.

ARTICLE 2— SERVICE

2.1 During the term of the employment, the Emplosfeall devote herself to the Business of the Emgiloy

2.2 The Employee is employed as an Exempt emplbyethe Employer and will work for at least 30 hoper
week. It is understood by the parties that the ©ifiwork involved will vary and may be irregulardaexceed the
minimum number of hours outlined in Section 2.2e Hmployee agrees to work such hours as necesséuifill
her obligations pursuant to this Agreement, witt@ason.



ARTICLE 3 — CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

3.1 The Employee acknowledges that in the perfoomari her obligations hereunder, he will acquir@imation
about certain matters which are confidential toEneployer and which information is the exclusivepmerty of the
Employer, including but without limiting:

€) supplier lists;

(b) pricing policies;

(c) records and statistics;

(d) any secret or trade secret or knmow of the Employer or any information relatingthe Employe

or to any person, firm or other entity with whidietEmployer does business which is not kn
outside of the Employer;

(e) sales and promotional policies;

® any information, process or idea not gengriatiown outside of the Employer;

(9) financial information about the Employer;

(h) confidential personal remuneration and bésafind policies;

() programs, systems, packages, or software produaeaumentation thereof and other intellec

property rights of the Employer; and
)] information about the Employer's customersl@nts, its members or business partners;

(all of the foregoing herein referred to aSdhfidential Information " including such information as a
director, officer or senior employee of the Employeay from time to time indicate to the Employee as
being included in the expression "Confidential nfiation").

3.2 The Employee acknowledges that such Confiddnfiarmation could be used to the detriment of Eraployer.
Accordingly, the Employee undertakes to treat atihs Confidential Information confidentially and ags not to
disclose such information to any person, firm, agg@n or corporation, assist any third party tosb or use such
information for any purpose other than for the ligioé the Employer.

3.3 The Employee acknowledges that the Employeppleers, customers and clients may require thel&yep, on
its own behalf or on the behalf of its employeesagiree to various non-disclosure and confidettigibvenants
regarding information supplied to the Employer hgtsthird parties. The Employee agrees to comptiz @i such
terms and conditions of such covenants and furtiggees to indemnify the Employer from any damagss,|
liability, costs or expenses (including reasondétml fees and expenses), caused in whole or inbyahe breach
by the Employee of this covenant.

3.4 Any discoveries, ideas and suggestions, impneves or inventions of any character pertainintheindustry,
or coming within the scope of the Business of tmepByer, made or developed by the Employee whil¢hin



employ of the Employer, whether or not conceivednade during her regular working hours, or whetiremot the
Employee is specifically instructed to make or depehe same, shall be for the benefit of the Eipgland shall
be considered to have been made under and by wftilnés contract and shall immediately becomeptaperty of
the Employer.

3.5 The Employee will treat as confidential any Wiexige of the Employer's formulae, specificatiomssecret
processes or other Confidential Information he meguire in the course of her employment and hermait] while

in the employ of the Employer or at any time aftex termination of her employment, divulge any infation with

respect to any formulae, specifications, methodgsrocesses or other Confidential Information of Bmaployer or
with respect to any other matter of a secret natirieh may have come into her possession whil@énemploy of
the Employer, or publish or cause to be publisloedytherwise utilize, any subject-matter, exceptyvéver, as he
may be authorized so to do in writing by the Boafr®irectors of the Employer.

ARTICLE 4 — REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS

4.1 In consideration of the Employee's performaatehe obligations contained herein the Employeallshn
accordance with its normal practices, pay to th@lEyee the remuneration and provide such benefitetforth in
0B to this Agreement.

4.2 In addition to the remuneration set forth iB,Ghe Employee shall be entitled to paid vacatibfour weeks per
annum. Vacation shall be taken at such time or gime is mutually determined. Vacation time is edrire
proportion to the amount of the year worked.

4.3 The parties acknowledge and agree that any misiemwhich the Employee is entitled to hereursthel be less
such deductions or amounts to be withheld as reduiy applicable law and regulations.

ARTICLE 5 — EMPLOYER'S PROPERTY

5.1 The Employee understands and agrees that aafisitincluding, without limitation, programs, softea
documentation, equipment, vehicles, books, manuvatsrds, files, customer lists, materials, repand items of
any and every kind or nature furnished, or whiclth@ absolute discretion of the Employer may frametto time
be furnished to the Employee by the Employer oate@ by the Employee pursuant to this Agreemerit sdraain

and be considered the exclusive property of thel&yep at all times, and shall be returned, togettign all copies
and/or other reproductions thereof, to the Emplayayood condition promptly upon the request of Emeployer at
any time during the term of this Agreement, andhfeith upon the termination, for any reason, oftAgreement.
Upon termination of employment, the Employee wikaowledge and confirm, in writing, compliance withis

provision.

5.2 The Employee acknowledges that each and etesryaf work product which relates in any way to thesiness
of the Employer created by the Employee duringptéod of her employment with the Employer, whettrerated
by the Employee during office hours or non-officeuts and whether or not created using the Empyer
equipment, supplies or software, is and shall ranaaid be considered the exclusive property of theplByer.
Work product shall include but not be limited tademarks, service marks, logos, trade names, giypgd or
copyrightable material, patents or patentable ratand designs of a commercial nature withouttétin. If any
writings or works of design or authorship are ngtdperation of law works made for hire, the Empleyereby
assigns to the Employer the ownership of all rigtitsopyright and all other proprietary rights unch items and the
Employer shall have the right to obtain and holdithown name rights of copyright, copyright regasions,
trademark and trade name registrations and simittection which may be available in the works.

ARTICLE 6 — RESTRICTED ACTIVITIES

6.1 Any specific Employer transactions includingguct or company acquisitions, and licensing areaments
which the Employer is actively pursuing while theyioyee is in the Employment of the Employer shealdeemed
Confidential Information and the Employee will lestricted from pursuing such transactions for aopeof three
years after the end of the Employee's employment.



ARTICLE 7 — TERMINATION

7.1 Subject to Article 7.2 below, the Employer nbagyminate the Employee’'s employment at any timaout cause
by providing the Employee a period of notice oftaration of employment of six (6) months or suchice and
payment as may be required by Brmployment Standards Adtany, whichever is greater. For greater cerairit
the Employee is terminated without cause, the EygaEawill receive a cash severance payment of gimgiths of
annual salary.

7.2 If the Employer terminates the Employees' emplent without cause after a Triggering Event (afindd
below), then, at the option of the Employee, exatoie at any time within three (3) months after da¢e of the
Triggering Event, the Employee may:

(a) elect to continue to be employed by the Employeadoordance with the terms of this agreement o
agreed to replacement contract, or

(b) give thirty (30) days notice in writing to the Erogér that this agement or any agreed to agreement
been terminated, in which event the Employer wal{ jo the Employee, a cash severance payment
to 24 months of annual salary.

(c) For the purpose of this Article 7.2, "Trigogy Event" is defined as:

(i) a takeever bid (as defined in the Securities Act (BritiSbhlumbia)) which is successful in acquir
Common shares of the Company;

(i) a change of control of the Board, which includes,ib not limited to:

A. the election by the shdrelders of the Company at any annual or speciatigémeeting, of le:
than a majority of the persons nominated for edechiy management of the Company;

B. the election by the shareholders of the Comparany annual or special general meedhgps:
than a majority of the persons nominated for edechy the Company's theneumbent board
directors; or

C. the purchase or acquisition of shares of the Compamd/or securities (the "Converti
Securities") convertible into share§ the Company or carrying rights to acquire shareshe
Company, as a result of which a person, group ofqmes or persons acting jointly or in con
(collectively the "Holder") beneficially own or epase control or direction over shares of
Commny and/or Convertible Securities such that, assgnonly the conversion of t
Convertible Securities beneficially owned by theldéos, entitle them to cast more than |
percent (50%) of the votes attaching to all of shares of the Company whichaynbe cast 1
elect directors;

(i) the sale of all or substantially all the assetthhefCompany;

(iv) the sale, exchange or other disposition of a mgjaf the outstanding shares of the Company
single or series of related transactions;

(v) the termination of the Company's business editjuidation of its assets; or
(vi) the merger or amalgamation or other corporateuetstring of the Company in a transaction or si

of transactions in which the Company's sharééia receive less than 51 percent of the outstg
shares of the new or continuing corporation.



7.3 Itis acknowledged and agreed that the Emplmagy, at its sole option, elect to pay the Emplts/salary over
the course of the notice period in lieu of any e®trequired by this Agreement. The Employer reprtssand
guarantees that the amounts payable pursuant ide&rf7.1, 7.2 or 7.3 herein shall not be less tiah required
pursuant to the notice and severance pay provigibtiee Employment Standards Adt any, provided that all such
payments pursuant to tliemployment Standards Asltall be deemed to be payments on account of asowihg
pursuant to Articles 7.1, 7.2 or 7.3 herein.

7.4 The Employee may terminate the Employee's gmmpdot with the Employer at any time, upon giving less
than thirty (30) days notice in writing to the Empér on the express condition that the Employer maive any
additional notice in excess of that required byEngployment Standards Act.

7.5 In the event of the death of the Employee leetbe expiration of the notice periods referredhtdrticles 7.1,
7.2 and 7.3, the Employer shall have no furtheigalibn to make any payments whatsoever except as bma
required by th&mployment Standards Act.

7.6 Upon termination of the employment, the Emptogball cooperate fully with the Employee shoule th
Employee wish to convert to individual coverage &feyinsurance policies which the Employer mained on the
life of the Employee. At the request of the Employbe Employer shall provide any and all informatia its
possession with respect to any such plan that resigtathe Employee in converting any such policyntiividual
coverage. The Employer shall maintain the Emploa®@ member of any health and/or dental group wilinh
existed on the date of such termination for theiddoPeriod, provided the plan permits such contionaand
provided the Employee pays her individual premidirom the date of termination.

7.7 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary coma herein, the employment of the Employee matheabption
of the Employer, be terminated by the Employerhwiit notice or payment in lieu thereof, for causSer the
purpose of this Agreement "cause” shall includdeuit limitation:

(1) any breach of the provisions in Articles 3r&l 8 of this Agreement by the Employee,

(2) repeated violation of instructions or puldaid rules of the Employer,
3) any other conduct of the Empé®y that is recognized as just cause under the faBribsh
Columbia.

7.8 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary comea herein, the employment of the Employee matheabption
of the Employee, be terminated by the Employeehauit further notice, if the Employer shall breacty @f the
provisions in Article 4 of this agreement and shale failed to cure such breach within five dafysraeceipt by
the Employer of a notice from the Employee askirggEmployer to cure such breach.

7.9 The parties understand and agree that theggofimotice or the payment of severance pay byEtmployer to
the Employee upon termination shall not prevent&hmployer from alleging cause.

HUMAN RIGHTS CODE

7.10 The Employer agrees that it will respect thgployee's right to equal treatment with respedhi® Agreement
without discrimination because of race, ancestlgce of origin, color, ethnic origin, citizenshigreed, sex, age,
sexual orientation, record of offenses, maritatustafamily status or handicap in accordance with British
ColumbiaHuman Rights Code

7.11 The Employee agrees to respect the righti ofleer employees and agrees to equal treatmehtrespect to
employment without discrimination because of ramegestry, place of origin, color, ethnic origintiz@nship,



creed, sex, age, sexual orientation, record ofnsffe, marital status, family status or handicagceordance with
the British ColumbidHuman Rights Code

ARTICLE 8 — SURVIVAL OF PROVISIONS

8.1 Notwithstanding any termination of this Agreemeand irrespective of the reasons for such teation, the
provisions of Article 3, Article 5, Article 6 and $hall survive such termination and remain in falice and effect
thereafter in accordance with their respective serm

ARTICLE 9 — SEVERABILITY

9.1 In the event that any provision or part of thggeement is found to be void or invalid by a dothie remaining
provisions, or parts thereof, shall be and remaifuli force and effect.

ARTICLE 10 — NOTICES

10.1 Any notice given or required to be given unithés Agreement will be in writing and signed byar behalf of
the party giving it. Such notice may be served @eally and in either case may be sent by prioritgtgo the
addresses of the parties noted on page one oAgineement, or by fax, email or other electroniagmission. Any
notice served personally will be deemed served idiately, and if mailed by priority post will be deed served
seventy two (72) hours after the time of posting] & by electronic transmission, upon successangmission.

ARTICLE 11 — GOVERNING LAW

11.1 This Agreement will be governed by and comstrin accordance with the laws of the Province ofidh
Columbia. Each of the parties hereby irrevocabtgras to the jurisdiction of the Courts of VancoyvBritish
Columbia, with respect to any disputes arisingafuhis Agreement.

ARTICLE 12 — CANADIAN FUNDS

12.1 Unless otherwise provided herein, dollar an®ueferred to in this Agreement shall be in Caaadunds.

ARTICLE 13 — ENTIRE AGREEMENT

13.1 This agreement constitutes the entire agreebwtween the parties with respect to the employmérhe
Employee and any and all previous agreements,enritt oral, express or implied between the padiesn their
behalf relating to the employment of the Employee laereby terminated and cancelled and each opdnges
releases and forever discharges the other of an &lbactions, causes of action, claims and demarggsoever
under or in respect of any such agreement. Any fioatipbn to this Agreement, except as providediferein, must
be in writing and signed by the parties or is shalloid and of no effect.

ARTICLE 14 — WAIVER

14.1 Failure by the Employer or the Employee tg il any provision in this Agreement in any givestance or
instances shall not constitute a precedent or bedd a waiver.

ARTICLE 15 — HEADINGS

15.1 The headings utilized in the Agreement arecfmrvenience only and are not to be construed ynveay as
additions or limitations of the covenants and agrets contained herein.

ARTICLE 16 - ENUREMENT




16.1 This Agreement will enure to the benefit ofl d® binding upon the parties hereto and theiraetsge heirs,
executors, administrators, successors, personasemtatives and permitted assigns.

ARTICLE 17 — SET OFF

17.1 Upon termination of this Agreement for anysmg the Employee authorizes the Company to dddmtany
payments due to the Employee, any amounts the Beplmay owe to the Company including without liridta,
advances, loans, purchases made by the Companghaf lof the Employee, expense over-payments omuatso
paid to the Employee on the condition that all art@f such amounts have to be repaid to the Coynjpaiine event
of early termination. This provision will be apgaliso as not to conflict with any applicable ledisha including the
Employment Standards Act

ARTICLE 18 — ASSIGNABILITY

18.1 This Agreement is personal to the Employeeraag not be assigned by him.
18.2 Upon notice to the Employee this Agreement begssigned to an affiliate of the Employer.

18.3 For the purposes of this Article 18, "affiiathas the meaning given thereto in Business Corporations Act
(British Columbia).

18.4 Except as aforesaid, this Agreement shalleetuthe benefit of and be binding upon the patiesto and
their respective successors and assigns, includmghe case of the Employee, her heirs, executord
administrators.

ARTICLE 19 — INDEPENDENT LEGAL ADVICE

19.1 The Employee acknowledges that (a) he hasaeddinderstood this Agreement; and (b) has beemdhe
opportunity to obtain independent legal advicednrection with this Agreement.

ARTICLE 20 — SCHEDULES

20.1 Schedule A and Schedule B Oform part of thgse&ment.

Where there is a conflict between the terms andigians set out in the body of this Agreement andhe
Schedules the terms and provisions set out in thediles shall govern.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereunto have exatthis agreement as of théday of February, 2016.

PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC .

Per: /s/ Pravin Chaturved
Pravin Chaturvedi
Authorized Signatory




SIGNED, SEALED and DELIVERED
by Moira Ong in the presence of: )

/s/ Jim JessL
Signature

/sl Moira On¢

Jim Jessup MOIRA ONG

Print Name

Address

e N N N N N N N N N N

IT professional )
Occupation

N N N N

SCHEDULE A

JOB DESCRIPTION

Position: Chief Financial Officer

The scope of the Employee's employment shall irglbdt not be limited to the following:

. Compliance with financial and tax regulations;
. Accuracy of and timely financial reporting;
. Financial, tax and treasury planning and analysis;
. Process implementation, improvements and innovation
. Enterprise cost reductions;
. Pricing execution; and
. Procurement.
10

SCHEDULE B



EMPLOYEE'S REMUNERATION

€) The Employee shall be entitled to receive for egedr of employment a salary equal to such amouis
agreed to by the Compensation Committee (and ievkat there is no standirCompensation Committe
then as agreed to by the Board of Directors) ofEhgloyer and the Employee, from time to time.s
agreed that the Employee will be paid at the rétevo hundred thousand ($200,000) Dollars per ar
(the "Base Salary"), which shall accrue until stiofe as successful financing is obtained

(b) The Employee shall be entitled to such options ¢quae additional shares in the Employer as
Compensation Committee (and in the event ther@istanding Compensation Corittee, then as agre
to by the Board of Directors) of the Employer shigdtermine from time to time.

(c) The Employee will be entitled to receive health almhtal benefits according to the Employer's b¢
plan. In addition, the Employer will pvie the Employee with adequate long term disab#gihd life
insurance coverage. Employee benefits are provid@gcordance with formal plan documents or pod
and any issues with respect to entitlement or payroé benefits will be governed by therms of suc
documents or policies. The Employer reserves thikateral right to revise the terms of the beneditstc
eliminate any benefits altogether. The Employeeegthat any changes to the benefits will not tiffe
change any other part of this Agreement.

11

EXHIBIT 10.19

CONSULTING AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is dated for reference the 1st daebruary, 2016.
BETWEEN:

PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC. , a British Columbia corporation having an addass275 West'8
Avenue, Vancouver, British Columbia V6H 1A6

(the "Company")

AND:
SOHO Capital Inc., having an address &80 Edgedale Way, NW, Calgary, Alberta T2P and
represented by Kamlesh Dass, dba at 3456 Dunbar $#&t, Vancouver, B.C, V6S 2C2
(the "Contractor")

WHEREAS:

A. The Company desires to retain the Contractgpravide services (theService$) as a business consultant, in
regards to the Company's shareholder base; and

B. The Contractor has agreed to provide the Segvicethe Company on the terms and conditions of thi
Agreement.



NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES that in cioiesation of the mutual covenants and
promises set forth herein, and for other good amdable consideration, the receipt and sufficieatyvhich is
hereby acknowledged by each, the parties hereteay follows:

ARTICLE 1
APPOINTMENT AND AUTHORITY OF
CONTRACTOR

1.1 Appointment of Contractor. The Company hergiyyoénts the Contractor to perform the Servicegterbenefit
of the Company as hereinafter set forth, and th@@amy hereby authorizes the Contractor to exestish powers
as provided under this Agreement. The Contractoepts such appointment on the terms and conditiensin set
forth.

1.2 Performance of Services. The Services hereuraler been and shall continue to be provided obalsés of the
following terms and conditions:

(a) the Contractor shall report directly to thieie® Executive Officer and/or President of the Camy

(b) the Contractor shall faithfully, honestly adiigently serve the Company and cooperate witt
Company and utilize maximum professional skill asate to ensure that all services rend
hereunder, including the Services, are to thefaatisn of the Company, acting reasonably, an
Contractor shalprovide any other services not specifically menéd herein, but which by rea:
of the Contractor's capability the Contractor knar®ught to know to be necessary to ensure
the best interests of the Company are maintainadi; a

(c) the Comany shall report the results of the Contractoused hereunder as may be requeste
the Company from time to time.

1.3 Authority of Contractor. The Contractor shaive no right or authority, express or implied, tamenit or
otherwise obligate the Company in any manner wiexsoexcept to the extent specifically providedeheror
specifically authorized in writing by the Company.

1.4 Independent Contractor. In performing the Qs the Contractor shall be an independent cdatrand not
an employee or agent of the Company, except tratCibntractor shall be the agent of the Companylysate
circumstances where the Contractor must be thetdgesarry out its obligations as set forth in tligreement.
Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to regtiie Contractor to provide the Services exclugivel the
Company and the Contractor hereby acknowledgestiteaCompany is not required and shall not be requio
make any remittances and payments required of gmapddy statute on the Contractor's behalf andCitwetractor
or any of its agents shall not be entitled to tirege benefits provided by the Company to its erypds.

ARTICLE 2
CONTRACTOR'S AGREEMENTS

2.1 Requlatory Compliance. The Contractor agreescdmply with all applicable securities legislatiand
regulatory policies in relation to providing ther@ees, including but not limited to securities kwf the United
States (in particular Regulation FD) and Canadaaalls, rules, regulations and policies of the Sidegrand
Exchange Commission of the United States and thisiBColumbia Securities Commission.

2.2 Prohibition Against Insider Trading. The Contoa hereby acknowledges that the Contractor isrewand
further agrees that the Contractor will advise ¢ho§its directors, officers, employees and ageriits may have
access to Confidential Information, that securitéags of the United States and Canada prohibitpgrgon who has
material, non-public information about a compargnfrpurchasing or selling securities of such a compa from




communicating such information to any other pensoder circumstances in which it is reasonably feeeble that
such person is likely to purchase or sell such ritges!

ARTICLE 3
COMPANY'S AGREEMENTS

3.1 Compensation. The compensation for agreeirenter into this agreement and providing the Sesviiwll be
USD $150,000 per annum, paid upon invoicing on atiig basis (the Compensation Options) which shall
accrue until such time as successful financingisioed.

3.2 Information. Subject to the terms of this Agneat, including without limitation Article 5 hereand provided
that the Contractor agrees that it will not disel@ny material non-public information to any persorentity, the
Company shall make available to the Contractor saftirmation and data and shall permit the Contmatd have
access to such documents as are reasonably ngctssarable it to perform the Services under thige®ment.
The Company also agrees that it will act reasonahty promptly in reviewing materials submitted ttérém time
to time by the Contractor and inform the Contractbany material inaccuracies or omissions in smeterials.

ARTICLE 4
DURATION, TERMINATION AND DEFAULT

4.1 Effective Date. This Agreement shall becomedtive as of the date written above (tlgféctive Date") and
shall continue for a period of two (2) years, (thierm").

4.2 Termination. Without prejudicing any other tiglthat the Company may have hereunder or at law equity,
the Company may terminate this Agreement immediatpbn delivery of written notice to the Contracifor

(a) the Contractor breaches section 2.1 of tigie@ment;

(b) the Contractor brehes any other material term of this Agreement arah $reach is not cured
the reasonable satisfaction of the Company withirtyt (30) days after written notice describ
the breach in reasonable detail is delivered tdCiwetractor;

(c) theCompany acting reasonably determines that the &chatr has acted, is acting or is likely to
in a manner detrimental to the Company or has tadlar is likely to violate the confidentiality
any information as provided for in this Agreement;

(d) the Contractor is unable or unwilling to perforne tBervices under this Agreement in a tir
fashion, or

(e) the Contractor commits fraud, serious neglechisconduct in the discharge of the Services.

4.3 Duties Upon Termination. Upon termination aétAgreement for any reason, the Contractor shadhureceipt
of all sums due and owing, promptly deliver thédwiing in accordance with the directions of the Gamy:

(@) a final accounting, reflecting the balanceexenses incued on behalf of the Company as of
date of termination; and

(b) all documents pertaining to the Company or thise&gnent, including but not limited to, all bo
of account, correspondence and contracts, proviteidhe Contractor shall be &led thereafter t
inspect, examine and copy all of the documents lwhidelivers in accordance with this provis
at all reasonable times upon three (3) days' nttitke Company.



4.4 Compensation of Contractor on Termination. Upamination of this Agreement pursuant to secdad, the
Contractor shall be entitled to receive as its &t sole compensation in discharge of obligatafrthe Company
to the Contractor under this Agreement all sums aha payable under this Agreement to the dateraofit@tion
and the Contractor shall have no right to receiwe farther payments; provided, however, that thenGany shall
have the right to offset against any payment owinthe Contractor under this Agreement any damdigdsljties,
costs or expenses suffered by the Company by rezdtie fraud, negligence or wilful act of the Gawtor, to the
extent such right has not been waived by the Comp#nthe Company elects to terminate this Agreemmen
otherwise than pursuant to section 4.2, the Cotarahall be entitled to all sums due and payabiéé¢ Contractor
until the expiration of the Term.

ARTICLE 5
CONFIDENTIALITY AND NON-COMPETITION

5.1 Maintenance of Confidential Information. Then@actor acknowledges that in the course of itsoagment
hereunder the Contractor will, either directly adirectly, have access to and be entrusted witbrimdtion
(whether oral, written or by inspection) relating the business of the Company, or its respectidiatds,
associates or customers (th€ohfidential Information ). For the purposes of this Agreement, "Confidainti
Information” includes, without limitation, any aradl Developments (as defined herein), trade seci@igntions,
innovations, techniques, processes, formulas, digsyi designs, products, systems, creations, impremts,
documentation, data, specifications, technical mspaustomer lists, supplier lists, distributostdi distribution
channels and methods, retailer lists, reselles,lismployee information, financial information, esalor marketing
plans, competitive analysis reports and any othargt or information whatsoever, whether copyrighdabr
uncopyrightable or patentable or unpatentable. CThetractor acknowledges that the Confidential Imfation
constitutes a proprietary right, which the Compangntitled to protect. Accordingly the Contractmvenants and
agrees that during the Term and thereafter unthdime as all the Confidential Information beconpesblicly
known and made generally available through no aatioinaction of the Contractor, the Contractorl wiep in
strict confidence the Confidential Information astthll not, without prior written consent of the Qmamy in each
instance, disclose, use or otherwise disseminaeCibnfidential Information, directly or indirectlyp any third

party.

5.2 Exceptions. The general prohibition containedSeection 5.1 against the unauthorized disclosuse, or
dissemination of the Confidential Information shadkt apply in respect of any Confidential Infornoatithat:

€) is available to the public generally in tbenf disclosed;
(b) becomes part of the public domain througliauit of the Contractor;

(c) is already in the lawful possession of then@actor at the time of receipt of the Confidel
Information; or

(d) is compelled by applicable law to be disclosedyvmed that the Contractor gives the Comg
prompt written notice of such requirement priordiach disclosure and providessasance i
obtaining an order protecting the Confidential nfiation from public disclosure.

5.3 Developments. Any information, data, work pretdor any other thing or documentation whatsoeveickvthe
Contractor, either by itself or in conjunction wilny third party, conceives, makes, develops, aegwr acquires
knowledge of during the Contractor's appointmernhwlie Company or which the Contractor, eithertbglf or in
conjunction with any third party, shall conceiveaka, develop, acquire or acquire knowledge of éatively the
"Development$) during the Term or at any time thereafter dunivitich the Contractor is engaged by the Company
that is related to the business of the Company abtdmatically form part of the Confidential Infoation and shall
become and remain the sole and exclusive propdrtheo Company. Accordingly, the Contractor doesebgr
irrevocably, exclusively and absolutely assignnsfar and convey to the Company in perpetuity altldwide



right, title and interest in and to any and all Biepments and other rights of whatsoever naturekamdi in or

arising from or pertaining to all such Developmeatsated or produced by the Contractor during therse of
performing this Agreement, including, without limtiion, the right to effect any registration in therld to protect
the foregoing rights. The Company shall have the, sbsolute and unlimited right throughout the ldiotherefore,
to protect the Developments by patent, copyrigttdustrial design, trademark or otherwise and toanh&ve made,
use, reconstruct, repair, modify, reproduce, ptbldistribute and sell the Developments, in whalénopart, or

combine the Developments with any other mattenatruse the Developments at all, as the Compars/fiee

5.4 Protection of Developments. The Contractor deeby agree that, both before and after the tetioin of this
Agreement, the Contractor shall perform such furthets and execute and deliver such further insgnis;
writings, documents and assurances (including, omitHimitation, specific assignments and other aoentation
which may be required anywhere in the world to stgi evidence of ownership of the rights assignedsyant
hereto) as the Company shall reasonably requiader to give full effect to the true intent andrpase of the
assignment made under Section 5.3 hereof. If thep2oy is for any reason unable, after reasonalitet.efo

secure execution by the Contractor on documentdenet effect any registration or to apply for cogecute any
right or protection relating to the Developmenk® Contractor hereby designates and appoints thgp&ay and its
duly authorized officers and agents as the Comdracagent and attorney to act for and in the Gatdr's behalf
and stead to execute and file any such documentlaradl other lawfully permitted acts necessaryadvisable in
the opinion of the Company to effect such regigiradr to apply for or prosecute such right or potion, with the
same legal force and effect as if executed by thati@ctor.

5.5 Remedies. The parties to this Agreement reeegihiat any violation or threatened violation bg tbontractor

of any of the provisions contained in this Arti@lewill result in immediate and irreparable damagéhe Company
and that the Company could not adequately be cosaped for such damage by monetary award alone.
Accordingly, the Contractor agrees that in the éwdnany such violation or threatened violatione tBompany
shall, in addition to any other remedies availdbléhe Company at law or in equity, be entitlechasatter of right

to apply to such relief by way of restraining ordemporary or permanent injunction and to sucleiotalief as any
court of competent jurisdiction may deem just armppr.

5.6 Reasonable Restrictions. The Contractor adhe¢sll restrictions in this Article 5 are reasbleaand valid, and
all defenses to the strict enforcement thereohleyGompany are hereby waived by the Contractor.

ARTICLE 6
DEVOTION TO CONTRACT

6.1 Devotion to Contract. During the term of thigréement, the Contractor shall devote sufficiemiti attention,
and ability to the business of the Company, andrtp associated company, as is reasonably necefsatlye

proper performance of the Services pursuant toAgieement. Nothing contained herein shall be deetmeequire
the Contractor to devote its exclusive time, attenand ability to the business of the Company.ibythe term of
this Agreement, the Contractor shall, and shalseaeach of its agents assigned to performancesdbéivices on
behalf of the Contractor, to:

(a) at all times perform the Services faithfully, déigtly, to the best of its abilities and in the |
interests of the Company;

(b) devote such of its time, labour and attention hlhsiness of the Company as is necessary f
proper performance of the Services hereunder; and

(c) refrain from acting in any manner contrarythe best interestsf the Company or contrary to 1
duties of the Contractor as contemplated herein.



6.2 Other Activities. The Contractor shall not beguded from acting in a function similar to theintemplated
under this Agreement for any other person, firns@mpany.

ARTICLE 7
MISCELLANEOUS

7.1 Notices. All notices required or allowed to dgigen under this Agreement shall be made eithesquetly by
delivery to or by facsimile transmission to the @dd as hereinafter set forth or to such otheremddas may be
designated from time to time by such party in wugti

(a) inthe case of the Company, to:

Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc.

1275 West B Avenue, Suite 300

Vancouver BC V6H 1A6

Attention: President and Chief Executive Officer

(b) and in the case of the Contractor to:
SOHO Capital Inc.

90 Edgedale Way, NW
Calgary, Alberta T2P 3A8

7.2 Independent Legal Advice. The Contractor ackadges that:

(a) this Agreement was prepared for and by the@my;

(b) the Contractr has been requested to obtain its own indeperidgat advice on this Agreem
prior to signing this Agreement;

(c) the Contractor has been given adequate tinobtain independent legal advice;
(d) by signing this Agreement, the Company condithat he fully understands this Agreement; and

(e) by signing this Agreement without first obtainingdependent legal advice, the Contractor w
its right to obtain independent legal advice.

7.3 Change of Address. Any party may, from timetitoe, change its address for service hereunder iiyew
notice to the other party in the manner aforesaid.

7.4 Entire Agreement. As of from the date hereofy and all previous agreements, written or oralveen the
parties hereto or on their behalf relating to thpantment of the Contractor by the Company aréand void. The
parties hereto agree that they have expressechhitbsi entire understanding and agreement conugthie subject
matter of this Agreement and it is expressly agtéatl no implied covenant, condition, term or rgaéon or prior
representation or warranty shall be read into #gseement relating to or concerning the subjecttendtereof or
any matter or operation provided for herein.

7.5 Further Assurances. Each party hereto will pityrand duly execute and deliver to the otherypauch further
documents and assurances and take such furthen astisuch other party may from time to time reabbnrequest
in order to more effectively carry out the intentigpurpose of this Agreement and to establish aotkgt the rights
and remedies created or intended to be createthyhere




7.6 Waiver. No provision hereof shall be deemedvagiand no breach excused, unless such waiver raend
excusing the breach is made in writing and signethb party to be charged with such waiver or cohsié waiver
by a party of any provision of this Agreement shadt be construed as a waiver of a further breddhe same
provision.

7.7 Amendments in Writing. No amendment, modificator rescission of this Agreement shall be efiectinless
set forth in writing and signed by the parties tere

7.8 Assignment. Except as herein expressly proyittedrespective rights and obligations of the @uoibr and the
Company under this Agreement shall not be assignapkither party without the written consent a&f tither party
and shall, subject to the foregoing, enure to teekit of and be binding upon the Contractor amdGompany and
their permitted successors or assigns. Nothingimesgressed or implied is intended to confer oy person other
than the parties hereto any rights, remedies, atitigs or liabilities under or by reason of thisrégment.

7.9 Severability. In the event that any provisiamtained in this Agreement shall be declared inallegal or
unenforceable by a court or other lawful authoafycompetent jurisdiction, such provision shalldeemed not to
affect or impair the validity or enforceability ahy other provision of this Agreement, which slalhtinue to have
full force and effect.

7.10 Headings. The headings in this Agreementraseried for convenience of reference only and stallaffect
the construction or interpretation of this Agreemen

7.11 Number and Gender. Wherever the singular acolme or neuter is used in this Agreement, timeesshall be
construed as meaning the plural or feminine or dyhmolitic or corporate and vice versa where thatext so
requires.

7.12 Time. Time shall be of the essence of thiseAgrent. In the event that any day on or before lhwhity action
is required to be taken hereunder is not a busid@gsthen such action shall be required to bentalt®r before the
requisite time on the next succeeding day thatdesiness day. For the purposes of this Agreemeusjness day"
means a day which is not Saturday or Sunday atatsty holiday in British Columbia, Canada.

7.13 Enurement. This Agreement is intended to laind enure to the benefit of the Company, its swmresand
assigns, and the Contractor and the personal tegedsentatives of the Contractor.

7.14 Counterparts. This Agreement may be execuatséveral counterparts, each of which will be dektoebe an
original and all of which will together constitut@e and the same instrument.

7.15 Electronic Means. Delivery of an executed copyhis Agreement by electronic facsimile transsioa or
other means of electronic communication capableroflucing a printed copy will be deemed to be etienwand
delivery of this Agreement as of the effective daftéhis Agreement.

7.16 Proper Law. This Agreement will be governed and construed in accordance with the law of Britis
Columbia. The parties hereby attorn to the jurisoicof the Courts in the Province of British Colbiia.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly execukesl Agreement as of the day and year first abonitten.

PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.



Perifs/ Pravin Chaturvedi
Pravin Chaturvedi
Authorized Signatory

SOHO Capital Inc.

/s/ Kam Das:
Kam Dass

EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. ss 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Dr. Pravin Chaturvedi certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 18:-Kf Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not cormynuntrue statement of a material fact or ométixe
a materialfact necessary to make the statements made, ih digthe circumstances under which s
statements were made, not misleading with respetiet period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemetd other financiaihformation included in this repao
fairly present in all material respects the finahaondition, results of operations and cash fl@fghe
registrant as of, and for, the periods presentedisnreport;

The registrant's other certifyingfiokr(s) and | are responsible for establishing araintaining disclosu
controls and procedures (as defined in ExchangeRab¢s 13a-15(e) and 18d(e)) and internal conti
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Rales 13a-15(f) and 15t5(f)) for the registrant ai
have:

€) Designed such disclosure controls and procedurescaosed such disclosure controls
procedures to be designed under our supervisioengare that material information relating to
registrant, includingts consolidated subsidiaries, is made known tdoysothers within thos
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over finanai@porting, or caused such internal contosiel
financial reporting to be designed under our suigam, to provide reasonable assurance rega
the reliability of financial reporting and the peeption of financial statements for extel
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatioq principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaiisire controls and procedures and presen
this report our conclusions about the effectiver@sthe disclosure controls and procedures,
the end of the period covered by this report basesuch evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmisanternal control over financial reporting 1
occurred during the registrant's most recent figoalrter (the registrant's fourth fiscal gieaiin the
case of an annual report) that has materially sdtb@r is reasonably likely to materially affettte



registrant's internal control over financial rejpugt and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s)dahhave disclosed, basexh our most recent evaluation
internal control over financial reporting, to thegistrant's auditors and the audit committee o
registrant's board of directors (or persons periiogrthe equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencieand material weaknesses in the design or operafiamernal contrc
over financial reporting which are reasonably k&b adversely affect the registrant's abilit
record, process, summarize and report financiarimétion; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves managenwe other employees who hav
significant role in the registrant's internal cahiver financial reporting.

Date: June 7, 2016 B¢/ Pravin Chaturvel

Dr. Pravin Chaturvedi
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. ss 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Moira Ong certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 18:-Kf Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omété
a material fact necessary to make the statementie,nia light of the ecumstances under which si
statements were made, not misleading with respebiet period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,aher financial information included in this rep
fairly present in all matrial respects the financial condition, resultsopgrations and cash flows of
registrant as of, and for, the periods presentelisnreport;

The registrant's other certifying officer(sddnare responsible for establishing and maintainiisclosur
controls and procedures (as defined in ExchangeRaub¢s 13a-15(e) and 18d(e)) and internal conti
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Rales 13a-15(f) and 15t5(f)) for the registrant ai
have:

(a) Designed such dissure controls and procedures, or caused sucHoslise controls ar
procedures to be designed under our supervisioengare that material information relating to
registrant, including its consolidated subsidigrissmade known to us by othersthin thost
entities, particularly during the period in whidtis report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reéjpgr or caused such internal control ¢
financial reporting to be designed under our suigam, to provide reasonable assurance rega
the reliability of financial reporting and the peeption of financial statements for extel
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thgisgant's disclosure controls and procedures aedepted i
this report our conclusions about the effectiverdshe disclosure controls and procedures,



the end of the period covered by this report basesuch evaluation; and

(d) Disclesed in this report any change in the registrantirmal control over financial reporting t
occurred during the registrant's most recent figoalrter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quartethie
case of an annual report) that has materially tfter is reasonably likely to materially affettg
registrant's internal control over financial rejragt and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) andhdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluaft
internal control over finanal reporting, to the registrant's auditors and #ugit committee of tt
registrant's board of directors (or persons periiogrthe equivalent functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material Wweasses in the design or operation of inteamaitro
over financial reporting which are reasonably hkéb adversely affect the registrant's abilit
record, process, summarize and report financiarmétion; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that itwes management or othemployees who have
significant role in the registrant's internal cahiover financial reporting.

Date: June 7, 2016 B¢/ Moira On¢
Moira Ong
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer
and Principal Financial Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Dr. Pravin Chaturvedi, hereby certify, pursusmtl8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuanéttids 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

Q) the Annual Report on Form XJA of Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. for the year ehdanuary 3.
2016 (the "Report") fully complies with the requitents of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Secul
Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the finar
condition and results of operations of Pivot Phareagicals Inc.

Dated: June 7, 2016 Byg! Pravin Chaturvel
Dr. Pravin Chaturvedi
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc.

A signed original of this written statement reqdirddy Section 906, or other document authenticating,
acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signathat appears in typed form within the electronicsian of this
written statement required by Section 906, has Ipeevided to Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. and willrbined by
Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. and furnished to theuSiges and Exchange Commission or its staff upsjuest.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Moira Ong, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S%&ction 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906eo
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

Q) the Annual Report on Form XJA of Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. for the year ehdanuary 3.
2016 (the "Report") fully complies with the requitents of Seatin 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securit

Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the finar
condition and results of operations of Pivot Pharengicals Inc.

Dated: June 7, 2016 Bg! Moira On¢
Moira Ong

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Accounting Officer ar
Principal Financial Officer)

Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc.

A signed original of this written statement reqdirddy Section 906, or other document authenticating,
acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signathat appears in typed form within the electronicsian of this
written statement required by Section 906, has Ipeevided to Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. and willrbained by
Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. and furnished to theu8iges and Exchange Commission or its staff upsmjuest.



